

Offering Circular dated October 29, 2021

An offering statement pursuant to Regulation A relating to these securities has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission.") Information contained in this Offering Circular is subject amendment.

We are offering 75,000 Class A Units ("Units," "Class A Units," "Interests," or "Class A Interests") at \$1,000 per Unit (the "Offering.") We intend to restrict our offering to U.S. Citizens, U.S. Residents, and legal entities who are considered "United States Persons" within the meaning of 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code and who are not subject to backup withholding. The Company may require investors to certify for their U.S. status and lack of backup withholding status in order to become a member, and investors who become subject to backup withholding may be subject to transfer restrictions or forced transfers under the Amended Operating Agreement. A purchaser shall, upon acceptance by the Manager of their Subscriptions, become a Class A member ("Member") in the Company. We intend to place the funds into a segregated subscription account that will be in the Company once the Company raises a minimum of \$1,000,000 ("Minimum Offering"). Funds from this account will be made immediately available to the Company's segregated subscription account for up to 180 days from the first date of deposit.

We intend to elect to be treated as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Funds will be used for investing in real estate assets throughout the United States as well as for working capital. The Company intends to invest capital from the proceeds of this Offering for the first three (3) years. Thereafter, the Company will hold and, eventually, sell the assets purchased. The Company may reinvest proceeds from assets sold or refinanced. At, or around, the eighth year of operations, the Manager will begin to attempt to sell, refinance, or otherwise dispose of properties in order to return the Capital Contributions of the Class A Members (as defined in the Company's Amended Operating Agreement), with an aim to sell all the properties by year ten. Potential investors should note that the Amended Operating Agreement does not compel the Manager to sell all the properties by year ten, and thus, there is a risk that an investor may remain in the Company indefinitely, although that is not the intention of the Manager as stated herein. The Manager may, at its discretion, sell the properties to, among other potential purchasers, an affiliated third-party within the expected time frame.

Unless terminated by the Manager earlier, this Offering terminates in 365 days after commencement of this Offering. The Manager may extend this Offering in its sole discretion for an additional six-month period, at which time the Manager will file the appropriate Offering Circular for qualification with the Commission. There are no provisions for the return of funds once the minimum of 1,000 Units are sold. No commissions will be paid for the sale of the Units offered by the Company.

	Price to		Sellers'		Proceeds to	
Class A Interests (Unit)	Investors		 Commissions		the Company	
Per Unit or Interest	\$	1,000	\$ 0.00	\$	1,000	
Minimum Dollar Amount	\$	1,000,000	\$ 0.00	\$	1,000,000	
Maximum Dollar Amount	\$	75,000,000	\$ 0.00	\$	75,000,000	

No public market currently exists for our Interests. The Company will be managed by Cardone Capital LLC, (the "Manager") a Delaware limited liability company, which is managed by Grant Cardone. Purchasers of our Interests qualified hereunder may be unable to sell their securities because there may not be a public market for our securities. In addition, the transfer of Interests must be approved by the Manager, and may only take place if certain conditions set forth in the Company's Amended Operating Agreement are satisfied. Any purchaser of our securities should be in a financial position to bear the risks of losing their entire investment, and should expect to remain in the Company for a minimum of ten (10) years. Potential investors should note that there is a risk that the Company may not sell its properties and investments by year ten, although that is not the intention of the Manager.

The Company has been formed to invest in various real estate assets throughout the United States. The Manager intends to initially search for properties located in the Sunbelt, but the Company will not limit itself geographically. The Company may invest in properties that are income producing; in other words, those properties that will produce positive cash flow immediately upon, or soon after, acquisition. The Company may also invest in properties that need significant repositioning or capital investments, known as value-add, and, thus, may not produce positive cash flow immediately. It is expected that the Company will focus on Class A and B multifamily properties, but will also, under certain circumstances, consider commercial real estate assets such as self-storage, warehouse and industrial, office, and retail properties.

The Company is considered an "emerging growth company" under Section 101(a) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the "JOBS Act") as it is an issuer that had total annual gross revenues of less than \$1.07 billion during its most recently completed fiscal year. Since the Company is an emerging growth company certain Risk Factors include:

- \Box We are an emerging growth company with a limited operating history.
- Subscribers will have no control in the Company and will not have any voting rights on any matters required or permitted to be voted on by the Members. The Manager or its affiliates will manage the day-to-day operations of the Company, and will hold the Class B Units, which are the only Units with the right to vote upon matters which require approval of the Members under the Amended Operating Agreement or under Delaware Law.
- U We will require additional financing, such as bank loans, outside of this offering in order for the operations to be successful.
- \Box We have not conducted any revenue-generating activities and as such have not generated any revenue since inception.
- $\hfill\square$ Our offering price is arbitrary and does not reflect the book value of our Class A Interests.
- 🗆 Investments in real estate and real estate related assets are speculative and we will be highly dependent on the performance of the real estate market.
- □ The Company does not currently own any assets.

By purchasing Interests, Subscribers are bound by the dispute resolution provisions contained in our Company Amended Operating Agreement which limits your ability to bring class action lawsuits or seek remedy on a class basis. The dispute resolution process provisions do not apply to claims under the federal securities laws. By agreeing to the dispute resolution process, including mandatory arbitration, investors will not be deemed to have waived the company's compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

See the section entitled "RISK FACTORS" beginning on page 13 for a more comprehensive discussion of risks to consider before purchasing our Class A Interests.

INVESTMENT IN SMALL BUSINESSES INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK, AND INVESTORS SHOULD NOT INVEST ANY FUNDS IN THIS OFFERING UNLESS THEY CAN AFFORD TO LOSE THEIR ENTIRE INVESTMENT. SEE THE SECTION ENTITLED **"RISK FACTORS."**

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF THE ISSUER AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED. THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED OR APPROVED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THESE AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION DOES NOT PASS UPON THE MERITS OF ANY SECURITIES OFFERED OR THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, NOR DOES IT PASS UPON THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY OFFERING CIRCULAR OR SELLING LITERATURE. THESE SECURITIES ARE OFFERED UNDER AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION; HOWEVER, THE COMMISSION HAS NOT MADE AN INDEPENDENT DETERMINATION THAT THESE SECURITIES ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION.

GENERALLY, NO SALE MAY BE MADE TO YOU IN THIS OFFERING IF THE AGGREGATE PURCHASE PRICE YOU PAY IS MORE THAN 10% OF THE GREATER OF YOUR ANNUAL INCOME OR NET WORTH. DIFFERENT RULES APPLY TO ACCREDITED INVESTORS AND NON-NATURAL PERSONS. BEFORE MAKING ANY REPRESENTATION THAT YOUR INVESTMENT DOES NOT EXCEED APPLICABLE THRESHOLDS, WE ENCOURAGE YOU TO REVIEW RULE 251(D)(2)(I)(C) OF REGULATION A. FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ON INVESTING, WE ENCOURAGE YOU TO REFER TO WWW.INVESTOR.GOV.

NOTICE REGARDING AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE

THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM REQUIRES THAT ALL INVESTORS ARBITRATE ANY DISPUTE, OTHER THAN THOSE RELATED TO CLAIMS UNDER FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND THE RULES AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, ARISING OUT OF THEIR INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY. ALL INVESTORS FURTHER AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATION WILL BE BINDING AND HELD IN THE STATE OF DELAWARE. EACH INVESTOR ALSO AGREES TO WAIVE ANY RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL. OUT OF STATE ARBITRATION MAY FORCE AN INVESTOR TO ACCEPT A LESS FAVORABLE SETTLEMENT FOR DISPUTES. OUT OF STATE ARBITRATION MAY ALSO COST AN INVESTOR MORE TO ARBITRATE A SETTLEMENT OF A DISPUTE.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

OFFERING CIRCULAR SUMMARY.	6
FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS.	7
EXEMPTIONS UNDER JUMPSTART OUR BUSINESS STARTUPS ACT.	11
RISK FACTORS.	13
USE OF PROCEEDS.	38
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA	41
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.	41
INVESTMENT POLICIES OF COMPANY.	46
POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS.	47
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS.	50
TAX TREATMENT OF COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES.	66
ERISA CONSIDERATIONS.	84
SUMMARY OF AMENDED OPERATING AGREEMENT.	85
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.	93
OFFERING PRICE FACTORS.	93
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.	94
MANAGER, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS.	95
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.	97
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS.	98
PRIOR PERFORMANCE.	101
SELECTION, MANAGEMENT AND CUSTODY OF COMPANY'S INVESTMENTS.	117
LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY.	117
INTERESTS OF NAMED EXPERTS AND COUNSEL.	117
Financial Statements and Independent Auditors' Report.	F-1

OFFERING CIRCULAR SUMMARY

This summary contains basic information about us and the Offering. Because it is a summary, it does not contain all the information that you should consider before investing. You should read the entire Offering Circular carefully, including the risk factors and our financial statements and the related notes to those statements included in this Offering Circular. Except as otherwise required by the context, references in this Offering Circular to "we," "our," "us," "the Company," "Cardone REIT I, LLC," and "CRI," refer to Cardone REIT I, LLC.

We were formed on July 22, 2021 and have not yet commenced operations.

We are not a blank check company and do not consider ourselves to be a blank check company as we:

- Have a specific business plan. We have provided a detailed plan for the next twelve (12) months throughout our Offering Circular.
- \Box Have no intention of entering into a reverse merger with any entity in an unrelated industry in the future.

Since our inception through July 31, 2021, we have not generated any revenues and have incurred a net loss of \$0. We anticipate the commencement of generating revenues in the next twelve months. The capital raised in this Offering has been budgeted to cover the costs associated with beginning to operate our company, marketing expense, and investment and acquisition related costs. We intend on using the majority of the proceeds from this Offering for investment in properties. However, closing, and other investment and acquisition related costs such as title insurance, professional fees and taxes will likely require cash. We do not have the ability to quantify any of the expenses as they will all depend on size of deal, price, and place versus procuring new financing, due diligence performed (such as appraisal, environmental, property condition reports), legal and accounting, etc. There is no way to predict or otherwise detail expenses.

We intend on engaging in the following activities:

1. The Company's primary focus is to invest in multifamily properties that will produce income and/or appreciate over the hold period. The properties are selected based on criteria that includes positive cash flow at purchase, good location and a purchase price that is less than replacement cost. Positive cash flow means positive monthly income after all expenses, including interest expense, operating expenses and taxes, and maintenance reserves are paid. Properties with positive cash flow are frequently referred to as "income-producing" properties. The properties are then managed by one or more well-established third-party property management companies during the holding period to maximize the appreciation for the investors

2. The Company may also invest in properties that need significant repositioning or capital investments, known as value-add properties, and, thus, may not produce positive cash flow immediately. Nonetheless, the potential investments should have the likelihood to appreciate in value over the hold period.

3. The Company may also invest in any opportunity our Manager sees fit within the confines of the marketplace and economy so long as those investments are real estate related and within the investment objectives of the Company. To this end, the Company may invest in properties or make other real estate investments that relate to varying property types including office, retail, and industrial properties. Such property types will likely be operating properties rather than properties under development.

4. The Company may elect to enter into a joint venture or co-investment agreements with other real estate developers or investors, including an affiliate of the Manager.

In all cases, the debt on any given property must be such that it fits with the Investment Policies of the Company. We intend on leveraging our properties with debt equal to no more than 80% of their value. While our Manager or its affiliates may act as guarantors for some or all of our debts, the principal and interest payments on all Company debts will be paid by the Company.

The Company does not currently own any material assets. Please see our "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS" on page 50. We believe we will need at least \$38,000 to provide working capital and at least \$102,000 for professional fees for the next 12 months.

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

Q: *What is a real estate investment trust (REIT)?*

A: A REIT is an entity which generally pays distributions to investors of at least 90% of its annual ordinary taxable income and is able to qualify as a "real estate investment trust" under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "IRS Code"). Being qualified as a REIT generally allows the entity to deduct for the dividends it pays such that it is not subject to U.S. federal corporate income taxes on the net income that is distributed to its Members or shareholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the "double taxation" (taxation at both the corporate and shareholder levels) that generally results from investments in a corporation.

Table of Contents

This offering circular refers to an entity that qualifies to be taxed as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a REIT. We will elect to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Q: What is Cardone REIT I, LLC?

A: Cardone REIT I, LLC is a newly formed company created for the specific purpose of identifying and purchasing a portfolio of real estate assets. The Company has been formed to invest in various real estate assets throughout the United States. The Manager intends to initially search for properties located in the Sunbelt, but the Company will not limit itself geographically. The Company may invest in properties that are income producing; in other words, those properties that will produce positive cash flow immediately upon, or soon after, the Company invests. The Company may also invest in properties that need significant repositioning or capital investments, known as value-add, and, thus, may not produce positive cash flow immediately. It is expected that the Company will focus on Class A and B multifamily properties but may also consider commercial real estate assets such as self-storage, warehouse and industrial, office, and retail properties.

The Company intends to invest in properties that will appreciate in value over the expected hold period. It is expected that the investments will appreciate over time due to superior locations, quality property management, and increased net operating income.

Q: How will Cardone REIT I, LLC (CRI) identify properties?

A: The Manager and its affiliates will search for properties using traditional methods of using brokers in the markets where the Manager believe there are opportunities. The Manager and its affiliates will also pursue properties through proprietary relationships with other owners and sponsors to invest in properties acquired off market.

Q: What kind of return may be expected by a Member?

A: The Company does not currently own any assets; therefore, returns are speculative. However, it is the Company's intent to pay 80% (eighty percent) of the Distributable Cash to Class A Members at least annually in accordance with their pro rata Membership Interest in the Company. Newly issued Units will receive a share of the distribution corresponding to the number of days those Units have been issued at the time of the Distribution. Note that our Manager has discretion to pay more than 80% of the Distributable Cash to Class A Members in some later period to restore the 80%/20% split of total Distributable Cash between Class A and Class B Members. However, in no case will the Company have paid more than 20% of its total Distributable Cash to the Class B Members. (See the "SUMMARY OF AMENDED OPERATING AGREEMENT" on page 85 for more information.)



Q: What is the minimum investment amount allowed? A: \$1.000.

A: \$1,000.

Q: Who may invest?

A: The Interests will be available to any U.S. Person who is not subject to backup withholding; generally speaking, however, the Manager reserves the right to reject any subscription they wish. Further, investors will not be allowed to invest more than the greater of 10% of their net worth or their net income.

Q: Where can I buy Class A Interests?

A: All Interests will be available for purchase at cardonecapital.com.

Q: Who is the Manager?

A: The Manager is Cardone Capital LLC which is controlled by Grant Cardone. Grant Cardone is a real estate entrepreneur, author, sales trainer and speaker. He has worked with Fortune 100 companies such as Google, Wells Fargo, and Ford. The Manager currently manages over \$2.6 billion in multifamily assets. Prior performance of real estate investments may be found in the section entitled "**PRIOR PERFORMANCE**." For more info on Mr. Cardone and other Members of our Manager, please see "**MANAGER, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS**"

Q: How can I sell my Interests?

A: Generally speaking, the Interests will not be readily transferrable. There is no market for our Interests, nor is one expected to develop. If a Member finds a willing buyer, that buyer must meet all suitability standards and other requirements applicable to other original subscribers and must consent in writing to be bound by all the terms of the Amended Operating Agreement. The Buyer and Seller must pay all reasonable expenses, including accounting and attorneys' fees, incurred by the Company in connection with the transfer. In addition, the Company must receive written evidence of the assignment in a form approved by the Manager (which must include the signature of the transferor bearing a Medallion Signature Guarantee stamp) and the Manager must have consented in writing to the assignment. The Manager may withhold this consent in its sole and absolute discretion. Investors should consider investing for a minimum of ten (10) years as disposition of the Interests will be difficult, if not impossible.

Q: Will I be charged upfront selling commissions?

A: No. Investors will not pay upfront selling commissions as part of the price per Unit purchased in this offering. However, if the Manager finds that selling the Interests is difficult, it may later enlist the services of a licensed broker-dealer to assist with the sales of the Interests, in which case sales commission will be paid by the Company or the Investors, as disclosed in an amended Offering Circular.



Q: Do you have a redemption program?

A: No. While our Amended Operating Agreement permits us to adopt a Redemption Program at the discretion of our manager, we do not currently have a redemption program and have no intention of adopting one.

Q: May I make an investment through my IRA or other tax-deferred retirement account?

A: Yes. You may make an investment through your IRA or other tax-deferred retirement account. In making these investment decisions, you should consider, at a minimum, (1) whether the investment is in accordance with the documents and instruments governing your IRA, plan or other retirement account, (2) whether the investment would constitute a prohibited transaction under applicable law, (3) whether the investment satisfies the fiduciary requirements associated with your IRA, plan or other retirement account, (4) whether the investment will generate unrelated business taxable income ("UBTI") to your IRA, plan or other retirement account, (5) whether there is sufficient liquidity for such investment under your IRA, plan or other retirement account, (6) custodian requirements associated with your account. You should note that an investment in our Class A Interests will not, in itself, create a retirement plan and that, in order to create a retirement plan, you must comply with all applicable provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "IRS Code").

It is the Company's understanding that IRA and Roth IRA investments can be made through self-directed accounts which are not managed by the Company, and that Members will most likely will be charged fees by the custodians to manage any self-directed account. These fees will need to be paid by the investor and are not considered an expense of the Company.

Q: Is there any minimum initial offering amount required to be sold?

A: We intend to raise a minimum of \$1,000,000 prior to using funds to pay Company expenses, invest in properties, or for working capital. However, in some circumstances it may be advantageous to begin funding a property prior to Company funds being available. In such circumstances, the Manager or its affiliates may "pre-fund" a property and funds from this offering will go to replace that "pre-funding" amount as funds are available. The Company will pay interest at market rates, on terms that the Manager believes in good faith to be no less favorable to the Company than generally available from third parties. However, loan terms will be established by the Manager in good faith and not as a result of arm's length negotiations.

Table of Contents

Q: Will I be notified of how my investment is doing?

A: Yes, we will provide you with periodic updates on the performance of your investment in us, including:

- □ an annual report;
- □ a semi-annual report;
- □ current event reports for specified material events within ten business days of their occurrence;
- supplements to the offering circular if we have material information to disclose to you; and
- \Box other reports that we may file or furnish to the SEC from time to time.

We will provide this information to you by posting such information on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Q: When will I get my detailed tax information?

A: Your 1099-Div tax information, will be provided by January 31st of the year following each taxable year.

Q: Who can help answer my questions about the offering?

Please contact:

Investor Relations Cardone Capital LLC 18909 NE 29th Avenue Aventura, FL 33180 Investor Support: (833) 822-7435 Investor Relations: (305) 407-0276 Email: invest@Cardonecapital.com

EXEMPTIONS UNDER JUMPSTART OUR BUSINESS STARTUPS ACT

We are an emerging growth company. An emerging growth company is one that had total annual gross revenues of less than \$1,070,000,000 (as such amount is indexed for inflation every 5 years by the Commission to reflect the change in the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, setting the threshold to the nearest 1,000,000) during its most recently completed fiscal year. We would lose our emerging growth status if we were to exceed \$1,070,000,000 in gross revenues. We are not sure this will ever take place.

Because we are an emerging growth company, we have the exemption from Section 404(b) of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 14A(a) and (b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Under Section 404(b), we are now exempt from the internal control assessment required by subsection (a) that requires each independent auditor that prepares or issues the audit report for the issuer shall attest to, and report on, the assessment made by the management of the issuer. We are also not required to receive a separate resolution regarding either executive compensation or for any golden parachutes for our executives so long as we continue to operate as an emerging growth company.

We hereby elect to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards under Section 102(b)(1).

We will lose our status as an emerging growth company in the following circumstances:

- \Box The end of the fiscal year in which our annual revenues exceed \$1.07 billion.
- $\hfill\square$ The end of the fiscal year in which the fifth anniversary of our IPO occurred.
- □ The date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than \$1 billion in non-convertible debt.
- \Box The date on which we qualify as a large accelerated filer.

RISK FACTORS

Investors in the Company should be particularly aware of the inherent risks associated with our business. As of the date of this filing our management is aware of the following material risks.

General Risks Related to Our Business

We are an emerging growth company organized in July 2021 and have not yet commenced operations, which makes an evaluation of us extremely difficult. At this stage of our business operations, even with our good faith efforts, we may never become profitable or generate any significant amount of revenues, thus potential investors have a possibility of losing their investment.

We were organized in July 2021 and have not yet started operations. As a result of our start-up status we (i) have generated no revenues, (ii) will accumulate deficits due to organizational and start-up activities, business plan development, and professional fees since we organized. There is nothing at this time, other than the track record of our Manager, on which to base an assumption that our business operations will prove to be successful or that we will ever be able to operate profitably. However, past results do not guarantee future profitability. Our future operating results will depend on many factors, including our ability to raise adequate working capital, availability of properties for purchase, the level of our competition and our ability to attract and maintain key management and employees.

We are significantly dependent on Grant Cardone. The loss or unavailability of his services would have an adverse effect on our business, operations and prospects in that we may not be able to obtain new management under the same financial arrangements, which could result in a partial loss or return of your investment.

The Company's investment in properties and the attainment of new investors is significantly dependent on Grant Cardone. We expect that our investor base will be largely drawn from Mr. Cardone's exposure on social media and on media content delivered over the Manager's website. Mr. Cardone implemented the Company's strategy to identify and invest in multifamily properties which has resulted in the success of his prior real estate investments. It would be difficult to replace Grant Cardone at such an early stage of development of the Company. Mr. Cardone has built a qualified team of individuals that manage the marketing, business operations, property management, acquisitions and dispositions of assets while maintaining Mr. Cardone's investment strategy. In the event of Mr. Cardone's departure from the Company, it may be difficult to attain new investors or invest in properties, but the current management team would be able to manage the Company's assets until a such time as an exit would occur. Should the Company be unable to replace Grant Cardone it may be required to cease pursuing business opportunities, which may result in a partial loss or return of your investment.



This offering is a semi-blind pool offering, and therefore, Members will not have the opportunity to evaluate some of our investments before we make them, which makes investments more speculative.

We will seek to invest substantially all of the net offering proceeds from this Offering, after the payment of fees and expenses, in the acquisition of or investment in interests in assets. However, because, as of the date of this Offering Circular, we only identified one of the assets we expect to invest in (and have not yet acquired that asset, so there is a risk we will not acquire it) and because our Members will be unable to evaluate the economic merit of assets before we invest in them, they will have to rely on the ability of our Manager to select suitable and successful investment opportunities. These factors increase the risk that our Members' investment may not generate returns comparable to the Company's competitors.

Our Manager will have complete control over the Company and will therefore make all decisions over which Members will have no control.

Cardone Capital LLC, our Manager, will make all decisions relating to the business, operations, and strategy, without input by the Members. Such decisions may include purchase and sale decisions regarding the assets, the appointment of other officers, managers, vendors and whether to enter into material transactions with related parties.

Our Manager and/or its principles or employees may be accused of misconduct, which could expose us to significant reputational harm.

We are vulnerable to reputational harm, as we operate in an industry where integrity and the confidence of our investors are of critical importance. If our Manager or its employees or affiliates were to be accused of illegal or suspicious activities, even if those allegations are false or unsubstantiated, we may suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position, relationships with key persons and companies in the real estate market, and our ability to attract new investors. We or our Manager could also be subject to regulatory investigations by government entities, which (if publicly known) could further harm our reputation, even if the allegations being invested are later shown to be false or unsubstantiated.

Our business often requires that we deal with confidential information. If employees of our sponsor were to improperly use or disclose this information, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position and current and future business relationships.

An investment in the Interests is highly illiquid. You may never be able to sell or otherwise dispose of your Interests.

Since there is no public trading market for our Interests, you may never be able to liquidate your investment or otherwise dispose of your Interests. The Company intends to operate for a period of ten (10) years. Potential investors should note that the Amended Operating Agreement does not compel the Manager to sell all the properties by year ten, and thus, there is a risk that an investor may remain in the Company indefinitely, although that is not the intention of the Manager as stated herein. Therefore, you should expect to keep your investment in Class A Interests for a period of at least ten (10) years.

You may not receive Distributable Cash on predictable schedule and may never receive any Distributable Cash.

Distributions will only be available to the extent there is cash flow from rentals and other operations of the properties and other investments in excess of Company expenses. Therefore, there can be no assurance as to when or whether there will be any Cash Distributions from the Company to the Members.

Risks Related to the Real Estate Business

The profitability of the properties is uncertain.

We intend to invest in properties selectively. Investment in properties entails risks that investments will fail to perform in accordance with expectations. In undertaking these investments, we will incur certain risks, including the expenditure of funds on, and the devotion of management's time to, transactions that may not come to fruition. Additional risks inherent in investments include risks that the properties will not achieve anticipated sales price, rents, or occupancy levels and that estimated operating expenses and costs of improvements to bring an acquired property up to standards established for the market position intended for that property may prove inaccurate.

Rising expenses could reduce cash flow and funds available for future investments.

Our properties will be subject to increases in real estate tax rates, utility costs, operating expenses, insurance costs, repairs and maintenance, administrative and other expenses. If we are unable to increase rents at an equal or higher rate or lease properties on a basis requiring the tenants to pay all or some of the expenses, we would be required to pay those costs, which could adversely affect funds available for future cash distributions.

Due to a substantial influxes of capital investment and competition for properties, the real estate we invest in may not appreciate or may decrease in value.

The multifamily real estate markets are currently experiencing a substantial influx of capital from investors worldwide. This substantial flow of capital, combined with significant competition for real estate and the strength in the economy, may result in inflated purchase prices for such assets. To the extent we invest in real estate in such an environment, we are subject to the risk that if the real estate market ceases to attract the same level of capital investment in the future as it is currently attracting, or if the number of companies seeking to acquire such assets decreases, our returns will be lower and the value of our assets may not appreciate or may decrease significantly below the amount we paid for such assets.

A multifamily or commercial property's income and value may be adversely affected by national and regional economic conditions, local real estate conditions such as an oversupply of properties or a reduction in demand for properties, availability of "for sale" properties, competition from other similar properties, our ability to provide adequate maintenance, insurance and management services, increased operating costs (including real estate taxes), the attractiveness and location of the property and changes in market rental rates. Our income will be adversely affected if a significant number of tenants are unable to pay rent or if our properties cannot be rented on favorable terms. Our performance is linked to economic conditions in the regions where our properties will be located and in the market for multifamily space generally. Therefore, to the extent that there are adverse economic conditions in those regions, and in these markets generally, that impact the applicable market rents, such conditions could result in a reduction of our income and cash available for distributions and thus affect the amount of distributions we can make to you.

If we invest in commercial real estate, we will depend on commercial real estate tenants for our revenue and therefore our revenue may depend on the economic viability of our tenants.

If we invest in commercial real estate, we will be highly dependent on income from tenants. Our financial results will depend in part on leasing space in the properties or the full properties we invest in to tenants on economically favorable terms.

In the event of a tenant default prior to stabilization, we may experience delays in enforcing our rights as landlord and may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-letting our property. A default, of a substantial tenant or number of tenants at any one time, on lease payments to us would cause us to lose the revenue associated with such lease(s) and cause us to have to find an alternative source of revenue to meet mortgage payments and prevent a foreclosure if the property is subject to a mortgage. Therefore, substantial lease payment defaults by tenant(s) could cause us to lose our investment or reduce the amount of distributions to Members.

Competition and any increased affordability of single-family homes could limit our ability to lease our apartments or maintain or increase rents, which may materially and adversely affect us, including our financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and growth prospects.

The multifamily industry is highly competitive, and we face competition from many sources, including from other multifamily apartment communities both in the immediate vicinity and the geographic market where our properties are and will be located. If so, this would increase the number of apartments units available and may decrease occupancy and unit rental rates. Furthermore, multifamily apartment communities we invest in compete, or will compete, with numerous housing alternative in attracting residents, including owner occupied single and multifamily homes available to rent or purchase. The number of competitive properties and/or condominiums in a particular area, or any increased affordability of owner occupied single and multifamily homes caused by declining housing prices, mortgage interest rates and government programs to promote home ownership, could adversely affect our ability to retain our residents, lease apartment units and maintain or increase rental rates. These factors could materially and adversely affect us.

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and government restrictions adopted in response thereto, could significantly impact the ability of our tenants to pay rent, impede the performance of our properties, and harm our financial condition.

The United States, like the rest of the world, has been adversely affected by the breakout of the COVID-19 virus. The United States government, many states, and cities have periodically instituted "shelter in place" orders and adopted other restrictions which have caused the shuttering of many businesses and multiple layoffs, which may affect the income and, ultimately, the ability of tenants to pay rent. In addition, property owners have become subject of certain restrictions, such as a temporary moratorium on evictions, which may limit the Company's ability to respond to tenant defaults. These factors, and any other effects of the Pandemic, may impede the operations of our properties and could significantly harm our financial condition and operating results.

We may not make a profit if we sell a property.

The prices that we can obtain when we determine to sell a property will depend on many factors that are presently unknown, including the operating history, tax treatment of real estate investments, demographic trends in the area and available financing. There is a risk that we will not realize any significant appreciation on our investment in a property. Accordingly, your ability to recover all or any portion of your investment under such circumstances will depend on the amount of funds so realized and claims to be satisfied therefrom.

Our properties may not be diversified.

Our potential profitability and our ability to diversify our investments may be limited, both geographically and by type of properties we invest in. We will be able to invest in additional properties only as additional funds are raised. Given the limited number of assets we are targeting, our properties will not be well diversified, and their economic performance could be affected by changes in local economic conditions or changes uniquely affecting one or more particular asset classes.

Our performance is therefore linked to economic conditions in the regions in which we will invest in properties and in the market for real estate properties generally. Therefore, to the extent that there are adverse economic conditions in the regions in which our properties are located and in the market for real estate properties, such conditions could result in a reduction of our income and cash to return capital and thus affect the amount of distributions we can make to you.

Competition with third parties in acquiring and operating properties may reduce our profitability and the return on your investment.

We compete with many other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, many of which have greater resources than we do. Specifically, there are numerous commercial developers, real estate companies, foreign investors and investment funds that operate in the markets in which we may operate, that will compete with us in acquiring residential, commercial, and other properties that will be seeking investments and tenants for these properties.

Many of these entities have significant financial and other resources, including operating experience, allowing them to compete effectively with us. Competitors with substantially greater financial resources than us may generally be able to accept more risk than we can prudently manage, including risks with respect to the creditworthiness of entities in which investments may be made or risks attendant to a geographic concentration of investments. Demand from third parties for properties that meet our investment objectives could result in an increase of the price of such properties. If we pay higher prices for properties, our profitability may be reduced, and you may experience a lower return on your investment. In addition, our properties may be located and/or appointed than the properties that we will invest in, giving these properties or tenants. Many of these competing properties, and we may, in the future, face additional competition from properties not yet constructed or even planned. This competition could adversely affect our business. The number of competitive properties are built in locations competitive with our properties, causing increased competition for residential renters. In addition, our ability to charge premium rental rates to tenants may be negatively impacted. This increased competition may increase our costs of acquisitions or lower the occupancies and the rent we may charge tenants. This could result in decreased cash flow from tenants and may require us to make capital improvements to properties which we would not have otherwise made, thus affecting cash available for distributions to you.

We may not have control over costs arising from rehabilitation of properties.

We may elect to invest in properties which may require rehabilitation. Consequently, we may retain independent general contractors to perform the actual physical rehabilitation and/or construction work and will be subject to risks in connection with a contractor's ability to control rehabilitation and/or construction, and a contractor's ability to build in conformity with plans and specification.

Inventory or available properties might not be sufficient to realize our investment goals.

We may not be successful in identifying suitable real estate properties or other assets that meet our investment criteria, or consummating acquisitions or investments on satisfactory terms. Failures in identifying or consummating acquisitions or investments would impair the pursuit of our business plan. Moreover, our investment strategy could involve significant risks that could inhibit our growth and negatively impact our operating results, including the following: increases in asking prices by acquisition candidates to levels beyond our financial capability or to levels that would not result in the returns required by our investment criteria; diversion of management's attention to expansion efforts; unanticipated costs and contingent or undisclosed liabilities associated with investments; failure of the properties we invest in to achieve expected results; and difficulties entering markets in which we have no or limited experience.

The consideration paid for our properties may exceed fair market value, which may harm our financial condition and operating results.

The consideration that we pay will be based upon numerous factors, and the properties may be purchased in a negotiated transaction rather than through a competitive bidding process. We cannot assure anyone that the purchase price that we (or our Manager or its affiliates, if they are "pre-funding" a property) pay for a property or its appraised value will be a fair price, that we will be able to generate an acceptable return on such property, or that the location, lease terms or other relevant economic and financial data of any properties that we invest in will meet acceptable risk profiles. It is also possible that our Manager or its affiliates may "pre-fund" a property and then its fair market value may drop such that, even if the property was acquired by our Manager or its affiliates at fair market value, the consideration paid by the Company at the time of investment exceeds fair market value. We may also be unable to lease vacant space or renegotiate existing leases at market rates, which would adversely affect our returns on a property. As a result, our investments in our properties may fail to perform in accordance with our expectations, which may substantially harm our operating results and financial condition.

The failure of our properties to generate positive cash flow or to sufficiently appreciate in value would most likely preclude our Members from realizing an attractive return on their Interest ownership.

There is no assurance that our real estate investments will appreciate in value or will ever be sold at a profit. The marketability and value of the properties will depend upon many factors beyond the control of our management. There is no assurance that there will be a ready market for the properties, since investments in real property are generally non-liquid. The real estate market is affected by many factors, such as general economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other factors, including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. We cannot predict whether we will be able to sell any property for the price or on the terms set by it, or whether any price or other terms offered by a prospective purchaser would be acceptable to us. We also cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of a property. Moreover, we may be required to expend funds to correct defects or to make improvements before a property can be sold. We cannot assure any person that we will have funds available to correct those defects or to make improvements. In investing in a property, we may agree to lockout provisions that materially restrict us from selling that property for a period of time or impose other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that property. These lockout provisions would restrict our ability to sell a property. These factors and any others that would impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance of our properties could significantly harm our financial condition and operating results.

Illiquidity of real estate investments could significantly impede our ability to respond to adverse changes in the performance of our properties and harm our financial condition.

Because real estate investments are relatively illiquid, our ability to promptly sell one or more properties or investments in our portfolio in response to changing economic, financial and investment conditions may be limited. In particular, these risks could arise from weakness in or even the lack of an established market for a property, changes in the financial condition or prospects of prospective purchasers, changes in national or international economic conditions, and changes in laws, regulations or fiscal policies of jurisdictions in which the property is located. We may be unable to realize our investment objectives by sale, other disposition or refinance at attractive prices within any given period of time or may otherwise be unable to complete any exit strategy. An exit event is not guaranteed and is subject to the Manager's discretion.

Investments in real estate-related securities may be illiquid, and the Company may not be able to dispose of these assets in response to changes in economic and other conditions

If the Company invests in certain real estate-related securities that it may receive in connection with privately negotiated transactions, they may be restricted securities, resulting in a prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or other disposition for a period of time. These securities also will not be registered under the relevant securities laws, and thus cannot be transferred, sold pledged, or otherwise disposed except in a transaction that is exempt from the registration requirements of, or is otherwise in accordance with, those laws. As a result, the Company's ability to dispose of these assets in response to changes in economic and other conditions may be extremely limited.

Risks Related to Financing

We might obtain lines of credit and other borrowings, which increases our risk of loss due to potential foreclosure.

We may obtain lines of credit and long-term financing that may be secured by our assets. As with any liability, there is a risk that we may be unable to repay our obligations from the cash flow of our assets. Therefore, when borrowing and securing such borrowing with our assets, we risk losing such assets in the event we are unable to repay such obligations or meet such demands.

We have broad authority to incur debt and high debt levels could hinder our ability to make distributions and decrease the value of our investors' investments.

Our policies do not limit us from incurring debt until our total liabilities would be at 80% of the value of the assets of the Company. Although we intend to borrow typically no more than 75% of a property's value, we may borrow as much as 80% of the value of our properties. While our Members will not be personally liable for these obligations, and our Manager or Grant Cardone may issue personal guarantees that these obligations will be repaid, the Company is ultimately responsible for paying off these debts. High debt levels would cause us to incur higher interest charges and higher debt service payments and may also be accompanied by restrictive covenants. These factors could limit the amount of cash we have available to distribute and could result in a decline in the value of our investors' investments.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest

There are conflicts of interest between us, our Manager and its affiliates.

We expect that a third-party related to the Manager, Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC, will provide asset management, accounting, and other services to our Manager and the Company. Prevailing market rates are determined by Management based on industry standards and expectations of what Management would be able to negotiate with a third-party on an arm's length basis. All of the agreements and arrangements between such parties, including those relating to compensation, are not the result of arm's length negotiations. Some of the conflicts inherent in our Company's transactions with the Manager and its affiliates, and the limitations on such parties adopted to address these conflicts, are described below. Our Company, Manager and their affiliates will try to balance our interests with their own. However, to the extent that such parties take actions that are more favorable to other entities than the Company, these actions could have negative impact on our financial performance and, consequently, on distributions to Members and the value of our Interests. See "POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS —Conflicts of Interest".

The interests of the Manager, our principals and their other affiliates may conflict with your interests.

The Amended Operating Agreement provides our Manager with broad powers and authority which may result in one or more conflicts of interest between your interests and those of the Manager, the principals, and its other affiliates. Potential conflicts of interest include, but are not limited to, the following:

- the Manager, the principals and/or its other affiliates are offering, and may continue to originate and offer, other real estate investment opportunities, including additional blind pool equity and debt offerings similar to this offering and may make investments in real estate assets for their own respective accounts, whether or not competitive with our business;
- the Manager, the principals and/or its other affiliates will not be required to disgorge any profits or fees or other compensation they may receive from any other business they own separately from us, and you will not be entitled to receive or share in any of the profits return fees or compensation from any other business owned and operated by the Manager, the principals and/or its other affiliates for their own benefit;

Table of Contents

- the acquisitions of investments at higher purchase prices would entitle our Manager to higher acquisition fees and asset management fees regardless of the quality or performance of the investment and, in the case of acquisitions of investments from other entities, might also entitle our Manager or its affiliates or assigns to disposition fees in connection with services for the seller;
- we may borrow money from the Manager or affiliates of the Manager at prevailing market rates, or engage the Manager or affiliate of the Manager to perform services at prevailing market rates. Prevailing market rates are determined by the Manager based on industry standards and expectations of what the Manager would be able to negotiate with a third-party on an arm's length basis; and
- the Manager, the principals and/or its other affiliates are not required to devote all of their time and efforts to our affairs.

Risks Associated with Joint Ventures/Co-Investors

The terms of joint venture agreements or other joint ownership/co-investor arrangements into which the Manager may enter could impair operating flexibility and results of operations.

In connection with the purchase of real estate or making real estate-related investments, the Manager may enter into joint ventures with affiliated or unaffiliated partners. In addition, the Company may also purchase or develop properties in arrangements with affiliates of the Manager, the sellers of the properties, developers and/or similar persons. These structures involve participation in the investment by outsiders whose interests and rights may not be the same as the Company's. These joint venture partners or co-tenants may have rights to take some actions over which the Manager has no control and may take actions contrary to the interests of the Company. For example, joint ownership of an investment, under certain circumstances, may involve risks not associated with direct ownership of such investment, including the following:

- a partner or co-investor might have economic and/or other business interests or goals which are unlike or incompatible with the business interests or goals of the Company, including inconsistent goals relating to the sale of properties held in a joint venture and/or the timing of the termination and liquidation of the venture;
- □ such partners or co-investors may become bankrupt and such proceedings could have an adverse impact on the operation of the Company or joint venture;

- 🗆 the Company may incur liabilities as the result of actions taken by joint venture partners in which there was no direct involvement; and
- such partners or co-investors may be in a position to take action contrary to instructions from the Manager or requests or contrary to the Company's policies and objectives or fail to take actions as instructed.

If the Company has a right of first refusal or buy/sell right to buy out a co-investor/venturer or partner, we may be unable to finance such a buy-out if it becomes exercisable or we may be forced to exercise those rights at a time when it would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If the Company's interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have sufficient cash, available borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow the purchase of such an interest of a co-investor/venturer subject to the buy/sell right, in which case we may be forced to sell the interest when otherwise we would have preferred to retain such interest. The Manager may not be able to sell a Company's interest in a joint venture on a timely basis or on acceptable terms if an exit from the venture is desired for any reason, particularly if the interest is subject to a right of first refusal of the co-investor/venturer or partner.

The Manager may structure a joint venture/co-invest relationship in a manner which could limit the amount the Company participates in the cash flow or appreciation of an investment.

The Manager may enter into joint venture agreements, the economic terms of which may provide for the distribution of income to the Company otherwise than in direct proportion to ownership interest in the joint venture. For example, while a co-investor/venturer may invest an equal amount of capital in an investment, the investment may be structured such that the Company has a right to priority distributions of cash flow up to a certain target return while the co-investor/venturer may receive a disproportionately greater share of cash flow than the Company is to receive once such target return has been achieved. This type of investment structure may result in the co-investor/venturer receiving more of the cash flow, including appreciation, of an investment than the Company would receive. If the Manager does not accurately judge the appreciation prospects of a particular investment or structure the agreement appropriately, the Company may incur losses on joint venture/co-invest investments and/or have limited participation in the profits of a joint venture/co-invest mets, either of which could reduce the ability to make cash distributions to the Members.

Co-investments with other parties will result in additional risks.

The Company may co-invest in various investments with other investors obtained by an affiliate of the Manager. It is possible that a co-investor would be unable to pay its share of costs, which could be detrimental to the Company's investment in a property unless an alternative source of capital could be obtained. In the event a third-party co-investor was to become bankrupt, third-party creditors could become involved in property affairs. In addition, the co-investors could have economic or business interests or goals which are, or which may become inconsistent with the Company's business interests or goals.

If the Manager enters into joint ventures with affiliates, the Company may face conflicts of interest or disagreements with the joint venture partners that will not be resolved as quickly or on terms as advantageous to the Company as would be the case if the joint venture had been negotiated at arm's-length with an independent joint venture partner. As a result, Member returns may be decreased by entering into such joint ventures with affiliates of the Manager.

In the event that the Company enters into a joint venture with any other project sponsored or advised by the Manager or one of its affiliates, the Company may face certain additional risks and potential conflicts of interest. Joint venture partners may not desire to sell properties at the time the Company desires. Joint ventures between the Company and other Manager projects will not have the benefit of arm's-length negotiation of the type normally conducted between unrelated co-venturers. Under these joint venture agreements, none of the co-venturers may have the power to control the venture, and an impasse could be reached regarding matters pertaining to the joint venture, including the timing of a liquidation, which might have a negative impact on the joint venture and decrease returns to the Members. Joint ventures with other Manager projects would also be subject to the risks associated with joint ventures with unaffiliated third parties.

Risks Related to Our Corporate Structure

We do not set aside funds in a sinking fund to pay distributions, so you must rely on our revenues from operations and other sources of funding for distributions. These sources may not be sufficient to meet these obligations.

We do not contribute funds on a regular basis to a separate account, commonly known as a sinking fund, to pay distributions on the Interests. Accordingly, you will have to rely on our cash from operations and other sources of liquidity, such as borrowed funds and proceeds from sale of the assets, for distribution payments. Our ability to generate revenues from operations in the future is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, statutory and other factors that are beyond our control. Moreover, we cannot assure you that we will have access to additional sources of liquidity if our cash from operations are not sufficient to fund distributions to you. Our need for such additional sources may come at undesirable times, such as during poor market or credit conditions when the costs of funds are high and/or other terms are not as favorable as they would be during good market or credit conditions. The cost of financing will directly impact our results of operations, and financing on less than favorable terms may hinder our ability to make a profit. Your right to receive distributions on your Interests is junior to the right of our general creditors to receive payments from us. If we do not have sufficient funds to meet our anticipated future operating expenditures and debt repayment obligations as they become due, then you could lose all or part of your investment. We currently do not have any revenues.

You will have limited control over changes in our policies and operations, which increases the uncertainty and risks you face as a Member.

Our Manager determines our major policies, including our policies regarding financing, growth and debt capitalization. Our Manager may amend or revise these and other policies without a vote of the Members. Our Manager's broad discretion in setting policies and our Members' inability to exert control over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks you face as a Member. In addition, our Manager may change our investment objectives without seeking Member approval.

Our ability to make distributions to our Members is subject to fluctuations in our financial performance, operating results and capital improvement requirements.

Currently, our strategy includes paying a distribution at least annually to investors. under this Offering that would result in positive annualized return on investment, net of expenses, of which there is no guarantee. Class A Members would typically receive 80% of the Distributable Cash as defined in the Company's Amended Operating Agreement. (See "SUMMARY OF AMENDED OPERATING AGREEMENT.") In the event of downturns in our operating results, unanticipated capital improvements to our properties, or other factors, we may be unable, or may decide not to pay distributions to our Members. The timing and amount of distributions are the sole discretion of our Manager who will consider, among other factors, our financial performance, any debt service obligations, any debt covenants, and capital expenditure requirements. We cannot assure you that we will generate sufficient cash in order to pay distributions.

The Company intends to avoid being classified as an investment company.

Under the Investment Company Act of 1940, an "investment company" is defined as an issuer which is or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities; is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of issuing faceamount certificates of the installment type, or has been engaged in such business and has any such certificate outstanding; or is engaged or proposes to engage in the business of investing, reinvesting, or trading in securities, and owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40 per centum of the value of such issuer's total assets (exclusive of Government securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis. Under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, an "investment adviser" is defined, in relevant part, as any person who, for compensation, engages in the business of advising others, either directly or through publications or writings, as to the value of securities or as to the advisability of investing in, purchasing, or selling securities, or who, for compensation and as part of a regular business, issues or promulgates analyses or reports concerning securities.

Table of Contents

We intend to operate in such manner as not to be classified as an "investment company" within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940 as we intend on primarily holding real estate. In addition, the Manager is not an investment adviser registered with the SEC, will not be governed by the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, and will not be acting in such capacity with respect to the Company because the Company will not be investing in assets which fall within the definition of a security under U.S. federal securities laws. The management and the investment practices and policies of ours are not supervised or regulated by any federal or state authority. As a result, investors will be exposed to certain risks that would not be present if we were subjected to a more restrictive regulatory situation.

If we are deemed to be an investment company, we may be required to institute burdensome compliance requirements and our activities may be restricted

If we are ever deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, or our Manager is ever deemed to be an investment adviser under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, we may be subject to certain restrictions including:

- \Box restrictions on the nature of our investments; and
- \Box restrictions on the issuance of securities.

In addition, we may have imposed upon us certain burdensome requirements, including:

- $\hfill\square$ registration as an investment company and our Manager's registration as an investment adviser;
- \Box adoption of a specific form of corporate structure; and
- reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy, compliance policies and procedures and disclosure requirements and other rules and regulations.

The exemption from the Investment Company Act of 1940 may restrict our operating flexibility. Failure to maintain this exemption may adversely affect our profitability.

We do not believe that at any time we will be deemed an "investment company" under the Investment Company Act of 1940 as we do not intend on trading or selling securities. Rather, we intend to hold and manage real estate. However, if at any time we may be deemed an "investment company," we believe we will be afforded an exemption under Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (referred to in this Offering as the "1940 Act"). Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the 1940 Act excludes from regulation as an "investment company" any entity that is primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring "mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate". To qualify for this exemption, we must ensure our asset composition meets certain criteria. Generally, 55% of our assets must consist of qualifying mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate. Morevsely impact our ability to acquire or hold investments, to engage in future business activities that we believe could be profitable, or could require us to dispose of investments that we might prefer to retain. If we are required to register as an "investment company" under the 1940 Act, then the additional expenses and operational requirements associated with such registration may materially and adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations in future periods.

NOTICE REGARDING AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE

THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM REQUIRES THAT ALL INVESTORS ARBITRATE ANY DISPUTE, OTHER THAN THOSE CLAIMS UNDER FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS AND THE RULES AND REGULATIONS PROMULGATED THEREUNDER, ARISING OUT OF THEIR INVESTMENT IN THE COMPANY. ALL INVESTORS FURTHER AGREE THAT THE ARBITRATION WILL BE BINDING AND HELD IN THE STATE OF DELAWARE. EACH INVESTOR ALSO AGREES TO WAIVE ANY RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL. OUT OF STATE ARBITRATION MAY FORCE AN INVESTOR TO ACCEPT A LESS FAVORABLE SETTLEMENT FOR DISPUTES. OUT OF STATE ARBITRATION MAY ALSO COST AN INVESTOR MORE TO ARBITRATE A SETTLEMENT OF A DISPUTE.

The Amended Operating Agreement contains a mandatory dispute resolution process which may limit the rights of investors to some legal remedies and forums otherwise available. This Agreement contains a provision which requires that all claims arising from Member's investment in the Company be resolved through arbitration.

For Members' information:

- (a) Arbitration is final and binding on the parties;
- (b) The parties are waiving their right to seek remedies in court, including the right to jury trial;
- (c) Pre-arbitration discovery is generally more limited than and potentially different in form and scope from court proceedings.
- (d) The Arbitration Award is not required to include factual findings or legal reasoning and any party's right to appeal or to seek modification of a ruling by the arbitrators is strictly limited;
- (e) The panel of arbitrators may include a minority of persons engaged in the securities industry. Such arbitration provision limits the rights of an investor to some legal remedies and rights otherwise available.

The dispute resolution process provisions do not apply to claims under the federal securities laws. By agreeing to the dispute resolution process, including mandatory arbitration, investors will not be deemed to have waived the company's compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

Insurance Risks

We may suffer significant losses that are not covered by insurance.

The geographic areas in which we invest in properties may be at risk for damage to property due to certain weather-related and environmental events, including such things as fires, tornadoes, snowstorms and blizzards, severe thunderstorms, flooding, earthquakes, sinkholes, and hurricanes. To the extent possible, the Manager may but is not required to attempt to acquire insurance against some of these risks. However, such insurance may not be available (or may only be available at cost-prohibitive costs) in all areas, nor are all hazards insurable as some may be deemed acts of God or be subject to other policy exclusions.

Furthermore, an insurance company may deny coverage for certain claims, and/or determine that the value of the claim is less than the cost to restore the property, and a lawsuit could have to be initiated to force them to provide coverage, resulting in further losses in income to the Company. Additionally, properties may now contain or come to contain mold, which may not be covered by insurance and has been linked to health issues.

Environmental and Litigation Risks

We may be required to mitigate or compensate others for certain environmental issues, resulting in increased costs.

Under various federal, state and local environmental and public health laws, regulations and ordinances, the Company may be required, regardless of knowledge or responsibility, to investigate and remediate the effects of hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases (including in some cases natural substances such as methane or radon gas) and may be held liable under these laws or common law to a governmental entity or to third-parties for property, personal injury or natural resources damages and for investigation and remediation costs incurred as a result of the real or suspected presence of these substances in soil or groundwater beneath a property. These damages and costs may be substantial and may exceed insurance coverage the Company has for such events.

Structures on a property may have contained hazardous or toxic substances, or have released pollutants into the environment; or may have known or suspected asbestos-containing building materials, lead based paint, mold, or insect infestations (such as roaches or bed bugs), that the Company may be required to mitigate. Undetected or unmitigated conditions such as these may cause (or be suspected to cause) personal injury and/or property damage, which could subject the properties, the Manager, and/or the Company to litigation with and liability to third parties.

The Manager will attempt to limit exposure to such conditions by conducting due diligence on a property, however, all or some of these conditions may not be discovered or occur until after that property has been invested in by the Company.

We may invest in properties which are not in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act

Under the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (the ADA), all public accommodations are required to meet certain federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. A determination that a property owned and operated by the Company is not in compliance with the ADA could result in imposition of fines or an award of damages to private litigants. Furthermore, modifications made to comply with the ADA may result in unforeseen costs, which may impair the Company's ability to make Distributions to its Members.

We may be sued or the target of a regulatory investigation.

Owning and operating the properties and raising money through the sale of securities subjects the Company to the risk of lawsuits filed by tenants, past and present employees, contractors, competitors, business partners, investors and others in the ordinary course of business, as well as to the risk of being investigated by state or federal regulators. As with all legal proceedings, no assurance can be provided as to the outcome of these matters, and legal proceedings can be expensive and time consuming. The Company may not be successful in the defense or prosecution of these lawsuits or investigations, which could result in settlements or damages that could result in substantial losses to the Company. Even if the Company is successful, there may be substantial costs associated with the legal proceeding, and the Manager may be delayed or prevented from implementing the business plan of the Company.

Risks Related to Our REIT Status

The Internal Revenue Service may challenge our characterization as a REIT.

We intend to elect to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, commencing with the taxable year ending December 31, 2021. We assert that we have been organized, owned and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code, and that our proposed ownership, organization and method of operation will enable us to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code. While we believe that we are organized and intend to operate so that we will qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations and the possibility of future changes in our circumstances or applicable law, no assurance can be given by us that we will so qualify for any particular year or that the IRS will not challenge our conclusions with respect to our satisfaction of the REIT requirements.

Our Manager has discretion to change our REIT election without member approval.

The ability of our Manager to determine that the Company should not be treated as a REIT, without Member approval, may subject us to federal income taxation and reduce distributions to Members. Our Amended Operating Agreement provides that our Manager may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the approval of Members, if the Manager determines that it is no longer in our best interest to continue to qualify as a REIT. If we cease to be a REIT, we would become subject to federal income tax on our taxable income and would no longer be required to distribute most of our taxable income to our Members, which may have adverse consequences on our total return to our Member Interests.

We may not be able to comply with REIT distribution and asset requirements, and doing so may require us to forego certain investments.

Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on our ability to meet, on a continuing basis, through actual results of operations, distribution levels, diversity of unit ownership and various qualification requirements imposed upon REITs by the Code, discussed below. In addition, our ability to qualify as a REIT may depend in part upon the operating results, organizational structure and entity classification for U.S. federal income tax purposes of certain entities in which we invest, which we may not control. Our ability to qualify as a REIT also requires that we satisfy certain asset and income tests, some of which depend upon the fair market values of assets directly or indirectly owned by us or which serve as security for loans made by us. Some of these tests differ for standard income tax rules and therefore values for these purposes may not be susceptible to a precise determination and may diverge from common standards. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the actual results of our operations for any taxable year will satisfy the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. In order to meet these tests, we may be required to forego investments we might otherwise make. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our performance.



Our joint-venture investments may not always operate in compliance with REIT requirements.

We intend to obtain covenants from any partnerships in which we invest but do not control to operate in compliance with the REIT requirements, but we may not control any particular partnership into which we invest, and thus no assurance can be given that any such partnerships will not operate in a manner that causes us to fail an income or asset test requirement. This failure may occur, despite our Manager actually or constructively having an interest, including a controlling interest, in the partnership outside the Company, and such failure would be deemed within the discretion of the Manager and non-controvertible.

We will suffer negative consequences if a partnership in which we invest fails to qualify as a partnership for tax purposes.

If an operating partnership in which we invest fails to qualify as a partnership for Federal Income Tax purposes, we may cease to qualify as a REIT. We believe that any operating partnership in which we invest would clearly qualify under the "check the box" rules. No assurance can be provided, however, that the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, will not challenge its status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, or that a court would not sustain such a challenge – either under current law or as the result in the change of law. If the IRS were successful in treating an operating partnership as a corporation for tax purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs and, accordingly, cease to qualify as a REIT. Also, the failure of our operating partnership to qualify as a partnership would cause it to become subject to federal and state corporate income tax, which would reduce significantly the amount of cash available for debt service and for distribution to its partners, including us.

Federal Income Tax Risks

THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF HOLDERS OF OUR INTERESTS DEPENDS IN SOME INSTANCES ON DETERMINATIONS OF FACT AND INTERPRETATIONS OF COMPLEX PROVISIONS OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAW FOR WHICH NO CLEAR PRECEDENT OR AUTHORITY MAY BE AVAILABLE. IN ADDITION, THE TAX CONSEQUENCES OF HOLDING OUR INTERESTS TO ANY PARTICULAR MEMBER WILL DEPEND ON THE MEMBER'S PARTICULAR TAX CIRCUMSTANCES. YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND NON-U.S. INCOME AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES TO YOU, IN LIGHT OF YOUR PARTICULAR INVESTMENT OR TAX CIRCUMSTANCES, OF ACQUIRING, HOLDING, AND DISPOSING OF OUR INTERESTS.

The Internal Revenue Service may challenge our characterization of material tax aspects of your investment in the Interests.

An investment in Interests involves material income tax risks which are discussed in detail in the section of this offering entitled **"TAX TREATMENT OF COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES."** You are urged to consult with your own tax advisor with respect to the federal, state, local and foreign tax considerations of an investment in our Interests. We may or may not seek any rulings from the Internal Revenue Service regarding any of the tax issues discussed herein. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that the tax conclusions discussed in this offering, if contested, would be sustained by the IRS or any court. In addition, our legal coursel is unable to form an opinion as to the probable outcome of the contest of certain material tax aspects of the transactions described in this offering, including whether we will be characterized as a "dealer" so that sales of our assets would give rise to ordinary income rather than capital gain. Our coursel also gives no opinion as to the tax considerations to you of tax issues that have an impact at the individual or partner level.

We may be audited which could subject you to additional tax, interest and penalties.

Our federal income tax returns may be audited by the Internal Revenue Service. Any audit of the Company could result in an audit of your tax return. The results of any such audit may require adjustments of items unrelated to your investment, in addition to adjustments to various Company items. In the event of any such audit or adjustments, you might incur attorneys' fees, court costs and other expenses in contesting deficiencies asserted by the Internal Revenue Service. You may also be liable for interest on any underpayment and penalties from the date your tax was originally due. The tax treatment of all Company items will generally be determined at the Company level in a single proceeding rather than in separate proceedings with each Member, and our Manager is primarily responsible for contesting federal income tax adjustments proposed by the Internal Revenue Service. In such a contest, our Manager may choose to extend the statute of limitations as to all Members and, in certain circumstances, may be the Members to a settlement with the Internal Revenue Service. Adjustments to Company items would continue to be determined at the Company level however, and any such adjustments would be accounted for in the year they take effect, rather than in the year to which such adjustments relate. Our Manager will have the discretion in such circumstances either to pass along any such adjustments to to the Members or to bear such adjustments at the Company level.

A portion of our distributions may be treated as a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which could reduce the basis of a member's investment in our Class A Units and may trigger taxable gain.

As a general matter, a portion of our distributions will be treated as a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes if the aggregate amount of our distributions for a year exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits for that year. To the extent that a distribution is treated as a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it will reduce a holder's adjusted tax basis in the holder's Units, and to the extent that it exceeds the holder's adjusted tax basis, it will be treated as gain resulting from a sale or exchange of such Units. See "U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations."

State and local taxes and a requirement to withhold state taxes may apply, and if so, the amount of net cash from open payable to you would be reduced.

The state in which you reside may impose an income tax upon your share of our taxable income. Further, states in which we will own properties may impose income taxes upon your share of our taxable income allocable to any Company property located in that state. Many states have implemented or are implementing programs to require companies to withhold and pay state income taxes owed by non-resident Members relating to income-producing properties located in their states, and we may be required to withhold state taxes from cash distributions otherwise payable to you. You may also be required to file income tax returns in some states and report your share of income attributable to ownership and operation by the Company of properties in those states. In the event we are required to withhold state taxes from your cash distributions, the amount of the net cash from operations otherwise payable to you would be reduced. In addition, such collection and filing requirements at the state level may result in increases in our administrative expenses that would have the effect of reducing cash available for distribution to you. You are urged to consult with your own tax advisors with respect to the impact of applicable state and local taxes and state tax withholding requirements on an investment in our Interests.

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect investors.

In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made in the provisions of the federal income tax laws applicable to investments similar to an investment in our Interests. Additional changes to the tax laws are likely to continue to occur, and we cannot assure you that any such changes will not adversely affect your taxation as a Member. Any such changes could have an adverse effect on an investment in our Interests or on the market value or the resale potential of our properties. You are urged to consult with your own tax advisor with respect to the impact of recent legislation on your investment in Interests and the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our Interests.

DETERMINATION OF OFFERING PRICE

Our Offering Price is arbitrary with no relation to value of the company. This Offering is a self-underwritten offering, which means that it does not involve the participation of an underwriter to market, distribute or sell the Class A Interests offered under this offering.

If the maximum amount of Class A Interests are sold under this Offering, the purchasers under this Offering will own 100% of the Class A Units outstanding.

If the minimum amount of Class A Interests are sold under this Offering, the purchasers under this Offering will own 100% of the Class A Units outstanding.

If some amount of Class A Interests are sold under this Offering, between the above maximum and minimum amount of this Offering, the purchasers under this Offering will own 100% of the Class A Units outstanding.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

This Offering shall remain open for one year following the Qualification Date of this Offering unless earlier terminated by the Manager in its sole and absolute discretion, provide that the Manager may extend the Offering an additional six-month period so long as it is compliant with the qualification requirements of the Commission.

The Class A Interests are self-underwritten and are being offered and sold by the Company on a minimum/maximum basis. No compensation will be paid to any principal, the Manager, or any affiliated company or party with respect to the sale of the Class A Interests. This means that no compensation will be paid with respect to the sale of the Class A Interests to Cardone Capital LLC, Mr. Cardone, or affiliated companies. We are relying on Rule 3a4-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Associated Persons of an Issuer Deemed not to be Brokers. The applicable portions of the rule state that associated persons (including companies) of an issuer shall not be deemed brokers if they a) perform substantial duties at the end of the offering for the issuer; b) are not broker dealers; and c) do not participate in selling securities more than once every 12 months, except for any of the following activities: i) preparing written communication, but no oral solicitation; or ii) responding to inquiries provided that the content is contained in the applicable registration statement; or iii) performing clerical work in effecting any transaction. Neither the Company, its Manager, nor any affiliates conduct any activities that fall outside of Rule 3a4-1 and are therefore not brokers nor are they dealers. All subscription funds which are accepted will be deposited directly into the Company's segregated subscription account. Subscription funds placed in the segregated subscription account will only be released if the Minimum Offering Amount is raised within the Offering Period. The purchase price for the Class A Interests is \$1,000 per Unit, with a minimum purchase of (1) one Unit. The Company will raise a minimum of \$1,000,000 prior to funds being released to the Company. If the Company does not raise the Minimum Offering Amount within the Offering Period, all proceeds raised to that point will be promptly returned to subscribers of Class A Interests pro-rata, without any deduction for fees. Subscription Agreements are irrevocable.

Table of Contents

The Company plans use the Cardone Capital LLC's current network of real estate investors to directly solicit investments as well as various forms of advertisement. The Company, subject to Rule 255 of the Securities Act of 1933 and corresponding state regulations, is permitted to generally solicit investors by using advertising mediums, such as print, radio, TV, and the Internet. However, we do not intend to make any "testing the waters" communications prior to the qualification of the Offering Statement. We will offer the securities as permitted by Rule 251 (d)(1)(iii) whereby offers may be made after this Offering has been qualified, but any written offers must be accompanied with or preceded by the most recent offering circular filed with the Commission for the Offering. The Company plans to directly solicit investors using the Internet through a variety of existing internet advertising mechanisms, such as search based advertising, search engine optimization, and the Manager's website at www.cardonecapital.com

Please note that the Company will not communicate any information to prospective investors except as may be permitted under applicable securities laws without providing access to the Offering. The Offering may be delivered through the website, through email, or by hard paper copy.

We do not intend to initiate communications with potential investors regarding this offering prior to the qualification of the Offering Statement. Should an investor discover the existence of this offering prior to qualification (e.g., by finding our offering circular) and contact us to indicate their interest, we intend to thank them for their interest, note down their contact information, and reach out to them after the Offering Statement is qualified to extend an offer as part of this Offering. Any such communications will be Rule 255 compliant and not amount to a free writing prospectus. We will not orally solicit investors and no sales will be made prior to this offering statement being declared qualified and a final Offering is available.

Investments will be processed on a first come, first served basis, up to the Offering Amount of \$75,000,000. We intend to restrict our offering to U.S. Citizens, U.S. Residents, and legal entities who are considered "United States Persons" within the meaning of 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code who are not subject to backup withholding. The Company may require investors to certify for their U.S. status in order to become a member, and investors subject to backup withholding may be subject to transfer restrictions or forced transfers under the Amended Operating Agreement.
The minimum accepted from any Subscriber is \$1,000. Subscription funds will remain in the Company's segregated subscription account until the Subscriber has turned in all requested documentation, after which the Manager shall make a determination as to whether such Subscriber will be accepted as a Member. Each Person whom the Manager determines to accept shall be admitted as a Member and deemed listed as such on the books and records of the Company, and thereupon shall be issued Units (or additional Units) as of the date of acceptance. Each Person whom the Manager determines not to accept will be informed of such rejection and have the payment previously transmitted by said Person promptly returned in full, without any fees or deduction, and without any payment of interest.

The Manager intends (but is not required) to make determinations as to prospective Members on the business days closest to the first and fifteenth day of each month, but may make determinations on different days (especially as to whether the Company should issue additional Units to current Members), and may delay a determination if it believes it needs more information. The Subscription funds may also remain in the Company's segregated subscription account up until the Company invests in a real estate asset. The Subscription funds may be used as part of an investment in real estate, to repay a note payable to the Manager or an affiliate of the Manager who advanced proceeds to purchase one or more real estate assets (such advances to be repaid with simple annualized interest at market rate, on terms that the Manager believes in good faith to be no less favorable to the Company than generally available from third parties), or pay the Company's expenses.

The Offering Period will commence upon the Offering Statement being declared qualified.

No sale will be made to a prospective investor if the aggregate purchase price payable is more than 10% of the greater of the prospective investor's annual income or net worth. Different rules apply to accredited investors and non-natural persons.

Periodically, the Manager will report to the Members and will supplement this Offering with material and/or fundamental changes to our operations. We will also provide updated financial statements to all Members and prospective Members.

In compliance with Rule 253(e) of Regulation A, the Manager shall revise this Offering Statement during the course of the Offering whenever information herein has become false or misleading in light of existing circumstances, material developments have occurred, or there has been a fundamental change in the information initially presented. Such updates will not only correct such misleading information but shall also provide update financial statements and shall be filed as an exhibit to the Offering Statement and be requalified under Rule 252.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds to us from the sale of up to 75,000 Class A Units offered at an offering price of \$1,000 per Units will vary depending upon the total number of Class A Units sold. Regardless of the number of Class A Units sold, we expect to incur Offering expenses estimated at approximately \$129,000 to \$443,000 for legal, accounting, marketing and other costs in connection with this offering. The table below shows the intended net proceeds from this offering, indicating scenarios where we sell various amounts of the Class A Interests. There is no guarantee that we will be successful at selling any of the securities being offered in this Offering. Accordingly, the actual amount of proceeds we will raise in this offering, if any, may differ.

The offering scenarios presented below are for illustrative purposes only and the actual amounts of proceeds, if any, may differ.

	Minimum	25%	50%	75%	100%
Units Sold	1,000	18,750	37,500	56,250	75,000
Gross Proceeds from Investment	\$ 1,000,000	\$ 18,750,000	\$ 37,500,000	\$ 56,250,000	\$ 75,000,000
Offering Expenses ¹	\$ 129,000	\$ 192,000	\$ 276,000	\$ 360,000	\$ 443,000
Selling Commissions & Fees ²	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0
Net Proceeds from Investment	\$ 871,000	\$ 18,558,000	\$ 37,224,000	\$ 55,890,000	\$ 74,557,000
Asset Management Fee ³	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -	\$ -
Acquisitions Fee ⁴	\$ 26,000	\$ 586,000	\$ 1,178,000	\$ 1,769,000	\$ 2,361,000
Acquisitions ⁵	\$ 2,600,000	\$ 58,600,000	\$ 117,800,000	\$ 176,900,000	\$ 236,100,000
Related Acquisition Costs ⁶	\$ 38,500	\$ 839,000	\$ 1,684,000	\$ 2,529,000	\$ 3,374,000
Working Capital ⁷	\$ 37,500	\$ 348,000	\$ 676,000	\$ 1,004,000	\$ 1,333,000
Legal and Accounting ⁸	\$ 102,000	\$ 105,000	\$ 110,000	\$ 115,000	\$ 120,000
Total Use of Proceeds	\$ 1,000,000	\$ 18,750,000	\$ 37,500,000	\$ 56,250,000	\$ 75,000,000

(1) These costs assume the costs related with completing the Form 1-A as well as those costs related to the services of a transfer agent, listing fees, marketing costs, our interim financial statements, and our legal costs. It is expected that the Company will reimburse these expenses to the Manager without interest. The Company expects such fees to be broken out as follows:

	Minimum	25%	50%	75%	100%
Legal Fees	\$ 45,000	\$ 45,000	\$ 45,000	\$ 45,000	\$ 45,000
Accounting Fees	\$ 23,500	\$ 26,000	\$ 31,000	\$ 36,000	\$ 41,000
Organization and Blue Sky Fees	\$ 36,250	\$ 36,250	\$ 36,250	\$ 36,250	\$ 36,250
Transfer Agent Fees	\$ 4,200	\$ 9,550	\$ 19,100	\$ 28,650	\$ 38,200
Other Professional Fees	\$ 3,350	\$ 7,700	\$ 9,650	\$ 11,600	\$ 12,550
Technology Costs	\$ 8,700	\$ 30,000	\$ 60,000	\$ 90,000	\$ 120,000
Marketing	\$ 8,000	\$ 37,500	\$ 75,000	\$ 112,500	\$ 150,000
TOTAL	\$ 129,000	\$ 192,000	\$ 276,000	\$ 360,000	\$ 443,000

Technology fees will be paid to Crowdstreet for the use of their software for the purposes of processing subscriptions and account management. Computershare will act as our transfer agent with an initial set up fee \$1,500. Thereafter, costs will be dependent on the number of investors at \$3.50 per investor. It is intended that much of this will be an operational cost. The Company has estimated that costs for marketing the offering will be less than 1% of the total amount raised.

- (2) The Company does not intend on paying selling commissions or fees. In the event that the Company enters into an agreement with a licensed broker dealer, this Offering and Use of Proceeds table will be amended accordingly.
- (3) During operation of the Company, the Manager or its designated assigns will earn an asset management fee equal to 1% of the total of all Capital Contributions made to the Company by its Members (i.e., paid for the purchase of Class A Interests) until such time as the Company is liquidated. The Asset Management Fee shall accrue monthly, and be paid no more frequently than monthly, at the sole discretion of the Manager. It is anticipated that these costs will be paid from cash generated from operations.
- (4) The Manager will be paid a one percent (1%) Acquisition Fee based on the purchase price of a property (multiplied by the percentage of the Property that the Company is investing in, in the case of a co-investment). The Company has the right to leverage up to 80% of the value of the asset. The Acquisition Fee is based on the total investment in the property, which is assumed to include an average leverage of 72%.
- (5) We plan to primarily invest in multifamily properties but will consider opportunistic commercial real estate assets such as self-storage, warehouse and industrial, office, and retail properties with the proceeds from this Offering.
- (6) We believe acquisition related and closing costs could be between 1% and 3% of the value of the property, with an average of 2%. These costs could include travel to states in which we invest in multifamily properties and commercial properties, research costs, closing costs, and other costs. Our ability to quantify any of the expenses is difficult as they will all depend on size of deal, price, due diligence performed (such as appraisal, environmental, property condition reports), legal and accounting, etc. We expect the related costs to be correlated with the price of the property.

- (7) Costs associated cash reserves for the properties and fund working capital for the next 12 months.
- (8) Costs for accounting and legal fees associated with being a public company for the next 12 months. It is anticipated that these costs will be paid from cash generated from operations.

The Use of Proceeds sets forth how we intend to use the funds under the various percentages of the related offering. All amounts listed are estimates.

The net proceeds will be used for ongoing legal and accounting professional fees (estimated to be between \$102,000 and \$120,000 depending on our money raise and investments for the next 12 months), technology costs associated with the investor portal for the next 12 months, and for the costs associated with acquiring or investing in properties, such as broker price opinions, closing costs, title reports, recording fees, accounting costs and legal fees. We determined estimates for ongoing professional fees based upon consultations with our accountants and lawyers, and operating expenses and due diligence costs based upon the Manager's real estate industry experience.

As of July 31, 2021, the Manager has incurred \$15,350 to the Company for offering expenses and the balance will be paid by the Manager regardless of the number of Units sold. Our Offering expenses are comprised of legal and accounting expenses, SEC and EDGAR filing fees, printing and transfer agent fees. Our Manager will not receive any compensation for their efforts in selling our Class A Interests.

The Manager will pay the offering expenses regardless of the number of Class A Units we sell and will only be reimbursed if the Company raises a minimum of \$1,000,000. If we sell at least 1,000 Class A Units, we believe that we will have sufficient funds to continue our filing obligations as a reporting company for the next 12 months. We intend to use the proceeds of this offering in the manner and in order of priority set forth above. We do not intend to use the proceeds to acquire the assets of or finance the acquisition of other businesses. At present, no material changes are contemplated. Should there be any material changes in the projected use of proceeds in connection with this Offering, we will issue an amended Offering reflecting the new uses.

In all instances the Company will need some amount of working capital to maintain its general existence and comply with its reporting obligations. In addition to changing allocations because of the amount of proceeds received, we may change the use of proceeds because of required changes in our business plan. Investors should understand that we have wide discretion over the use of proceeds. Therefore, management decisions may not be in line with the initial objectives of investors who will have little ability to influence these decisions.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following summary financial data should be read in conjunction with "MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION" and the Financial Statements and Notes thereto, included elsewhere in this Offering Circular. The statement of operations and statement of assets, liabilities and Member's equity data from inception through the period ended July 31, 2021 is derived from the audited financial statements.

		At July 31, 2021
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	15,350
TOTAL LIABILITIES		15,350
TOTAL MEMBER'S EQUITY		-
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY	\$	15,350
	(July) Ju	ception , 22 2021) to ily 31, 2021
Revenues	\$	0
Expenses	\$	0
Net Income (Loss)	\$	0
Earnings per Unit	\$	0

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the notes thereto contained elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

Critical Accounting Policies

Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2) (B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies. We have elected to take advantage of this extended transition period, and thus, our financial statements may not be comparable to those of other reporting companies. Accordingly, until the date we are no longer an "emerging growth company" or affirmatively opt out of the exemption, upon the issuance of a new or revised accounting standard that applies to our financial statements and has a different effective date for public and private companies, we will disclose the date on which adoption is required for non-emerging growth companies and the date on which we will adopt the recently issued accounting standard.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

With the exception of historical matters, the matters discussed herein are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning anticipated trends in revenues and net income, projections concerning operations and available cash flow. Our actual results could differ materially from the results discussed in such forward-looking statements. The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes thereto appearing elsewhere herein.

Background Overview

Cardone REIT I, LLC was formed in the State of Delaware on July 22, 2021. We have no plans to change our business activities or to combine with another business, and we are not aware of any events or circumstances that might cause our plans to change. The Manager of the Company does not have any plans or arrangements to enter into a change of control, business combination or similar transaction or to change management.

The Company's strategy is to invest in multifamily and commercial properties in the Sunbelt but will not limit itself geographically. The Company intends to focus on multifamily, but may also invest in real estate across multiple other classes such as retail properties, self-storage facilities, office buildings, warehouse and industrial properties and mixed-use properties.

The Company will be owned by the Manager and Members and will have a membership which may include, but is not limited to: individuals, individual retirement accounts, entities, trusts, banks and other financial institutions, endowments, and pension funds.

The Company hopes to offer its Members the opportunity to earn 80% of the Distributable Cash generated by the Company (as defined in the Amended Operating Agreement) which shall be distributed to the Class A Members in proportion to the number of Units owned by each Member (pro-rated based on investment date with regards to the first Distribution). Note that our Manager has discretion to pay more than 80% of the Distributable Cash to Class A Members within any given distribution period. If our Manager does this, it may pay less than 80% of Distributable Cash to Class A Members in some later period to restore the 80%/20% split of total Distributable Cash between Class A and Class B Members. However, in no case will the Company have paid more than 20% of its total Distributable Cash to the Class B Members. The Manager, Cardone Capital LLC, will exclusively manage the Company. Our properties will be managed by affiliated third-parties.

We are currently searching for properties and hope to invest in one or more properties soon after raising the Minimum Offering amount, including investing in 10X Las Olas Walk which is currently in the process of being acquired by an affiliate of the Manager. The Company currently intends to invest in 10X Las Olas Walk, but the Company's affiliate may not acquire the property or the Company may otherwise decide not to do so. Our Manager is aggressively searching for properties, and the Manager or its affiliates may "pre-fund" one or more properties, acquiring them using its own funds so as to make that investment available to the Company and any Parallel Funds. See "SUMMARY OF AMENDED OPERATING AGREEMENT.—Parallel Funds, Special Purpose Entities and Co-Investment Opportunities". We hope that by the beginning of winter of 2021, we will have invested in our first property. If the Manager or its affiliates "pre-funds" one or more properties, it may charge the Company investments will depend highly on the availability of properties that meet our investment criteria. As our Manager searches for properties, we intend to expend capital in accordance with our Use of Proceeds. If we raise the minimum amount of \$1,000,000, we will incur expenses related with the operation of the Company and the continuing expenses related to being a reporting company under the requirements of Tier 2, Regulation A. To finish the Form 1-A, we believe we will need a minimum of about \$129,000. How much capital we will need for working capital, marketing expenses and professional fees will depend on how much capital we raise. Our Manager believes that if we only raise the minimum amount, very little will be needed. Our Manager is committed to paying the \$129,000 for the completion of this Form 1-A (without reimbursement) if we are unable to raise the minimum amount of \$1,000,000 through this Offering.

Results of Operations

For the period ended July 31, 2021 (audited)



We generated no revenues for the period ended July 31, 2021. We do not have any current activities. We have generated expenses of \$0 from inception (July 22, 2021) to July 31, 2021.

Total expenses

From inception (July 22, 2021) to July 31, 2021, we have not generated any expenses.

Assets

As of July 31, 2021, we have \$15,350 in deferred offering costs.

Liabilities

As of July 31, 2021, we have \$15,350 in related party advances.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of July 31, 2021, the Company had \$0 in cash and total liabilities of \$15,350. The Company hopes to raise \$75,000,000 in this Offering with a minimum of \$1,000,000 in funds raised. If we are successful at raising the minimum amount of this Offering, we believe that such funds will be sufficient to fund our expenses over the next twelve months, including legal and accounting expenses (which we currently estimate to be \$102,000 to \$120,000), acquisition related costs (which we currently estimate to be \$38,500 to \$3,374,000 depending on the size of our contemplated investments) and providing sufficient working capital (which we estimate to range from \$37,500 to \$1,333,000 depending on how much capital we raise). Although our Manager intends on identifying multifamily and commercial properties in which we will invest our proceeds, there is no guarantee that we will acquire a portion of 10X Las Olas Walk or any other such investments. Acquisitions will depend highly on our funding, the availability of those funds, the availability of multifamily and commercial properties to be invested in. The Company is currently pursuing its investment strategy in multifamily properties. There can be no assurance of the Company's ability to do so or that additional capital will be available to the Company. If so, the Company's investment objective of investing in multifamily properties will be adversely affected and the Company may not be able to pursue an acquisition opportunity if it is unable to finance such investments. While the Company or understandings with any unaffiliated person to obtain funds through bank loans, lines of credit or any other sucre. Since the Company has no such arrangements or plans currently in effect, its inability to raise funds for the above purposes will have a severe negative impact on its ability to remain a viable company.

Related Party Transactions

Since our formation, we have raised capital from our Manager. The Manager has provided cash for Company startup costs of which, \$15,350 has already been recorded as of the date of the financial statements of the Company (July 31, 2021.) This was recorded as a related party advance from the Manager. It is expected that the Manager will be reimbursed for these expenses and other expenses to be incurred in connection with this Offering. The Manager received Class B Interests on August 31, 2021 as founder's interests for no consideration. On October 6, 2021 an Affiliate of the Manager purchased 25 Class A Interests for \$25,000 (on the same terms as Class A Units are being offered pursuant to this Offering Circular) to provide initial capitalization for the Company.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is material to investors.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Employees

Our Manager, Cardone Capital LLC, will be assigning the management responsibilities to an affiliate, Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC (CREA). CREA has one (1) principal and seventeen (17) employees. Currently, Grant Cardone is the principal of our Manager and CREA and devotes a significant portion of his working hours to our Company without a salary.

For more information on our personnel, please see **"MANAGER, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS."** Initially Mr. Cardone will coordinate all of our business operations. Cardone Capital LLC or its affiliate CREA has provided the working capital to cover our initial expenses. We plan to use consultants, attorneys, accountants, and other personnel, as necessary. We believe the use of non-salaried personnel allows us to expend our capital resources as a variable cost as opposed to a fixed cost of operations. In other words, if we have insufficient revenues or cash available, we are in a better position to only utilize those services required to generate revenues as opposed to having salaried employees. Any expenses related to the Offering will be charged to the Company. For example, any costs associated with raising capital such as escrow, transfer, marketing, audit, legal, and technology fees will be borne by the Company. However, those costs associated with overall management of the Company and the management and acquisition of the properties shall be borne by the Manager except those capitalized expenses related to specific properties.



Our Manager is now spending time finding new opportunities, negotiating both the purchase and best financing available. Later it will manage the properties to maximize cash flow and NOI while always seeking opportunities to capture profits through the sale or refinancing of the assets. Staff is in place to handle the general business affairs of our Company such as legal, tax, and accounting issues, including review of materials presented to our auditors, working with our counsel in preparation of filing our Form 1-A, developing our business plan and researching investment opportunities and possible investments in multifamily property and commercial real estate. Upon the successful capital raise, the principal and employees of CREA will devote additional working hours to Cardone REIT I, LLC.

INVESTMENT POLICIES OF COMPANY

In all types of investment, our policies may be changed by our Manager without a vote by Members.

We will seek out multifamily properties for investment across the Sunbelt and may find opportunities in other locations as markets shift and opportunities present themselves. We seek assets that will be attractive to institutions and other real estate investors as we exit the properties to maximize returns. We expect 100% of our portfolio will consist of real estate properties.

We intend to evaluate each property in the following manner:

- 1. Obtain property information on its condition, estimated costs for rehabilitation, if any, and feasibility of possible improvements;
- 2. Using historical rental rates and vacancy rates;
- 3. Obtain similar available information of comparable properties in the area including recent sales prices; analyzing rental values, vacancy rates and operating expenses; review crime statistics for the area; review school information; review economic data; review any other relevant market information; and
- 4. Using the above information, perform analysis with hypothetical scenarios to determine expected profit.
- 5. Due to the expected size of the properties we intend to acquire, we expect that more than 25% of Company assets may be invested into a single real estate asset upon full capitalization of the Company.

g)

Further, potential investors should be advised:

- a) We do not intend to issue senior securities.
- b) We will borrow money collateralized by our properties with up to an 80% value of our real estate assets.
- c) We have no intention of initiating personal loans to other persons.
- d) We have no intention of investing in the securities of other issuers for the purpose of exercising control.
- e) We have no intention to underwrite securities of other issuers.
- f) We may engage in the purchase and sale (or turnover) of investments that are not real estate related at some time in the future.
 - We may offer our securities in exchange for property, in which case the Members who contributed said property will receive no more than one Unit for every \$1,000 of the fair market value of the property so contributed.
- h) We intend to make annual or other reports to security holders including 1-Ks, 1-SAs, 1-Us, and exit reports on Form 1-Z as deemed necessary. Such reports will include the required financial statements.

As market conditions change, our policies for both investments and borrowing will be evaluated and updated as necessary to safeguard Member equity and increase Member returns. We will update our Members via 1-Us within a few business days if there are any changes in our investment policy or our borrowing policies.

POLICIES WITH RESPECT TO CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Our policy with respect to our Manager concerning certain transactions is as follows:

We do not intend on issuing senior securities but may at some time in the future. We have no interest, currently, in underwriting securities of others or purchasing securities or assets other than real property assets and securities. We may encumber our properties that we acquire with bank financing, but we intend that such financing will generally not exceed 80% of the value of the property.

Conflicts of Interest

Our Manager and its affiliates experience conflicts of interest in connection with the management of our business. Some of the material conflicts that our Manager and its affiliates face include the following:



- 1. Our Manager manages other investment opportunities and funds outside of the Company including those that have similar investment objectives as the Company.
- 2. Our Manager will be entitled to higher acquisition fees and asset management fees if it purchases investments at higher purchase prices, regardless of the quality or performance of the investment. Additionally, in the case of acquisitions of investments from other entities, the Manager or its affiliates may also be entitled to disposition fees in connection with services for the seller;
- 3. The Manager or its affiliates may "pre-fund" a property or otherwise loan money to the Company, with any such loan paying market rate terms which the Manager believes to be no less favorable to the Company than what would be available from third parties. The Manager also may enlist the services of one or more affiliated entities in order to manage our assets. The compensation for those affiliated entities will be at market rates. Market rates are determined by the Manager based on industry standards and expectations of what the Manager would be able to negotiate with a third-party on an arm's length basis; however, the terms will be established by the Manager and not as a result of arm's length negotiations.
- 4. The terms of our Amended Operating Agreement (including the Manager's rights and obligations and the compensation payable to our Manager and its affiliates) were not negotiated at arm's length.
- 5. Our Members may not remove our Manager.

Allocation of Investment Opportunities

We rely on our Manager's Members who act on behalf of our Manager to:

- 1. Identify suitable investments. Our other funds and entities also rely on these same key real estate professionals. Our Manager has in the past, and expects to continue in the future, to offer other investment opportunities including offerings that acquire or invest in multifamily real estate, commercial real estate or real estate equity investments, and other select real estate related assets. Each such offering is referred to as a "Project."
- These additional Projects may have investment criteria that compete with us. If a sale, financing, investment or other business opportunity would be suitable for more than one Project, our Manager will allocate it using its business judgment. Any allocation of this type may involve the consideration of a number of factors that our Manager determines to be relevant. The factors that our Manager's real estate professionals could consider when determining the entity for which an investment opportunity would be the most suitable include the following:
 - □ the investment objectives and criteria of our Manager and other entities;

- □ the cash requirements of our Manager and other entities;
- L the effect of the investment on the diversification of our Manager's and other entities' portfolio by type of investment, and risk of investment;
- \Box the policy of our Manager and other entities relating to leverage;
- \Box the anticipated cash flow of the asset to be acquired;
- \Box the income tax effects of the purchase on our Manager or the other entities;
- \Box the size of the investment; and
- $\hfill\square$ the amount of funds available to our Manager or the other entities.
- 3. If a subsequent event or development causes any investment, in the opinion of our Manager's real estate professionals, to be more appropriate for another entity, they may offer the investment to such entity.
- 4. Except under any policies that may be adopted by our Manager, which policies are designed to minimize conflicts among the Projects and other investment opportunities, no Project has any duty, responsibility or obligation to refrain from:
 - engaging in the same or similar activities or lines of business as any Project;
 - doing business with any potential or actual tenant, lender, purchaser, supplier, customer or competitor of any Project;
 - engaging in, or refraining from, any other activities whatsoever relating to any of the potential or actual tenants, lenders, purchasers, suppliers or customers of any Project;
 - $\hfill\square$ establishing material commercial relationships with another Project; or
 - making operational and financial decisions that could be considered to be detrimental to another Project.

In addition, any decisions by our Manager to renew, extend, modify or terminate an agreement or arrangement, or enter into similar agreements or arrangements in the future, may benefit one Project more than another or limit or impair the ability of any Project to pursue business opportunities. In addition, third parties may require as a condition to their arrangements or agreements with or related to any one particular Project that such arrangements or agreements include or not include another Project, as the case may be. Any of these decisions may benefit one Project more than another.

Receipt of Fees and Other Compensation by our Manager and its Affiliates

Our Manager and its affiliates will receive substantial fees from us, which will not be negotiated at arm's length. These fees could influence our Manager's advice to us as well as the judgment of affiliates of our Manager. Among other matters, these compensation arrangements could affect their judgment with respect to:



- 🗆 the continuation, renewal or enforcement of provisions in our Amended Operating Agreement involving our Manager and its affiliates;
- public offerings of equity by us, which will likely entitle our Manager to increased acquisition fees, asset management fees and other fees;
 acquisitions of investments at higher purchase prices, which would entitle our Manager to higher acquisition fees and asset management fees
- regardless of the quality or performance of the investment and, in the case of acquisitions of investments from other entities, might also entitle our Manager or its affiliates or assigns to disposition fees in connection with services for the seller;
- borrowings up to or in excess of our stated borrowing policy to acquire, which borrowings will increase asset management fees payable by us to our Manager;
- whether and when we seek to sell our Company or its assets; and
- u whether and when we merge or consolidate our assets with other companies, including companies affiliated with our Manager.

No Independent Underwriter

As we are conducting this offering without the aid of an independent underwriter, you will not have the benefit of an independent due diligence review and investigation of the type normally performed by an independent underwriter in connection with the offering of securities. See **"Plan of Distribution."**

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We currently do not have any real properties. We do not lease or own any real property. Our Manager's website may be found at www.cardonecapital.com. We do not pay rent for our corporate headquarters which is leased by an affiliate of the Manager. We believe that this space will be sufficient for the long term.

OVERVIEW

Cardone REIT I, LLC is an emerging growth company which was formed on July 22, 2021. We have commenced only limited operations, exclusively focused on organizational matters in connection with this offering. Our Manager is currently looking for properties into which we may invest after we raise capital. We intend on generating revenues from rents to tenants for multifamily, and, in certain circumstances, office, self-storage, warehouse and industrial properties which the Company acquires.

We have no plans to change our business activities or to combine with another business, and we are not aware of any events or circumstances that might cause our plans to change. The Company does not have any plans or arrangements to enter into a change of control, business combination or similar transaction or to change management.

We are offering the Interests herein on a "minimum/maximum" basis. The Company will raise a minimum of \$1,000,000 prior to using proceeds from this Offering to invest in properties in the United States with a specific focus on the Sunbelt. We expect to use the net proceeds from this Offering to pay for our operating costs in connection with this Offering, including marketing costs and on-going legal and accounting fees, and to finance costs associated with acquiring and investing in properties, such as broker price opinions, title reports, recording fees, accounting costs and legal fees.

Similar Fund Objectives as Cardone Equity Fund V, LLC and Cardone Equity Fund VI, LLC

We anticipate that REIT I will raise equity and invest in properties similar to the strategy used for CEF V and CEF VI. However, the length of time to raise equity and the actual property location, class, size, etc. will vary from CEF V and CEF VI.

CEF V was fully subscribed with approximately \$50,000,000 in investments in September 2019. CEF VI stopped accepting new investors in June 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic after raising \$29,463,000. Both CEF V and CEF VI purchased the properties each intends to hold. Since the Manager has accounted for scalability, the Company does not believe that the Company will suffer from the availability of Manager resources. For the most up to date information regarding CEF V and CEF VI, please consult its latest reports at sec.gov.

Cardone Equity Fund V, LLC (CEF V)

On December 12, 2018, the CEF V began receiving subscriptions from investors, and effective January 1, 2019 accepted 6,982.421 Class A Units and immediately purchased its first investment. Less than 10-months later CEF V closed its \$50 million fund to investors and completed its portfolio with investments in five multifamily garden-style properties located in Florida and Texas. The following summarizes property portfolio information:

Property	Location	Year Built	Class	Ownership Interest	# of Units
10X Living Delray	Delray Beach, FL	2018	А	39.02%	346
Stella at Riverstone	Sugar Land, TX	2018	А	30.82%	351
10X Living at Naples	Naples, FL	1990	B+	36.87%	456
10X Living at Sawgrass	Sunrise, FL	2013	А	24.27%	501
10X Living at Breakfast Point	Panama City Beach, FL	2007	А	22.21%	360
Total				30.58%	2,014



These properties have excellent locations with major economic growth drivers and demographics and are located near major retail centers, golf courses, community attractions, and major employers. With nearly 1,000 people migrating to Florida per day, we anticipate the demand for these locations to continue. The properties have attractive floor plans and superb amenities such as, resort style pools and clubhouses, outdoor grill and entertainment facilities, fitness centers, and dog parks.

CEF V co-invested with two other related parties: Grant Cardone, the Company's Manager, and CEF IV. The investment in all five properties is as follows:

Entity	 Equity Investment	Weighted Average Percentage
CEF IV	\$ 105,774,244	65.14%
CEF V	\$ 49,645,757	30.58%
Grant Cardone	\$ 6,955,000	4.28%
Total	\$ 162,375,000	100.00%

Cardone Equity Fund VI, LLC (CEF VI)

Cardone Equity Fund VI invested in its first luxury garden apartment development located in Panama City Beach, FL in October 2019 and closed the fund after purchasing the last of four properties on June 25, 2020. CEF VI raised a total of \$29,463,000, and the Manager closed CEF VI at that time because of the potential impact of COVID-19. The following summarizes property portfolio information:

Property	Location	Year Built	Class	# of Units
10X Living at Panama City Beach	Panama City Beach, FL	2018	А	288
10X Living at Columbia Town Center	Columbia. MD	2001	А	531
10X Living at Retreat at Panama City Beach	Panama City Beach, FL	2008	А	360
Addison Place	Naples, FL	2019	А	294
Total				1,473

These properties have excellent locations with major economic growth drivers and demographics and are located near major retail centers, golf courses, community attractions, and major employers. With nearly 1,000 people migrating to Florida per day, we anticipate the demand for these locations to continue. The properties have attractive floor plans and superb amenities such as, resort style pools and clubhouses, outdoor grill and entertainment facilities, fitness centers, and dog parks.



CEF VI co-invested with two other related parties: Grant Cardone, the Company's Manager, and CEF VIII. The investment in all five properties is as follows:

Entity	 Equity Investment	Weighted Average Percentage	
CEF VIII	\$ 78,861,351		70.96%
CEF VI	\$ 29,048,649		26.13%
Grant Cardone	\$ 3,240,000		2.91%
Total	\$ 111,150,000		100.00%

Special Purpose Entities

Throughout the Offering Circular, in reference to "acquisitions," the Company intends to acquire interests in "special purpose entities," also known as "SPEs." The SPEs will hold title to property acquisitions. The Company, in turn, will invest or co-invest in the SPEs; see "SUMMARY OF COMPANY AMENDED OPERATING AGREEMENT.—Parallel Funds, Special Purpose Entities and Co-Investment Opportunities".

Objectives

The Company has definite objectives to fulfill its strategy. These include:

- 🛛 Further penetrate the market of providing real estate opportunities for individuals and/or business entities interested in achieving financial success
- by taking advantage of real estate investment opportunities in the Sunbelt (however, the Company will not limit itself geographically); and
- \Box Increasing profits as allowed by market conditions.

The Company will look to invest in multifamily properties in growth areas for the best possible price, thereby giving the Company an instant competitive advantage. A potential investor should note that the above criteria is subject to change according to market conditions.

Investments may be individual or multiple properties and will generally consist of Class A & B assets with 200 to 500 units.

Generally, the Company will seek opportunities which meet the following criteria:

Type of Investment	Income
Cash on Cash Return at Pro-Forma	4% - 6%
Leverage	60% - 80%
Existing Occupancy	85% - 95%
Capital Improvement	Minimal

Investment Strategy

The Company is seeking to invest in income-producing real estate assets throughout the United States, specifically in the Sunbelt. Initially, the Company intends to target multifamily properties, but may invest in other property types that meet its investment objectives.

The Company may invest in income producing properties with positive cash flow, or in value-add properties that need significant repositioning or capital investments and may not produce positive cash flow immediately. The Company may also invest in additional properties or make other real estate investments in other property types including office, retail and industrial properties.

We believe that there is an opportunity to create attractive total returns by employing a strategy of investing in properties which are well-selected, wellmanaged and disposed of at an optimal time. Our principal targeted assets are investments in properties that present opportunities for superior returns, that have quality construction and are in desirable locations which can attract quality tenants. These types of investments are, or relate to, properties generally located in central business districts or suburban markets of primary and secondary metropolitan cities, primarily located in the Sunbelt.

To this end, the Company's overall strategy is to:

- Identify Class A and Class B multifamily apartment communities in quality locations in the Company's target markets, where the Company can add significant value through third-party hands-on management;
- 2) Invest in those communities at prices where there is sufficient upside potential to obtain attractive returns over the long term;
- 3) Make physical alterations and other improvements to those communities where the Company can achieve significant benefit; and
- 4) Through third-party management, increase the rents to increase the overall value of the property.

Due Diligence & Financing

When the Manager identifies a location or a potential property, it will secure the necessary financing, sign a contract and place an escrow deposit to be held with the designated escrow agent. The Manager will take the time necessary to complete all its due diligence on the property on behalf of the Company, including a site inspection and reviewing all leases, income and expenses, of the property. After the due diligence process has been completed, the Manager will determine whether the property is suitable or not. If the property is not suitable, the Manager will cancel the contract and look for the next opportunity.

Refinancing

During the initial 12-36 months of owning and managing the property, the Company will analyze the market conditions in the area where the property is located and monitor current interest rates. The Company will then decide whether the property should be maintained, refinanced, restructured (e.g., condominium conversion), or sold (disposition).

Real Estate Investment Life Cycle

There are four phases to the real estate life cycle that are vital to understanding the entry and exit points for a property.^[1]

¹ Much of the following was derived from "Multifamily is War: Strategy and Tactics needed to make it in real estate." Sidoti, Jillian

1. Recovery

In this phase, rental growth remains dormant and there is little sight of new construction. This is a period of growth and buyers who purchase during this time must have the mental and economic fortitude to wait for that growth to happen. During a recovery phase, the opportunity to purchase properties that are considered "distressed" – whether physically or financially – are generally more plentiful providing for more upside, however, cash flow may be somewhat stagnant.

2. Expansion

During a period of expansion, there is growth in the job market and supply for properties is low while demand is high. It is during this time that construction starts are at highs. According to the Corporate Finance Institute, it is estimated that expansions last between four and five years.² Indicators between recession and expansion are interest rates, unemployment claims, corporate profits, and capital expenditures.

Metric	Expansion	Recession
Interest Rates	Low to Increase	High to Decrease
Unemployment Claims	Low	High
Corporate Profits	High	Low
Capital Expenditures	Increase	Decrease

3. Hyper Supply

After an expansion phase where growth is high, the economy may experience a period of hyper supply. The frenzy to build more units for any purpose (commercial or residential) will eventually catch up with demand. At this time, there will be a period of excess inventory and demand will start to recede. This, like a recovery phase, is a time of patience. Purchasing properties during this phase will require an investor to hold for the long-term in order to realize gains as it is likely that the investor will need to cycle through all the phases of the economic cycle to realize maximum returns. This, most likely, will take several years.

4. Recession

The final phase of the economic cycle is recession. A recession is defined as a significant decline in economic activity. Such a phase could last only months, but could last years (like the Great Recession of 2008). During this phase, it is likely that the economy will experience negative gross domestic product, unemployment is high, and companies pull back on capital expenditures. During this time, it is likely to see a halt in the construction of new homes, including multifamily.

² https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/knowledge/economics/economic-expansion/

Market Cycle Quadrants



In the year 2021, where are we now?

COVID-19 has made it a challenge to determine where the economy is headed. At the peak of COVID-19, the country saw unemployment as high as 14.8% in April of 2020.³ In response to the increase in unemployment and also the desire to keep movement to a minimum during the pandemic, the CDC declared an eviction moratorium throughout the country. State governments often derived their own eviction moratoriums based on CDC guidelines which often expanded moratorium deadlines. The government also stimulated economic recovery through grants, loans, and stimulus payments to citizens, thus increasing the money supply.⁴

³ "Congreassional Research Service" https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R46554.pdf

⁴ https://www.nolo.com/evictions-ban

All of these measures seemed to work in the manner that they intended as the unemployment rate has decreased to 5.4%, and July 2021 saw the

most hired workers in a year.⁵ Home prices have increased by 24% year over year nationwide in May 2021 while Freddie Mac predicts that vacancy rates for multifamily nationwide will hit a low of 5%.^{6 7}

Although these metrics create a positive outlook for the future of multifamily, we recognize that COVID-19 was a Black Swan event that could still have unknown consequences:

- 1. The eviction moratorium was recently lifted which will cause an increase in evictions and may cause an increase in vacancy rates;
- 2. Unemployment benefits for many individuals will be ending soon which may result in an increase of job seekers;
- 3. Interest rates could increase as a means to hedge inflation which could lead to an overall recession.

Management is aware of these risks, and thus looks to purchase in markets where migration patterns were favorable prior to and after the pandemic. In choosing such markets, the Manager believes that it can purchase worthy assets in markets that are realizing increases in rental rates and population.

Outlook and Opportunity

The consensus among experts is that the multifamily market will continue to grow with particular strength in the Midwest and Southeast regions.

According to the CBRE's "2021 US Real Estate Market Outlook for Multifamily," COVID in 2020 represented a recession⁸, meaning that the economy is in a recovery phase. According to the report, full recovery will not happen until 2022, meaning there is plenty of opportunity to profit in the multifamily space without fear of being in the wrong phase of the market cycle.

⁵ "U.S. Economy Added 943,000 Jobs in July, Unemployment Rate Fell to 5.4%" Wall Street Journal, August 6, 2021

⁶"U.S. Existing-Home Prices Hit Record High in May." https://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-existing-home-prices-hit-record-high-in-may-11624371222, June 22, 2021 ⁷"Freddie Mac Multifamily Midyear Outlook Projects Return to Pre-Pandemic Trends" https://www.globenewswire.com/news-

release/2021/07/26/2268764/0/en/Freddie-Mac-Multifamily-Midyear-Outlook-Projects-Return-to-Pre-Pandemic-Trends.html, July 26, 2021

⁸https://www.cbre.us/research-and-reports/2021-US-Real-Estate-Market-Outlook-Multifamily

CBRE'S PREDICTIONS REGARDING A REBOUND IN MULTIFAMILY INVESTMENT VOLUME OF 33% GROWTH BETWEEN 2020 AND 2021:



Marcus and Millichap notes that tailwinds should support a promising outlook for multifamily investment.⁹ It contends COVID-19 impacted certain multifamily markets more than others, particularly the densely populated areas of the northeast and west coast, but the interminable need for housing along with an acceleration of pre-pandemic trends provide a favorable backdrop for multifamily growth, particularly in the Sunbelt. Positive migration, household formation and employment trends favor rent growth in the Sunbelt versus traditional "gateway" cities such as New York, Boston and Chicago.

9"US Commercial Real Estate Investment Outlook - Multifamily" Marcus and Millichap, March 2021.



Acquisition of Properties

The Company will invest in multifamily investment properties located in the United States. Specifically, the Manager will search for multifamily real estate in stable and growth markets across the Sunbelt, but will not limit itself geographically. Attractive market characteristics include job and household formation growth resulting in rising occupancy levels and rising rents. Numerous other factors contribute to the market determination process including but not limited to population growth, valuation trends, occupancy trends, demographic composition, economic conditions, and supply trends.

The Manager and/or its affiliates intends to employ a rigorous underwriting process including proper due diligence, market valuation studies, and total return analyses on behalf of the Company. The Company may invest in properties with strong cash flow, which are stable with opportunities to improve property value. The Company may also invest in properties that need significant repositioning or capital investments, known as value-add, and, thus, may not produce positive cash flow immediately. In either case, the Company intends to improve the net operating income of each investment by improving revenue and operating margins, thereby raising property value. In this way, the Company effectively improves performance by assuring that each individual investment has multiple forces working to augment cash flow and property value.

Identifying Properties for Investment

The Manager will use its extensive network and highly specialized criteria for identifying, quantifying, and qualifying investment opportunities.

The Manager intends to saturate its extensive relationships and network in each identified market to identify the very best opportunities. The Manager has established and maintained a comprehensive network of developers, banks, brokers, and other financial institutions which allow a strong market presence in target markets and robust market intelligence, strengthening our ability to identify properties within the Company's criteria, often before entering into a market. This local knowledge and network of professionals with deep knowledge of our target asset classes, we feel, gives the Company a competitive and strategic advantage.

The Manager's goal is to identify the right property in the right market and potentially acquire it before it even hits the general market. To ensure that the time it takes us to raise capital does not unduly limit our opportunities, our Manager or its affiliates may acquire and/or "pre-fund" one or more suitable properties using its own funds. If our Manager or its affiliate acquires and/or "pre-funds" a property that it later sells to the Company (or sells a portion of to the Company) once capital is available, it may charge the Company interest at market rate during the time it holds the property.

Post-Purchase Strategies

The Company intends to hold properties with the intention of increasing values prior to sale of the property. The Company intends to use third-party management to cure inefficiencies in the management, cure deferred maintenance, and deploy strategic capital upgrades aimed at increasing income and enhancing investor returns. The increase in cashflow should result in an increase in value so that the Company may sell or refinance the property for a profit at its proposed exit time.

Due Diligence & Financing

When the Manager identifies a location or a potential property, it will secure the necessary financing, sign a contract and place an escrow deposit to be held with the designated escrow agent. The Manager will take the time necessary to complete all its due diligence on the property on behalf of the Company, including a site inspection and reviewing all leases, income and expenses, of the property. After the due diligence process has been completed, the Manager will determine whether the property is suitable or not.

If the property is not suitable, the Company will cancel the contract and look for the next opportunity. If the property is suitable, it will proceed to close, typically within 45 to 60 days.

Joint Venture Partners

The Company may acquire properties or other real estate related investments from, or invest, co-invest, joint venture, or participate with, affiliates of our Manager or other real estate developers and investors, as determined by the Manager in its sole discretion. The purchase price of any property or real estate related investment acquired from or sold to an affiliated party will be based upon the fair market value of the asset established by a third-party appraisal or fairness opinion that is dated within the last 120 days prior to the transaction.

The Manager has relationships with real estate entrepreneurs ("sponsors") with whom it may, in some limited circumstances, seek to co-invest, joint venture or otherwise participate in certain investments that either the Company identifies, or the sponsor identifies. In the event of such co-investments or participation, including transactions with affiliates, the Manager will seek to secure such investments on behalf of the Company so that it is within the investment and return goals of the Company.

However, in some instances, these sponsors may require a right to receive a priority or pari-passu of return. In such event, the Manager will have the discretion to decide if the projected returns to the Company, after risk adjusting for such priority, warrant proceeding with the investment.

When and if the Manager utilizes its relationships with such sponsors, separate promote structures may be established between the Manager and the co-investor or participant, which may directly benefit the Manager or an affiliate of the Manager, separate from any compensation the Manager may earn as Manager of the Company. Any separate benefit shall be paid directly to the Manager by the co-investors and participants, and not from Company funds or its Manager.

In some circumstances, the Manager may elect to co-invest with a third-party that the Manager also controls or has some control. The Company will take the same approach with such a third-party as if entering into the transaction with a sponsor as discussed above.

We expect to use the net proceeds from this offering for ongoing legal, accounting, and professional fees, and working capital and to finance costs associated with acquiring and investing in commercial real estate, such as market appraisals, title and recording fees, broker fees, if any, legal fees and closing costs which, in the aggregate, typically amount to 1% to 3% of the purchase price of the property acquired, with an average of 2%. However, we currently have no real estate acquisitions contemplated. Accordingly, it is difficult to estimate how much will be required in the next 12 months to implement our business plan.

Financing Strategy

Once the proceeds of this Offering have been fully invested, the Company expects our debt financing will be in the range of approximately 60% to 80% of the aggregate value of real estate investments and other assets. Financing for acquisitions and investments may be obtained at the time an asset is acquired or an investment is made or at such later time as the management determines to be appropriate.

In addition, debt financing may be used from time to time for property improvements, lease inducements, tenant improvements and other working capital needs, including the payment of distributions. The Company intends to limit borrowing to no more than 80% of the value of Company assets. However, the amount of debt placed on an individual property or related to a particular investment, including our pro rata share of the amount of debt incurred by an individual entity in which the Company invests, may be less than 60% or more than 80% of the value of such property/investment or the value of the assets owned by such entity, depending on market conditions and other factors.

Exit Strategies

The Manager intends to operate the Company for about ten (10) years. Potential investors should note that the Amended Operating Agreement does not compel the Manager to dispose of all the properties by year ten, and thus, there is a risk that an investor may remain in the Company indefinitely, although that is not the intention of the Manager as stated herein. The Manager may employ multiple exit strategies including, but not limited to:

1. Sale of Properties. If the market allows for a successful sale of the properties to third parties or to affiliates of the Manager so that the Members may realize appreciation, the Company will look to sell all of the properties owned by the Company to such third-party or affiliates of the Manager.

2. Refinance the Properties and hold. The Manager expects the properties owned by the Company will have leverage not to exceed a 80% loanto-value ("LTV") ratio. If the then-appraised values of the properties show all Members may receive: a) their return of capital, and b) realized appreciation on the properties, the Company may elect to refinance the properties and return capital and any remaining appreciation.

3. Sale to a Public Real Estate Investment Trust. The Manager may find that the properties are attractive purchases for certain public Real Estate Investment Trusts. The Manager may elect to a) sell the properties outright to the individual trust; or b) sell the properties to the real estate investment trust in exchange for equity in the trust (stock) and cash (depending on the appreciation value. Note: if the Members were to receive stock of the purchaser real estate investment trust in exchange for their Interests, the Members may be able to sell their Interests on the public exchange of which the public real estate investment trust is traded, so long as it is traded.



4. Bulk Sale to an Institution. The Company may find an institution is interested in purchasing all of the Company's properties. The Manager may elect to take such an option, even at a discount, to ensure that all properties are sold in a timely fashion and so long as it is in the best interest of the Company.

The Company will make a decision regarding the appropriate exit strategy at the time and in accordance with market conditions.

Geographic Scope

The Company will not limit itself geographically, however it intends to invest initially in the Sunbelt. The Manager will search for multifamily and commercial properties that the Company may invest in at an attractive price. The Company may also invest in properties where it believes that the property represents long-term or strategic value. The Company believes it can successfully identify such potential properties based upon the depth and the breadth of the industry experience, contacts and industry knowledge of the Company's Manager. See "MANAGER, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS" for a discussion of the Manager's real estate experience.

Milestones

We hope to reach the following milestones in the next 12 months:

- October 2021 Complete our Form 1-A qualification statement; our Manager will search for properties and, if it finds one or more suitable properties, may "pre-fund" one or more such properties such that the Company may invest in them once sufficient capital is available.
- November 2021 Begin fundraising; our Manager will continue searching for properties and, if it finds one or more suitable properties, may "prefund" one or more such properties such that the Company may invest in them once sufficient capital is available.
- November 2021 Reach minimum raise requirement of \$1,000,000; our Manager will continue searching for properties and, if it finds one or more suitable properties, may "pre-fund" one or more such properties such that the Company may invest in them once sufficient capital is available.

- December 2021 Invest in first property; our Manager will continue searching for suitable properties and taking steps necessary to make those investments available to the Company.
- Spring 2022 to Summer 2022 continue to fund raise, invest in additional properties; our Manager will continue searching for suitable properties and taking steps necessary to make those investments available to the Company.
- □ October 31, 2022 be fully funded and be fully invested.

Investments in properties will depend highly on our funds, the availability of those funds, availability of assets that meet or investment criteria and the size of the assets to be acquired.

Competition

We will face competition from other owners, investors and developers that are looking to acquire similar properties and who may implement or are already implementing a similar business plan to ours. Further, we may be at a disadvantage to our competition who may have greater capital resources than we do, specifically cash. Those competitors that are able to purchase properties without debt financing and pay the full purchase price of a property in cash may be able to purchase properties faster or will be able to negotiate better purchasing terms.

Currently Contemplated Co-Investment with Affiliates - 10X Las Olas Walk

As of October 29, 2021, an affiliate of the Manager is under contract to purchase 10X Las Olas Walk, a 456-unit 8-story class-AAA midrise multifamily community in downtown Fort Lauderdale, Florida for a purchase price of approximately \$230 million, not including fees. The Manager's affiliate will obtain a commercial loan to finance the property and advance the remainder of the purchase price. Assuming 10X Las Olas Walk is acquired by the Manager's affiliate and the Company raises sufficient capital, the Manager expects that the Company and Cardone Equity Fund XVI, LLC (another fund managed by the Manager) will each co-invest in the property, possibly alongside other affiliates of the Manager, in percentages which have not yet been determined. The Company will pay an acquisition fee and may pay other applicable fees to the Manager and its affiliates, as described in the Amended Operating Agreement and as set forth below in **CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS**, including but not limited to simple annualized interest at market rate on any money advanced on the Company's behalf in connection with this transaction.

Note that this transaction is still subject to various contingencies and may not be consummated or may be consummated on materially different terms. Even if 10X Las Olas Walk is acquired by the Manager's affiliate, the Company may not invest in this property. The Manager is not representing that 10X Las Olas Walk will be one of the Properties invested in by the Company, or that other Properties which the fund invests in will be comparable to 10X Las Olas Walk or acquired on similar terms. Additional information concerning 10X Las Olas Walk will be posted at www.cardonecapital.com as the acquisition process continues.

TAX TREATMENT OF COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

We intend to elect to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, commencing with the taxable year ending December 31, 2021. Provided that the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company generally will be allowed to deduct dividends paid to its Members, and, as a result, the Company generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on that portion of our ordinary income and net capital gain that it currently distributes to its Members. This treatment substantially eliminates the "double taxation" at the corporate and Member levels that result from investments in corporations. Generally, income generated by a REIT is taxed only at the Member level, upon a distribution of divides by the REIT. We expect to continue to make distributions to Company Members on a regular basis as necessary to avoid material U.S. federal income tax and to comply with the REIT requirements.

Assuming the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company will be subject to U.S. Federal income taxation as follows:

 We will be taxed at regular U.S. federal corporate rates on any undistributed income, including undistributed cashless income such as accrued but unpaid interest.



- We may be subject to the "alternative minimum tax" on our items of tax preference, if any.
- If we have net income from "prohibited transactions," which are, in general, sales or other dispositions of property held primarily for sale in the ordinary course of business, other than foreclosure property, such income will be subject to a 100% tax. See "—Prohibited Transactions" and "— Foreclosure Property" below.
- If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or from certain leasehold terminations as "foreclosure property," we may thereby avoid (1) the 100% tax on gain from a resale of that property (if the sale would otherwise constitute a prohibited transaction) and (2) treating any income from such property as non-qualifying for purposes of the REIT gross income tests discussed below, provided however, that the gain from the sale of the property or net income from the operation of the property that would not otherwise qualify for the 75% income test but for the foreclosure property election will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax at the highest applicable rate (currently 35%).
- If we fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, but nonetheless maintain our qualification as a REIT because other requirements are met, we will be subject to a 100% tax on an amount equal to (1) the greater of (A) the amount by which we fail the 75% gross income test or (B) the amount by which we fail the 95% gross income test, as the case may be, multiplied by (2) a fraction intended to reflect profitability.
- If we fail to satisfy any of the REIT asset tests, as described below, other than a failure of the 5% or 10% REIT asset tests that do not exceed a statutory *de minimis* amount as described more fully below, but our failure is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect and we nonetheless maintain our REIT qualification because of specified cure provisions, we will be required to pay a tax equal to the greater of \$50,000 or the highest corporate tax rate (currently 21%) of the net income generated by the non-qualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy the asset tests.
- If we fail to satisfy any provision of the Code that would result in our failure to qualify as a REIT (other than a gross income or asset test requirement) and the violation is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect, we may retain our REIT qualification but we will be required to pay a penalty of \$50,000 for each such failure.
- If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (1) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (2) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year and (3) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods (or the required distribution), we will be subject to a 4% excise tax on the excess of the required distribution over the sum of (A) the amounts actually distributed (taking into account excess distributions from prior years), plus (B) retained amounts on which income tax is paid at the corporate level.

- We may be required to pay monetary penalties to the IRS in certain circumstances, including if we fail to meet record-keeping requirements intended to monitor our compliance with rules relating to the composition of our Members, as described below in "—**Requirements for Qualification as a REIT**."
- We may fail to qualify for the Dividends Paid deduction as a result of operating the Company in its intended manner.
- The Company's income may be recharacterized by IRS rules based on holding period of partnerships or underlying investments of partnership owned by the Company as a result of "look-through" rules.
- A 100% excise tax may be imposed on some items of income and expense that are directly or constructively paid between us and any taxable REIT subsidiary, ("TRS"), and any other TRSs we may own if and to the extent that the IRS successfully adjusts the reported amounts of these items because the reported amounts were not consistent with arm's length amounts.
- If we acquire appreciated assets from a corporation that is not a REIT in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in our hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the non-REIT corporation, we may be subject to tax on such appreciation at the highest corporate income tax rate then applicable if we subsequently recognize gain on a disposition of any such assets during the 10-year period following their acquisition from the non-REIT corporation.
- We may elect to retain and pay U.S. federal income tax on our net long-term capital gain. In that case, a Member would include its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain in its income (to the extent we make a timely designation of such gain to the Member), would be deemed to have paid the tax that it paid on such gain, and would be allowed a credit for its proportionate share of the tax deemed to have been paid, and an adjustment would be made to increase the Member's basis in our Interests.
- We may own subsidiaries that will elect to be treated as TRSs and we may hold investments through such TRSs, the earnings of which will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax.

In addition, we may be subject to a variety of taxes other than U.S. federal income tax, including state, local, and non-U.S. income, franchise property and other taxes.

Requirements for Qualification as a REIT

The Code defines a REIT as a corporation, trust or association:

- (1) that is managed by one or more trustees or directors;
- (2) the beneficial ownership of which is evidenced by transferable shares or by transferable certificates of beneficial interest;
- (3) that would be taxable as a domestic corporation but for the special Code provisions applicable to REITs;
- (4) that is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to specific provisions of the Code;
- (5) the beneficial ownership of which is held by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months, or during a proportionate part of a taxable year of less than 12 months;
- (6) in which, during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% in value of the outstanding stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer "individuals" as defined in the Code to include specified entities (the "5/50 Test");
- (7) that makes an election to be a REIT for the current taxable year or has made such an election for a previous taxable year that has not been terminated or revoked;
- (8) that has no earnings and profits from any non-REIT taxable year at the close of any taxable year;
- (9) that uses the calendar year for U.S. federal income tax purposes; and
- (10) that meets other tests described below, including with respect to the nature of its income and assets and the amount of its distributions.

For the purposes of the first requirement, "directors" generally means persons treated as directors under the Investment Company Act, which we believe includes our Manager. Our Interests may be transferred, and we believe that the restrictions on ownership and transfers of our Interests do not prevent us from satisfying the second qualification, and indeed aid in assuring the other qualifications herein. Although the Company is organized as a Limited Liability Company, for the purposes of U.S. federal income taxation, we have elected to be classified as a corporation in compliance with the third condition. The fifth and six conditions do not need to be satisfied for the first taxable year for which an election to become a REIT has been made. We believe that the Interests sold in this offering will aid us in complying with the fifth and six qualifications, but we may need to conduct an additional offering of interest, of a class and amount determined by the Manager, to comply with qualification five. To comply with ownership requirements and reporting requirements required by the IRS, we are required to collect and maintain records regarding the actual, and at times beneficial, ownership of our Interests. Provided we comply with these record keeping requirements, and in the absence of a reason to believe we have otherwise filed the sixth qualification upon the exercise of reasonable diligence, we will be deemed to have satisfied the sixth qualification. In addition, our Amended Operating Agreement provides restrictions, alluded to previously, regarding the ownership requirements described above.

Effect of Subsidiary Entities

Ownership of Partnership Interest.

This Company may have investments in one or more partnerships. Those partnerships may have Partners who are the Manager, affiliates of the Manager, or related parties of the Manager. In the case of a REIT that is a partner in an entity that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the REIT is deemed to own its proportionate share of the partnership's assets and to earn its proportionate share of the partnership's gross income based on its *pro rata* share of capital interests in the partnership for purposes of the asset and gross income tests applicable to REITs, as described below. The results of these "look-through" rules may be less favorable than if a REIT were to own an equivalent portion of a property outright. However, solely for purposes of the 10% value test, described below, the determination of a REIT's interest in partnership assets will be based on the REIT's proportionate interest in any securities issued by the partnership, excluding certain securities described in the Code. For purposes of determining the amount of the REIT's taxable income that must be distributed, or is subject to tax, the REIT's share of partnership income is determined under the partnership states in the Code and will reflect any special allocations of income roles that are not in proportion to capital interests. Income earned through partnerships retains its character for U.S. federal income tax purposes when allocated among its partners. In general, partnerships are not subject to U.S. federal income tax. However, a partnership in which we invest may be required to pay the hypothetical increase in partnerships are not subject to U.S. federal income tax. However, a partnership in which we invest may be required to pay the hypothetical increase in partnerships are not subject to U.S. federal income tax.

Taxable REIT Subsidiaries ("TRS")

A REIT, in general, may jointly elect with a subsidiary corporation, whether or not wholly-owned, to treat the subsidiary corporation as a TRS. The separate existence of a TRS or other taxable corporation, unlike a disregarded subsidiary as discussed above, is not ignored for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, such an entity would generally be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its taxable income, which may reduce the cash flow generated by us and our subsidiaries in the aggregate and our ability to make distributions to our Members.

A REIT is not treated as holding the assets of a TRS or other taxable subsidiary corporation or as receiving any income that the subsidiary earns. Rather, the stock issued by the subsidiary is an asset in the hands of the REIT, and the REIT generally recognizes dividend income when it receives distributions of earnings from the subsidiary. This treatment can affect the gross income and asset test calculations that apply to the REIT, as described below. Because a parent REIT does not include the assets and income of its TRSs in determining the parent REIT's compliance with the REIT requirements, such entities may be used by the parent REIT to undertake indirectly activities that the REIT rules might otherwise preclude the parent REIT from doing directly or through pass-through subsidiaries. If dividends are paid to us by one or more domestic TRSs we may own, then a portion of the dividends that we distribute to Members who are taxed at individual rates generally will be eligible for taxation at preferential qualified dividend income tax rates rather than at ordinary income rates as described herein.

We may hold certain investments through one or more TRSs, including property that we believe would be treated as held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of our trade or business for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that cannot be sold within a statutory safe harbor to avoid the 100% tax on "prohibited transactions" that otherwise would apply to gain from the sale of such property. Generally, a TRS can perform impermissible tenant services without causing us to receive impermissible tenant services income from those services under the REIT income tests. A TRS may also engage in other activities that, if conducted by us other than through a TRS, could result in the receipt of non-qualified income or the ownership of non-qualified assets. However, several provisions regarding the arrangements between a REIT and its TRSs ensure that a TRS will be subject to an appropriate level of U.S. federal income taxation. For example, a TRS is limited in its ability to deduct interest payments made to us in excess of a certain amount. In addition, we will be obligated to pay a 100% penalty tax on some payments that we receive or certain other amounts or on certain expenses deducted by the TRS if the economic arrangements among us, our tenants and/or the TRS are not comparable to similar arrangements among unrelated parties.

While we intend to manage the size of our TRSs and dividends from our TRSs in a manner that permits us to qualify as a REIT, it is possible that the equity investments appreciate to the point where our TRSs exceed the thresholds mandated by the REIT rules. In such cases, we could lose our REIT status if we are unable to satisfy certain exceptions for failing to satisfy the REIT income and asset tests. In any event, any earnings attributable to equity interests held in TRSs or origination activity conducted by TRSs will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax, and the amount of such taxes could be substantial.

Gross Income Tests

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we annually must satisfy two gross income tests. First, at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year, excluding gross income from sales of inventory or dealer property in "prohibited transactions" and certain hedging and foreign currency transactions, must be derived from investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property, including "rents from real property," dividends received from and gains from the disposition of other shares of REITs, interest income derived from mortgage loans secured by real property, and gains from the sale of real estate assets, as well as income from certain hedging and foreign currency transactions, must be derived from some combination of income that qualifies under the 75% income test described above, as well as other dividends, interest, and gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, which need not have any relation to real property. For purposes of the 75% income test, gain from the sale or disposition of a "nonqualified publicly offered REIT debt instrument" (within the meaning of Section 856(c)(5)(L)(ii) of the Code) is non-qualifying income.

Rental Income

Rents we receive will qualify as rents from real property in satisfying the gross income requirements for a REIT described above only if several conditions are met. First, the amount of rent must not be based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person. However, an amount received or accrued generally will not be excluded from the term "rents from real property" solely by reason of being based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales. Second, rents received from a "related party tenant" will not qualify as rents from real property in satisfying the gross income tests unless the tenant is a TRS and either (i) at least 90% of the property is leased to unrelated tenants and the rent paid by the TRS is substantially comparable to the rent paid by the unrelated tenants for comparable space, or (ii) the property leased is a "qualified lodging facility," as defined in Section 856(0)(9)(D) of the Code, or a "qualified health care property," as defined in Section 856(e)(6)(D)(i), and certain other conditions are satisfied. A tenant is a related party tenant if the REIT, or an actual or constructive owner of 10% or more of the REIT, actually or constructively owns 10% or more of the tenant. Third, if rent attributable to personal property, leased in connection with a lease of real property, is greater than 15% of the total rent received under the lease, then the portion of rent attributable to the personal property.


Generally, for rents to qualify as rents from real property for the purpose of satisfying the gross income tests, we may provide directly only an insignificant amount of services, unless those services are "usually or customarily rendered" in connection with the rental of real property and not otherwise considered "rendered to the occupant." Accordingly, we may not provide "impermissible services" to tenants (except through an independent contractor from whom we derive no revenue and that meets other requirements or through a TRS) without giving rise to "impermissible tenant service income." Impermissible tenant service income is deemed to be at least 150% of the direct cost to us of providing the service. If the impermissible tenant service income exceeds 1% of our total income from that property, the group rest. If the total amount of impermissible tenant service income from the property does not exceed 1% of our total income from the property, the services will not disqualify any other income from the property that qualifies as rents from real property, but the impermissible tenant service income will not qualify as rents from real property.

We do not anticipate deriving rents based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person, rents from related party tenants, and/or rents attributable to personal property leased in connection with real property that exceeds 15% of the total rents from that property, in sufficient amounts to jeopardize our status as REIT. We also do not anticipate deriving impermissible tenant service income that exceeds 1% of our total income from any property if the treatment of the rents from such property as nonqualifying rents would jeopardize our status as a REIT.

Dividend Income

We may receive material distributions from TRSs. These distributions are generally classified as dividend income to the extent of the earnings and profits of the distributing corporation. Such distributions generally constitute qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not the 75% gross income test.

If we invest in an entity treated as a "passive investment foreign company" or "controlled foreign corporation" for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we could be required to include our portion of its earnings in our income prior to the receipt of any distributions. Any such income inclusions would not be treated as qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test and may not be qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test.

Sale-Leaseback Transactions

We may enter into sale-leaseback transactions. It is possible that the IRS could take the position that specific sale-leaseback transactions (or certain other leases) we treat as true leases are not true leases for U.S. federal income tax purposes but are, instead, financing arrangements or loans. Successful recharacterization of a sale-leaseback transaction (or any other lease) as a financing arrangement or loan could jeopardize our REIT status.

Failure to Satisfy the Gross Income Tests

We intend to monitor our sources of income, including any non-qualifying income received by us, and manage our assets so as to ensure our compliance with the gross income tests. We cannot assure you, however, that we will be able to satisfy the gross income tests. If we fail to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any taxable year, we may still qualify as a REIT for the year if we are entitled to relief under applicable provisions of the Code. These relief provisions will generally be available if our failure to meet these tests was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect and, following the identification of such failure, we set forth a description of each item of our gross income that satisfies the gross income tests in a schedule for the taxable year filed in accordance with the Treasury regulations. It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions are inapplicable to a particular set of circumstances involving us, we will not qualify as a REIT. As discussed, even where these relief provisions apply, a tax would be imposed upon the profit attributable to the amount by which we fail to satisfy the particular gross income test.

Asset Tests

At the close of each calendar quarter, we must also satisfy tests relating to the nature of our assets. At least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by some combination of "real estate assets," cash, cash items and U.S. Government securities. For this purpose, real estate assets include interests in real property (such as land, buildings, leasehold interests in real property), interests in mortgages on real property or on interests in real property, mortgage loans secured by real property, shares in other qualifying REITs, debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITs, and stock or debt instruments held for less than one year purchased with the proceeds from an offering of our Interests or certain debt. Assets that do not qualify for purposes of the 75% test and that are not securities of our TRSs are subject to the additional following asset tests: (i) the value of any one issuer's securities, as measured by us may not exceed 5% of the value. In addition, the aggregate value of all securities of TRSs held by us may not exceed 20% of the value of our gross assets, and not more than 25% of the code).

The 10% value test does not apply to certain "straight debt" and other excluded securities, as described in the Code, including any loan to an individual or an estate, any obligation to pay rents from real property and any security issued by a REIT. In addition, (1) a REIT's interest as a partner in a partnership is not considered a security for purposes of applying the 10% value test; (2) any debt instrument issued by a partnership (other than straight debt or other excluded security) will not be considered a security issued by the partnership if at least 75% of the partnership's gross income is derived from sources that would qualify for the 75% REIT gross income test; and (3) any debt instrument issued by a partnership (other than straight debt or other excluded security) will not be considered a security issued by the extent of the REIT's interest as a partner in the partnership.

For purposes of the 10% value test, "straight debt" means a written unconditional promise to pay on demand on a specified date a sum certain in money if (1) the debt is not convertible, directly or indirectly, into stock and (2) the interest rate and interest payment dates are not contingent on profits, the borrower's discretion, or similar factors other than certain contingencies relating to the timing and amount of principal and interest payments, as described in the Code. In the case of an issuer which is a corporation or a partnership, securities that otherwise would be considered straight debt will not be so considered if we, and any of our "controlled taxable REIT subsidiaries" as defined in the Code, hold any securities of the corporate or partnership issuer which (A) are not straight debt or other excluded securities (prior to the application of this rule), and (B) have an aggregate value greater than 1% of the issuer's outstanding securities (including, for the purposes of a partnership issuer, our interest as a partner in the partnership).

Failure to Satisfy Asset Tests

After initially meeting the asset tests at the close of any quarter, we will not lose our qualification as a REIT for failure to satisfy the asset tests at the end of a later quarter solely by reason of changes in asset values. If we fail to satisfy the asset tests because we acquire assets during a quarter, we can cure this failure by disposing of sufficient non-qualifying assets within 30 days after the close of that quarter. If we fail the 5% asset test, or the 10% vote or value asset tests at the end of any quarter and such failure is not cured within 30 days thereafter, we may dispose of sufficient assets (generally within six months after the last day of the quarter in which the identification of the failure to satisfy these asset tests or our failure of the 5% and 10% asset tests is in excess of the *de minimis* amount described above, as long as such failure was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, we are permitted to avoid disqualification as a REIT, after the 30 day cure period, by taking steps, including the disposition of sufficient assets to meet the asset test (generally within sit months after the last day of the quarter in which we identified the failure to satisfy the REIT asset test) and paying a tax equal to the greater of \$50,000 or the highest corporate income tax rate (currently 21%) of the net income generated by the non-qualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy the asset test.

Hedging Transactions

We may enter into hedging transactions with respect to one or more of our assets or liabilities. Hedging transactions could take a variety of forms, including interest rate swap agreements, interest rate cap agreements, options, forward rate agreements or similar financial instruments. Except to the extent provided by Treasury regulations, any income from a hedging transaction, including gain from the sale or disposition of such a transaction, will not constitute gross income for purposes of the 75% or 95% gross income test if (i) we enter into the hedging transaction in the normal course of business primarily to manage risk of interest rate or price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations incurred or to be incurred, to acquire or carry real estate assets and the hedge is clearly identified as specified in Treasury regulations before the close of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into, (ii) we enter into the hedging transaction primarily to manage risk of currency fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the 75% or 95% gross income tests or (iii) we enter into the hedging transaction to offset certain other positions, and the hedge is clearly identified as under the close of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into, including hedges of interest rates on any debt we acquire as assets, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the 75% and 95% gross income tests. We intend to structure any hedging transactions in a manner that does not jeopardize its qualification as a REIT, but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in this regard.

Investments in Loans

We are not limited in our ability to make investments in loans. If the outstanding principal balance of a mortgage loan during the year exceeds the value of the real property securing the loan at the time we committed to acquire the loan, which may be the case, for instance, if we acquire a "distressed" mortgage loan, including with a view to acquiring the collateral, a portion of the interest accrued during the year will not be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test applicable to REITs. Similarly, if the value of the mortgage loan exceeds the greater of (i) the current value of the real property securing the loan at the time we committed to acquire the loan, such excess will not be a qualifying real estate asset. Furthermore, we may be required to retest modified loans that we hold to determine if the modified loan is adequately secured by real property as of the modification date. If the IRS were to assert successfully that our mortgage loans were not properly secured by real estate or that the value of the real estate collateral (at the time of testing, commitment or retesting, as applicable) was otherwise less than the amount of the loan or the value of the loan, as applicable, we could, as mentioned, earn income that is not qualifying for the 75% income test and also be treated as holding a non-real estate investment in whole or part, which could result in our failure to qualify as a REIT. Certain obligations secured by a mortgage on both real property and personal property shall be treated as a qualifying real estate asset and give rise to qualifying income for purposes of the 75% income test if the fair market value of such personal property does not exceed 15% of the total fair market value of all such property.

We may originate or acquire mortgage or mezzanine loans. The IRS has provided a safe harbor with respect to the treatment of a mezzanine loan as a mortgage loan and therefore as a qualifying asset that generates qualifying income for purposes of the REIT asset tests, but not rules of substantive law. Pursuant to the safe harbor, if a mezzanine loan meets certain requirements, it will be treated by the IRS as a qualifying real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset tests, and interest derived from the mezzanine loan will be treated as qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the REIT 75% income test. However, structuring a mezzanine loan to meet the requirements of the safe harbor may not always be practical. To the extent that any of our mezzanine loans do not meet all of the requirements for reliance on the safe harbor, such loans might not be properly treated as qualifying mortgage loans for REIT purposes.

To the extent that the terms of a loan provide for contingent interest that is based on the cash proceeds realized upon the sale of the property securing the loan (or a shared appreciation provision), income attributable to the participation feature will be treated as gain from sale of the underlying property for purposes of the income tests, and generally will be qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests, provided that the property is not inventory or dealer property in the hands of the borrower or us. To the extent that we derive interest income from a loan where all or a portion of the amount of interest payable is contingent, such income generally will qualify for purposes of the gross income tests only if it is based upon the gross receipts or sales and not the net income or profits of any person.

We may hold loans with relatively high loan-to-value ratios and/or high yields. Additionally, we may receive equity interests in our borrowers in connection with originating our loans. These features can cause a loan to be treated as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the IRS were to successfully not challenge our treatment of a loan as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we could be deemed to hold nonqualifying assets or to earn nonqualifying income, depending on the assets and activities of the issuer, which in turn could adversely affect our ability to qualify as a REIT.

We may hold indirect participation interests in some loans, rather than direct ownership of the loan. We generally expect to treat our participation interests as an undivided ownership interest in the underlying loan, and thus as a qualifying real estate asset for purposes of the REIT asset tests that also generates qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the 75% gross income test to the extent that the loan underlying the participation is a qualifying real estate mortgage. The appropriate treatment of participation interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes is not entirely certain, however, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge our treatment of our participation interests.

Annual Distribution Requirements

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends, to our Members in an amount at least equal to:

(a) the sum of:

- 90% of our "REIT taxable income" (computed without regard to its deduction for dividends paid and its net capital gains); and
- 90% of the net income (after tax), if any, from foreclosure property (as described below); minus

(b) the sum of specified items of non-cash income that exceeds a percentage of our income.

These distributions must be paid in the taxable year to which they relate or in the following taxable year if such distributions are declared in October, November or December of the taxable year, are payable to Owners of record on a specified date in any such month and are actually paid before the end of January of the following year. Such distributions are treated as both paid by us and received by each Member on December 31 of the year in which they are declared. In addition, at our election, a distribution for a taxable year may be declared before we timely file our tax return for the year and be paid with or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration, provided that such payment is made during the 12-month period following the close of such taxable year. These distributions are taxable to our Members in the year in which paid, even though the distributions relate to our prior taxable year for purposes of the 90% distribution requirement. This may impact individual tax planning or reporting.

In order for distributions to be counted towards our distribution requirement and to give rise to a tax deduction by us, they must not be "preferential dividends." A dividend is not a preferential dividend if it is pro rata among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class and is in accordance with the preferences among different classes of stock as set forth in the organizational documents. To avoid paying preferential dividends, we must treat every Member of the class with respect to which we make a distribution the same as every other Member of that class, and we must not treat any class of Interest other than according to its dividend rights as a class. Under certain technical rules governing deficiency dividends, we could lose our ability to cure an under-distribution in a year with a subsequent year deficiency dividend if we pay preferential dividends. Preferential dividends potentially include "dividend equivalent redemptions." Accordingly, we intend to pay dividends pro rata within each class, and to abide by the rights and preferences of each class of our Interests if there is more than one, and will seek to avoid dividend equivalent redemptions. If, however, we qualify as a "publicly offered REIT" (within the meaning of Section 562(c) of the Code) currently or in the future, the preferential dividend rules will cease to apply to us. In addition, the IRS is authorized to provide alternative remedies to cure a failure to comply with the preferential dividend rules, but as of the date hereof, no such authorized procedures have been promulgated.

To the extent that we distribute at least 90%, but less than 100%, of our "REIT taxable income," as adjusted, we will be subject to tax at ordinary U.S. federal corporate tax rates on the retained portion. In addition, we may elect to retain, rather than distribute, our net long-term capital gains and pay tax on such gains. In this case, we could elect to have our Members include their proportionate share of such undistributed long-term capital gains in income and receive a corresponding credit or refund, as the case may be, for their proportionate share of the tax paid by us. Our Members would then increase the adjusted basis of their stock in us by the difference between the designated amounts included in their long-term capital gains and the tax deemed paid with respect to their proportionate shares.

If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (1) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (2) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year and (3) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we will be subject to a 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of (x) the amounts actually distributed (taking into account excess distributions from prior periods) and (y) the amounts of income retained on which we have paid corporate income tax. We intend to make timely distributions so that we are not subject to the 4% excise tax.

It is possible that we, from time to time, may not have sufficient cash from operations to meet the distribution requirements, for example, due to timing differences between the actual receipt of cash and the inclusion of the corresponding items in income by us for U.S. federal income tax purposes prior to receipt of such income in cash or non-deductible expenditures. In the event that such shortfalls occur, to meet our distribution requirements it might be necessary to arrange for short-term, or possibly long-term, borrowings, use cash reserves, liquidate non-cash assets at rates or times that we regard as unfavorable.

We may be able to rectify a failure to meet the distribution requirements for a year by paying "deficiency dividends" to Members in a later year, which may be included in our deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. In this case, we may be able to avoid losing our qualification as a REIT or being taxed on amounts distributed as deficiency dividends. However, we will be required to pay interest and a penalty based on the amount of any deduction taken for deficiency dividends.

In the event that we undertake a transaction (such as a tax-free merger) in which we succeed to earnings and profits of a taxable corporation, in addition to the distribution requirements above we also must distribute such non-REIT earnings and profits to our Members by the close the taxable year of the transaction. Such additional dividends are not deductible against our REIT taxable income. We may be able to rectify a failure to distribute any such non-REIT earnings and profits by making distributions in a later year comparable to deficiency dividends noted above and paying an interest charge.

Liquidating distributions generally will be treated as dividends for purposes of the above rules to the extent of current earnings and profits in the year paid provided, we complete our liquidation within 24 months following our adoption of a plan of liquidation. Compliance with this 24-month requirement could require us to sell assets at unattractive prices, distribute unsold assets to a "liquidating trust" for the benefit of our Members, or terminate our status as a REIT. The federal income tax treatment of a beneficial interest in a liquidating trust would vary significantly from the federal income treatment of ownership of our Interests.

Prohibited Transactions

Net income we derive from a prohibited transaction outside of a TRS is subject to a 100% tax unless the transaction qualifies for a statutory safe harbor discussed below. The term "prohibited transaction" generally includes a sale or other disposition of property (other than foreclosure property) that is held as inventory or primarily for sale to customers, in the ordinary course of a trade or business by a REIT. The 100% tax will not apply to gains from the sale of property held through a TRS or other taxable corporations (which are taxed at regular corporate rates).

Our business strategy may include investments that risk being characterized as investments in properties held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. Thus, we intend to comply with the statutory safe harbor when selling properties outside of a TRS (or when our joint ventures sell properties outside of a TRS) that we believe might reasonably be characterized as held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business for U.S. federal income tax purposes, but compliance with the safe harbor may not always be practical. Moreover, because the determination of whether property is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business. The so a court might disagree with our determination that any particular property was not so held and therefore assert that a non-safe harbored sale of such property was subject to the 100% penalty tax on the gain from the disposition of the property. One of the factors considered by the courts in determining whether a taxpayer held property primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business is the frequency and continuity of sales. While the 100% tax will not apply to a safe-harbored sale, safe-harbored sales generally would be taken into account in assessing the frequency and continuity of our sales activity for purposes of analyzing sales outside of the safe harbor.

The potential application of the prohibited transactions tax could cause us to forego potential dispositions of other property or to forego other opportunities that might otherwise be attractive to us (such as developing property for sale), or to undertake such dispositions or other opportunities through a TRS, which would generally result in corporate income taxes being incurred. The amount of such TRS taxes could be substantial.

Foreclosure Property

Foreclosure property is real property and any personal property incident to such real property (1) that is acquired by a REIT as a result of the REIT having bid on the property at foreclosure or having otherwise reduced the property to ownership or possession by agreement or process of law after there was a default (or default was imminent) on a lease of the property or a mortgage loan held by the REIT and secured by the property, (2) for which the related loan or lease was acquired by the REIT at a time when default was not imminent or anticipated and (3) for which such REIT makes a proper election to treat the property as foreclosure property. REITs generally are subject to tax at the maximum U.S. federal corporate rate (currently 21%), and potentially the maximum state income tax rate, on any net income from foreclosure property, including any gain from the disposition of the foreclosure property other than income that would otherwise be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property election is in effect will not be subject to the 100% tax on gains from prohibited transactions described above, even if the property would otherwise constitute inventory or property held for sale in the hands of the selling REIT.

Failure to Qualify

In the event that we violate a provision of the Code that would result in our failure to qualify as a REIT, we may nevertheless continue to qualify as a REIT under specified relief provisions available to us to avoid such disqualification if (i) the violation is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect, (ii) we pay a penalty of \$50,000 for each failure to satisfy a requirement for qualification as a REIT and (iii) the violation does not include a violation under the gross income or asset tests described above (for which other specified relief provisions are available). This cure provision reduces the instances that could lead to our disqualification as a REIT for violations due to reasonable cause. If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year and none of the relief provisions of the Code apply, we will be subject to tax, including any applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at regular corporate rates. Distributions to our Members in any year in which we are not a REIT will not be deductible by us, nor will they be required to be made. In this situation, to the extent of current or accumulated earnings and profits, and, subject to limitations of the Code, distributions to our Members will generally be taxable. Unless we are entitled to relief under the specific statutory provisions, we will also be disqualified from re-electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following a year during which qualification was lost. It is not possible to state whether, in all circumstances, we will be entitled to statutory relief.

Taxation of Members

This section summarizes the Federal taxation of Members. State and local taxes may also apply. Since we intend to restrict our offering to U.S. Citizens, U.S. Residents, and legal entities who are considered "United States Persons" within the meaning of 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code who are not subject to backup withholding, we assume these Members are taxable U.S. Persons. Interested non-U.S. Persons should contact a tax professional about structuring their investment in compliance with Federal Tax laws which will not be subject to backup such backup withholding. Tax exempt organizations and accounts may also be treated differently. Each Investor should consult with their tax professional to determine the effects of the tax treatment of the Class A Interests with respect to their individual situation.

Distributions

Provided that we qualify as a REIT, distributions made to our taxable Members out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, and not designated as capital gain dividends, will generally be taken into account by them as ordinary dividend income and will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporations.



Distributions from us that are designated as capital gain dividends will be taxed to Members as long-term capital gains, to the extent that they do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year, without regard to the period for which the Member has held our stock. To the extent that we elect under the applicable provisions of the Code to retain our net capital gains, Members will be treated as having received, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, our undistributed capital gains as well as a corresponding credit or refund, as the case may be, for taxes paid by us on such retained capital gains. Members will increase their adjusted tax basis in our Interests by the difference between their allocable share of such retained capital gain and their share of the tax paid by us.

Distributions from us in excess of our current or accumulated earnings and profits will not be taxable to a Member to the extent that they do not exceed the adjusted tax basis of the Member's Interests in respect of which the distributions were made, but rather will reduce the adjusted tax basis of these Interests. To the extent that such distributions exceed the adjusted tax basis of a Member's Interests, they will be treated as gain from the disposition of the Interests and thus will be included in income as long-term capital gain, or short-term capital gain if the Interests have been held for one year or less.

To the extent that we have available net operating losses and capital losses carried forward from prior tax years, such losses may reduce the amount of distributions that must be made in order to comply with the REIT distribution requirements. Such losses, however, are not passed through to Members and do not offset income of Members from other sources, nor do they affect the character of any distributions that are actually made by us.

Dispositions of Our Interests

In general, gains or losses recognized by individuals and other non-corporate Members upon the sale or disposition of Interests will be treated as capital gains or losses.

Redemptions of Interests

A redemption of Interests will be treated under Section 302 of the Code as a taxable distribution unless the redemption satisfies one of the tests set forth in Section 302(b) of the Code enabling the redemption to be treated as a sale or exchange of the redeemed Interests. A redemption that is not treated as a sale or exchange will be taxed in the same manner as regular distributions (e.g., ordinary dividend income to the extent paid out of earnings and profits unless properly designated as a capital gain dividend), and a redemption treated as a sale or exchange will be taxed in the same manner as other taxable sales discussed above.

Liquidating Distributions

Once we have adopted (or are deemed to have adopted) a plan of liquidation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, liquidating distributions received by a U.S. Member with respect to our Interests will be treated first as a recovery of the Member's basis in the Interests (computed separately for each block of Units) and thereafter as gain from the disposition of our Interests. In general, the federal income tax rules applicable to REITs likely will require us to complete our liquidation within 24 months following our adoption of a plan of liquidation. Compliance with this 24-month requirement could require us to distribute unsold assets to a "liquidating trust." Each Member would be treated as receiving a liquidating distribution equal to the value of the liquidating trust interests received by the Member. The U.S. federal income tax treatment of ownership an interest in any such liquidating trust would differ materially from the U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in our Interests.

State, Local and Non-U.S. Taxes

We and our Members may be subject to state, local or non-U.S. taxation in various jurisdictions, including those in which it or they transact business, own property or reside. The state, local or non-U.S. tax treatment of us and our Members may not conform to the U.S. federal income tax treatment discussed above. Any non-U.S. taxes incurred by us would not pass through to Members as a credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability. Prospective Members should consult their tax advisors regarding the application and effect of state, local and non-U.S. income and other tax laws on an investment in our Interests.

Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the IRS and the U.S. Department of the Treasury. No assurance can be given as to whether, when, or in what form, U.S. federal income tax laws applicable to us and our Members may be enacted. Changes to the U.S. federal income tax laws and interpretations of U.S. federal income tax laws could adversely affect an investment in our Interests.

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), is a broad statutory framework that governs most U.S. retirement and other U.S. employee benefit plans. ERISA and the rules and regulations of the Department of Labor (the "DOL") under ERISA contain provisions that should be considered by fiduciaries of employee benefit plans subject to the provisions of Title I of ERISA ("ERISA Plans") and their legal advisors. In particular, a fiduciary of an ERISA Plan should consider whether an investment in our Interests (or, in the case of a participant-directed defined contribution plan (a "Participant-Directed Plan"), making our Interests available for investment under the Participant-Directed Plan) satisfies the requirements set forth in Part 4 of Title I of ERISA, including the requirements that (1) the investment sify the prudence and diversification standards of ERISA, (2) the investment be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of the ERISA Plan, (3) the investment be permissible under the terms of the ERISA Plan's investment policies and governing instruments and (4) the investment does not give rise to a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code. A Fiduciary should also be aware that our Amended Operating Agreement provides that we may redeem any Units which, in the reasonable opinion of our counsel, may make any portion of our assets "plan assets," and that such redemption will be at Fair Market Value, as determined by the good faith judgment of our manager. Fiduciaries of any employee benefit plan should note that consult with their counsel and advisors before deciding to invest in our Interests.

SUMMARY OF AMENDED OPERATING AGREEMENT

The Amended Operating Agreement is the governing instrument establishing the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Company will conduct business and the rights and obligations between and among the Members and the Manager, as well as other important terms and provisions relating to investment in the Company. All prospective Members are urged to read and fully understand the Amended Operating Agreement in its entirety prior to making a decision to purchase Interests. The following is a brief and incomplete summary of the terms of the Amended Operating Agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Amended Operating Agreement.

Operating Cash Distributions

The Company intends to make distributions at least annually out of available cash the Company derived from operations and capital transactions together with any amounts included in reserves or working capital from prior periods which the Manager reasonably determines to distribute, less the following items: (i) payment of all fees, costs, indebtedness, and expenses of the Company, (ii) any required tax withholdings, (iii) reserves for future expenses related to the Company's operations, as established in the reasonable discretion of the Manager, and (iv) in the case of a capital transactions (such as the sale or refinancing of a real estate asset), any cash which the Manager elects to use for reinvestment, in its reasonable discretion. ("Distributable Cash"). Distributable Cash shall be at least the minimum amount required to be distributed with respect to any taxable year in order for the Company to maintain its status as a REIT.

Distributable Cash from operations will be allocated eighty percent (80%) to the Class A Members and twenty percent (20%) to the Class B Members. Distributable Cash from capital transactions will be allocated as follows: (a) First, Class A Members will receive all Unreturned Capital Contributions; (b) Second, Class B Members will be allocated a "Catch-Up Allocation" to ensure they are allocated 20% of Distributable Cash other than Distributable Cash allocated to Class A Members for return of Capital Contributions (this Catch-Up Allocation provision will only come into effect if the Manager has previously reallocated Distributable Cash from Class B to Class A Members, as discussed below); (c) Finally, eighty percent (80%) of Distributable Cash associated with a Capital Members and the remaining twenty percent (20%) allocated to the Class B Members. Note that the amount of Distributable Cash associated with a Capital Transaction may be reduced or eliminated if the Manager elects to reinvest some or all of the proceeds from that transaction.

Distributable Cash will be evaluated not less than annually. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, elect to reallocate any Distributable Cash from Class B Members to Class A Members. The Manager may, in its sole discretion, elect to reallocate Distributable Cash from the Class A Members to the Class B Members so long as at least 80% of all Distributable Cash allocated to date (excluding any Distributable Cash allocated to Class A Members for return of Capital Contributions per Section 5.2(ii)(A)) remains allocated to the Class A Members. These provisions effectively allow the Manager to postpone the payment of distributions to the Class B Members, but may result in Class A Members being allocated less than 80% of Distributable Cash during certain distribution periods.

The Manager intends to make Distributions not less than annually, but investors should note that the timing and amount of any Distribution declared by the Company are at the sole discretion of the Manager. Class A Members shall be eligible for Distributions of allocated Distributable Cash as of the date their subscription documents are accepted by the Company. The Manager intends (but is not required) to make determinations as to prospective Members on the business days closest to the first and fifteenth day of each month, but may make determinations on different days (especially as to whether the Company should issue additional Units to current Members), and may delay a determination if it believes it needs more information.

When a Distribution is declared as to Class A Units, it will be divided among the currently issued Class A Units pro-rata. Newly issued Units will receive a share of the Distribution corresponding to the number of days those Units have been issued at the time of the Distribution. Each Distribution will be paid by the Company to the Person who the Company's records show to be the Member or Assignee associated with each particular Unit as of the date a Distribution is declared. If a Distribution is declared within sixty (60) days of a Member's initial Units being issued, such Member's Distribution may held by the Company until the next Distribution is declared after such period, at the sole discretion of the Manager.

Cash Distributions on Dissolution and Termination

The Company shall be dissolved upon action of the Manager. Upon dissolution of the Company, the Assets of the Company will be liquidated as described below:

- □ First, to pay the creditors of the Company, not including a Member;
- □ Second, to establish reserves reasonably necessary for contingent or unforeseen liabilities and obligations of the Company;
- \Box Third, to satisfy any debts owed to the Members; and
- □ Finally, to the Members in the same manner as Distributable Cash from capital transactions, as described above.

Redemptions

Upon demand by the Manager, the Company shall redeem all of the Units held by any Person who is not a "United States Person" within the meaning of 7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code, and shall additionally redeem any Units for which it is the reasonable belief of counsel for the Company that:

- such Membership Interests may jeopardize the Company's status as a REIT; and/or
- such Membership Interests may cause all or any portion of the assets of the Company to constitute "plan assets" for the purposes of an employee benefit plan.

Such redemptions do not require the Interest holder's consent and will be made at Company's Fair Market Value as of the date of redemption (as determined in good faith by the Manager's judgment). Such Membership Interests shall only be redeemed by the Company to the extent necessary (i.e., a Member may only have some of their Units so redeemed) and the Manager shall cause any such redemption to be made among all such Members with respect to which the basis for redemption is applicable, in a manner determined by the Manager in its sole discretion.

The Manager may also cause the Company to establish a redemption plan pursuant to which a Member may request that the Company redeem some or all of their Units, subject to the terms, conditions, and restrictions set by the Manager. The Manager has no intention of establishing a redemption plan at this time.



Voting Rights of the Members

Class A Interests are non-voting Interests and will not be entitled to vote on any matter required or permitted to be voted on by the Members under the Amended Operating Agreement or under Delaware Law. Any matter that requires the approval of more than 50 percent of the then current percentage of interests in the Company under the Amended Operating Agreement or Delaware Law shall require only the affirmative vote of more than 50 percent of the then currently issued Class B Units.

Resignation or Removal of the Manager

A Manager of the Company may resign at any time by giving written notice to all of the Members of the Company, which may require approval of a lender if a loan was conditioned on the qualifications of the Manager. The Manager may NOT be removed by the Members.

Limits on Manager's Liability; Indemnification

To the greatest extent permitted by law, neither the Manager nor any director, officer, agent, employee, or owner of the Manager shall be liable, responsible, or accountable in damages or otherwise to the Company or any Member for any action taken or failure to act on behalf of the Company within the scope of the authority conferred on the Manager by the Amended Operating Agreement or by law unless such act or omission was performed or omitted fraudulently or in bad faith.

The Manager shall not have any duties or liabilities, including fiduciary duties, to the Company or any Member, and all such duties or liabilities are hereby irrevocably expressly disclaimed and eliminated except to the extent expressly provided in the Amended Operating Agreement. The provisions of the Amended Operating Agreement, to the extent that they restrict or otherwise modify or eliminate the duties and liabilities (including fiduciary duties) of the Manager otherwise existing at law or in equity, are agreed by the Members to replace any such other duties or liabilities of the Manager.

Parallel Funds, Special Purpose Entities and Co-Investment Opportunities

The Manager may, in its discretion and to the extent permitted by applicable law, create or sponsor partnerships or other vehicles that will be formed for participating *pro rata* and *pari passu* in a portfolio of companies associated with the Company (each, a "Parallel Fund"). A Parallel Fund may consist of certain investors who, for a variety of reasons, may not wish to participate in the investments through the Company. Any costs associated with the formation and administration of a Parallel Fund will be paid by the investors in the Parallel Fund.

Where the Manager deems it appropriate, the Company may use special purpose entities as subsidiaries, including corporations, limited liability companies, and limited partnerships to make and hold investments. The Manager may also cause the Company to invest through corporations, limited liability companies, limited partnerships, joint ventures (both with third parties and affiliates of the Manager), or other arrangements in which the Company has an economic interest and where such arrangements are reasonably expected to preserve in all material respects the overall economic relationship of the Members.



To the extent that the Manager determines that any Company investment requires co-investment by third parties, the Manager may offer, but is not required to offer, to the Manager and all Members the opportunity to co-invest on a side-by side basis with the Company and the Parallel Fund in such investment. The Manager shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to accept all, none or any portion of such Member's' capital for such co-investment opportunity and may offer all or any portion of such co-investment opportunity to any third parties, and the terms offered to such third parties may be more favorable than the co-investment terms offered to electing Members.

Other Activities of Manager: Affiliates

The Manager need not devote its full time to the Company's business, but shall devote such time as the Manager in its discretion, deems necessary to manage the Company's affairs in an efficient manner. Subject to the other express provisions of the Amended Operating Agreement, the Manager, at any time and from time to time may engage in and possess interests in other business ventures of any and every type and description, independently or with others, including ventures in competition with the Company, with no obligation to offer to the Company or any Member the right to participate therein. The Company may transact business with any Manager, Member, or any officer, agent or affiliate thereof at market rates, provided the terms of those transactions are no less favorable than those the Company could obtain from unrelated third parties. The Company may also borrow money from the Manager, Member or any officer, agent or affiliate thereof at market rates, provided the terms of those transactions are no less favorable than those the Company could obtain from unrelated third parties. Market rates are determined by the Manager based on industry standards and expectations of what the Manager would be able to negotiate with a third-party on an arm's length basis; however, the terms will be established by the Manager and not as a result of arm's length negotiations.

Restrictions on Ownership and Transfers of Interests

In order for us to qualify as a REIT under the IRS Code, Units of our Company must be owned by 100 or more persons, and not more than 50% of the value of our outstanding s may be owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals (as defined in the Code to include certain entities). To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy other requirements as well. See "TAX TREATMENT OF COMPANY AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES —Requirements for Qualification as a REIT".

To assist us in qualifying as a REIT, our Amended Operating Agreement, subject to certain exceptions, contains restrictions on the number and value of Units of our Company that a person may own. Our Amended Operating Agreement provides that generally no person other than our Manager may own (or be deemed to own by virtue of certain attribution provisions of the Code) more than 9.8% in value or in number of our Units, whichever is more restrictive. We refer to these limits collectively as the "ownership limit". Note that the applicable constructive ownership rules under the Code are complex and may cause Units actually owned by a group of individuals and/or entities to be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual or entity. As a result, the acquisition of less than 9.8% in value or in number of our Units could, nevertheless, cause an individual or entity to own constructively in excess of the ownership limit.

If any transfer of our Units would result in our Units being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons, would result in any person violating the ownership limit, or would otherwise result in the Company failing to qualify as a REIT, then that number of Units (rounded up to the nearest whole Units) that would cause us to violate such restrictions will be automatically transferred to, and held by, a trust for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable organizations selected by us. The intended transferee will acquire no rights in such Units, the automatic transfer being effective as of the close of business day prior to the date of the event which resulted in the improper transfer, and any dividends mistakenly paid to the intended transferee prior to the discovery that the transfer was improper must be repaid, upon demand, to the trustee for the benefit of the designated charitable organization.

A Member may assign his, her or its Interests only if certain conditions set forth in the Amended Operating Agreement are satisfied and any Transfer of Units requires Manager approval. "Transfer" is defined broadly by the Amended Operating Agreement to include, among other things, any event which causes any Person to acquire beneficial ownership of the Interests, or which gives them the right to acquire beneficial ownership (such as the granting of options). The agreement provides that, assuming the assignment does not violate the above provisions or applicable laws and does not cause any other material adverse effect to the Company, the Manager shall approve any assignments by Members to their spouse, their immediate family (parents, siblings, or descendants), or to a trust for the benefit of the Member', the Member's spouse, or the Member's immediate family.

Except as otherwise consented to by the Manager, the assignee of transferred Units must meet all suitability standards and other requirements applicable to other original subscribers and must consent in writing to be bound by all the terms of the Amended Operating Agreement and provide the Manager with a power of attorney in the form set forth in the Amended Operating Agreement or otherwise approved by the Manager. In addition, the Company must receive written evidence of the assignment in a form approved by the Manager (which must include the signature of the transferor bearing a Medallion Signature Guarantee stamp) and the Manager must have consented in writing to the assignment. The Manager may withhold this consent in its sole and absolute discretion. Prior to the Manager's consenting to any assignment, the Member must pay all reasonable expenses, including accounting and attorneys' fees, incurred by the Company in connection with the assignment.

Each distribution will be paid to the Person who the Company's records show to be the Member or Assignee associated with each particular Unit as of the date a distribution is declared. Transferors who owned one or more Units for part of a distribution period but did not own those Units on the date the distribution was declared will not receive any distributions on account of the transferred Units.

REIT Election

Our Amended Operating Agreement provides that our Manager may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without the approval of our Members, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify as a REIT.

Dissolution of the Company

The Company shall be dissolved upon the occurrence of any of the following events: (i) The Manager may dissolve the Company once all Company Assets have been liquidated and all remaining Company Assets have been distributed to the Members; (ii) the withdrawal of the Manager unless the Company has at least one Manager remaining or the Class B Members vote to continue business and appoint one or more Managers; (iii) the withdrawal of all Members; (iv) the Company is ordered to be dissolved upon the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Accounting Records and Reports

The books of account of the Company shall be kept using appropriate accounting basis and methods, as determined by the Manager, unless otherwise required by law, and shall be closed and balanced at the end of each Company year. The Manager shall, at the Company's expense, use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Company to furnish to each of the Members (a) Form 1099 by January 31 of each year and (b) annual financial reports within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the end of each calendar year. All financial statements and reports shall be prepared at the expense of the Company.

Exclusive Authority of our Manager to Amend our Amended Operating Agreement

Our Manager may amend our Amended Operating Agreement without seeking approval of the Members so long as the Manager reasonably determines that such amendment will not subject any Member to any material, adverse economic consequences.

Alternative Dispute Resolution

Our Amended Operating Agreement contains a dispute resolution agreement. Litigation could require diversion of Company Profits to pay attorney's fees or could tie up Company funds necessary for operation of the Company, impacting the profitability of the investment for all Members. The Company compels Members to attempt mediation followed by arbitration. This provision excludes claims under federal securities laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

We believe this is enforceable under federal law and the laws of the state of Delaware as it not only clear and unambiguous, but it clearly states, multiple times, that the Member is waiving his/her right to bring a claim in a court of law before a judge or a jury. The Alternative Dispute Resolution Act (1998) requires all federal district courts to authorize and promote the use of alternative dispute resolution programs. The state of Delaware encourages arbitration and passed the Delaware Rapid Arbitration Act (DRAA) which is designed to make arbitration practice timelier and more efficient. The DRAA imposes time limitations on the arbitrator compelling arbitration to complete within 120 days with a 60-day extension.

The Delaware Chancery Court Rules allow parties in a litigation to seek mediation of their pending action in front of a judicial officer different from the one overseeing their litigation. Delaware law also allows for mediation of business and technology disputes where no litigation is already pending. Thus, parties may initiate a mediation in the Court of Chancery without filing a lawsuit. Business entities get access to the experienced Court of Chancery judges, but they also get to resolve their disputes in an efficient and confidential manner. The Court of Chancery's tradition of flexibility applies in ADR as well, as the parties are able to customize the ADR process to meet their specific needs.

Despite these laws and rules in place, we are uncertain of the enforceability of any Alternative Dispute Resolution provision.

Members, by agreeing to this alternative dispute resolution, will not be deemed to have waived the company's compliance with the federal securities laws. If, in any action against the Manager, the selected or appointed arbitrator, or judge (if applicable) makes a specific finding that the Manager has violated securities laws, or has otherwise engaged in any of the actions for which the Manager will not be indemnified, the Manager must bear the cost of its own legal defense. The Manager must reimburse the Company for any such costs previously paid by the Company. Until the Company has been fully reimbursed, the Manager will not be entitled to receive any Fees or distributions it may otherwise be due.

It is expected that all Members, including those in secondary transactions, would be subject to the arbitration provision.

Power of Attorney

By becoming a party to the Amended Operating Agreement, each Member will appoint the Manager as his or her attorney-in-fact and empower and authorize the Manager to make, execute, acknowledge, publish, and file on behalf of the Member in all necessary or appropriate places, such documents as may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the purchase, financing, refinancing, sale, or management of the properties, as well as those documents that may be necessary or appropriate to qualify or continue the Company in the jurisdictions in which the Company may conduct business or to reflect a transfer of any Interests in the Company or the admission of a Member in accordance with the terms of the Amended Operating Agreement.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We may from time to time be involved in routine legal matters incidental to our business; however, at this point in time the Company is not currently involved in any litigation, nor are we aware of any threatened or impending litigation against the Company.

Our Manager and Grant Cardone are currently defendants in a putative class action lawsuit brought by an investor who alleges violations of the federal securities laws in connection with the sale of interests in Cardone Equity Fund V, LLC and Cardone Equity Fund VI, LLC. *Luis Pino v. Cardone Capital LLC et al.*, Case # 2:20-cv-08499-JFW was filed in Federal District Court for the Central District of California on September 16, 2020 and dismissed with prejudice on April 30, 2021. Having lost in Federal District Court, the plaintiff filed an appeal to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals on May 28, 2021, Case # 21-55564. Our Manager and Mr. Cardone do not believe that this case will interfere with their ability to manage the affairs of the Company.

OFFERING PRICE FACTORS

Our offering price is arbitrary with no relation to value of the company. This offering is a self-underwritten offering, which means that it does not involve the participation of an underwriter to market, distribute or sell the shares offered under this offering.

If the maximum amount of Class A Interests are sold under this Offering, the purchasers under this Offering will own 100% of the Class A Units outstanding.

If the minimum amount of Class A Interests are sold under this Offering, the purchasers under this Offering will own 100% of the Class A Units outstanding.

If the maximum amount of the Class A Interests are sold, the price per Unit value will be \$1,000 per Units for a total of \$75,000,000.

If the minimum amount of the Class A Interests are sold, the price per Unit value will be \$1.000 per Units for a total of \$1,000,000.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information as of the date of this Offering.

Title of Class	Name of Beneficial Owner Cardone Capital LLC	Number of Units Before Offering 1.000	Percent Before Offering	Number of Units After Offering 1.000	Percent After Offering 100%
	TOTAL	1,000	20%	1,000	20%
Class A Interests	Cardone Capital LLC	0	0%	0	0%
Class A Interests	Grant Cardone	25	100%	25	0.033%
	TOTAL	1,000	80%	1,000	0.026%

Grant Cardone, our Founder and Chief Executive Officer has dispositive control over the Class B Interests that are owned by our Manager, Cardone Capital LLC. No entity or Member currently owns any Class A Interests in the Company. Class A Interests are being sold through this Offering. Upon sale, the Class A Interests will maintain a 80% interest in the Company overall and Class B Interests will maintain a 20% interest in the Company overall. However, investors should note that Class A Units do not have voting rights, and any matter that requires the approval of more than 50 percent of the then current percentage of interests in the Company under the Amended Operating Agreement or Delaware Law shall require only the affirmative vote of more than 50 percent of the then currently issued Class B Interests were issued as founder's interest for no consideration. Class A interests were sold to Grant Cardone on the same terms as Class A Units are being offered pursuant to this Offering Circular.

"Beneficial ownership" means the sole or shared power to vote or to direct the voting of, a security, or the sole or shared investment power with respect to a security (i.e., the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of, a security). In addition, for purposes of this table, a person is deemed, as of any date, to have "beneficial ownership" of any security that such person has the right to acquire within 60 days from the date of this Offering.

MANAGER, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS

The Principals of the Manager of the Company are as follows:

Name	Age	Title	Term at Cardone Capital LLC
Grant Cardone	63	Founder and CEO	July 2017 (Inception) to Present
Ryan Tseko	36	Executive Vice President	July 2017 (Inception) to Present
Dan Bell	50	Chief Operating Officer	May 2021 to Present
Susan Schieman	65	Chief Financial Officer	January 2018 to Present

All of the above individuals work full time for the Company's Manager, Cardone Capital LLC, but the Manager is responsible (in its role as Manager to other Entities) for the management of thirty-one (31) multifamily communities and two office building valued at over \$2.6 billion, as described in the section entitled **"PRIOR PERFORMANCE."**

Duties, Responsibilities and Experience

Mr. Cardone is the sole decision maker of Cardone Capital LLC which is the Manager of the Company. All business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by the Manager. The Manager shall direct, manage, and control the Company to the best of its ability and shall have full and complete authority, power, and discretion to make any and all decisions and to do any and all things that the Manager shall deem to be reasonably required to accomplish the business and objectives of the Company. The rights and duties of the Manager is described in the Amended Operating Agreement.

The principals of the Manager are as follows:

Grant Cardone

President and Chief Executive Officer

Grant Cardone is the Founder of Cardone Capital LLC, the Company's Manager, and Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC, the Manager's acquisition arm. Mr. Cardone started Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC in 1995. Mr. Cardone has over 30 years of experience investing in multifamily real estate properties. He currently manages a real estate portfolio with 9,864 apartment units and over 220,000 square feet of Class A office space valued in excess of \$2.6 billion. Over the years, Grant has led over 70 transactions across eight states: California, North Carolina, Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Arizona, Tennessee and Texas.

Ryan Tseko

Executive Vice President

Ryan is often referred to as Grant Cardone's right-hand man but his actual title is Executive Vice President of Cardone Capital. Ryan was a key driver in building the real estate portfolio to its current level and implementing Cardone Capital's strategy. It all started 7 years ago when Grant took him under his wing, literally. He was Grant's airline pilot and had already built a decent size real estate portfolio in his twenties, consisting of 21 properties.

From an early age, he loved the long game of real estate and its ability to create generational wealth. Naturally, he made a discernible shift from flying to managing Cardone Capital. In direct correlation to his innate management and entrepreneurial mindset, he was able to dramatically grow Cardone Capital to its current stature. Grant and Ryan have led the team to raise over \$600,000,000 via Crowd Funding alone.

He received his Bachelor of Science in Aviation and Airway Management along with Operations from Utah Valley University.

Dan Bell

Chief Operating Officer

Dan Bell has 25 years of finance and operations experience and joined Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC in 2021 as the Chief Operating Officer. In this capacity he is responsible for all non-acquisition functions and the day-to-day operations of the Manager. From 2000 to 2011, Dan was an investment banker at Credit Suisse focused initially on mergers and acquisitions and subsequently equity capital markets. During his tenure at Credit Suisse, Dan completed approximately \$75 billion of advisory and financing transactions. During 2012 to 2015, Dan was the Co-Head of Strategy and Capital Markets at Annaly Capital Management where he was responsible for acquisitions, capital raising, and organizational strategy for a publicly traded real estate investment trust with over \$100 billion of assets. Dan also served as the Head of Finance for a real estate family office. Dan began his career at Bank of America as a leveraged loan analyst. He holds a B.S. in Business Administration with a finance concentration from West Virginia University.

Susan Schieman

Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Schieman has over 30 years of private industry and public accounting experience including; serving as Chief Financial Officer for a multi-family real estate company, a multi-family property manager and a real estate development company. In addition, she spent 10 years with venture capital firms and 15 years in public accounting, including 10 years with Deloitte and Touche. While in public accounting, she has worked with clients from numerous industries including multi-family real estate, commercial and retail real estate, real estate development, technology, finance and manufacturing, ranging in size from Fortune 500 companies to startup businesses. From 2004 to 2013, Ms. Schieman was the CFO of Blue Chip Venture Company. Her experience as a venture capital Chief Financial Officer included supervising the back-office operations for four venture capital firms with more than \$700 million of assets under management. From 2013 to 2014, she served as CFO of RG Properties, Inc, a privately held office and retail developer and property manager. From there and until 2016, she served as CFO of Trez Forman Capital Group, LP. Ms. Schieman served as a real estate consultant and CFO for Ventron Management, LLC, a multifamily real estate manager and fund manager with over 7,700 units, until she began her tenure in 2018 as the CFO for Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions and its related companies, Ms. Schieman received her BS in Accounting from Bowling Green State University, Ohio and her MBA, concentrating on Management Information Systems, with honors from Xavier University, Cincinnati, OH.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth the cash compensation of Manager:

						Option					
Name and Principal Position	Year	Sa	lary	Bo	onus	Aw	ards	All Other Compensation(1)			
Cardone Capital LLC, Manager	2021	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	100% of the Class B Interests			

The Class B Interests were issued as founder's interest for no consideration. Currently the Manager holds 100% of the Member's equity of the Company. Upon issuance of the Minimum Offering Amount, the Manager's Class B Interest will be a 20% profits interest, although the Manager may choose (in its sole discretion) to defer the allocation of the full 20% of Distributable Cash to Class B Members until after Class A Members have had all of their Capital Contributions returned.

Employment Agreements

There are no current employment agreements or current intentions to enter into any employment agreements.

Future Compensation

Our Manager and its principals, employees, and affiliates will provide services to us in exchange for the fees and compensation set forth below in **"CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS"**. The Manager received Class B Interests for no consideration.

Transfer Agent

We intend to enlist the services of Computershare as our transfer agent.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company utilizes office space provided at no cost from our Manager. Office services are provided without charge by the Company's Manager

We issued 100% of the Class B Interests on August 31, 2021 to our Manager for no consideration. The Manager is controlled by Grant Cardone. Grant Cardone is the manager of the Manager. The Manager shall receive the following fees and compensation:

Fee	Timing of the Fee	Amount or Description of Fee						
Acquisition Fee	Fees charged to the Company as Properties are acquired	The Manager or its designated assigns will earn an acquisition and due diligence fee of 1.0% of the purchase price of the individual property (multiplied by the percentage of the property that the Company is investing in, in the case of a co- investment). Total fees are difficult to determine at this time, but are estimated in the section entitled "USE OF PROCEEDS", above.						
Asset Management Fee	Fees charged to the Company for management of its investments	The Manager or its designated assigns will earn an asset management fee of 1% of the total Capital Contributions made to the Company by its Members (i.e., paid for the purchase of Class A Interests), accrued monthly.						
Disposition Fee	Fees charged to the Company as Properties are disposed of	The Manager or its designated assigns will earn a disposition Fee of 1.0% of the sales price of the individual property (multiplied by the percentage of the property that the Company is investing in, in the case of a co-investment). Total fees are difficult to determine at this time.						
Disposition Fee	2 1 5	sales price of the individual property (multiplied by the pe that the Company is investing in, in the case of a co-inv						

Timing of the Fee	Amount or Description of Fee
Fees charged monthly during property operation as compensation for day-to- day management services provided	The Manager and/or an affiliated or third-party property managers will receive (in addition to reimbursement of expenses and costs) a property management fee for each Property managed at market rate (the approximate cost of property management services under present circumstances if such cost were negotiated at arms' length, as estimated by the Manager in good faith) calculated on the monthly gross income from that Property, paid as an expense of the Property. Total fees are difficult to determine at this time.
Fees charged to the Company as Services are Provided	The Manager and/or its affiliates will be reimbursed the fair value for provision of professional services to the Company at reasonable commercial rates on either an hourly or per-service basis
Fees charged to the Company as Services are Provided	The Manager and/or its affiliates may receive market rate fees (the approximate cost of a good or service under present circumstances if such cost were negotiated at arms' length, as estimated by the Manager in good faith) and costs for any construction, construction management, repair and maintenance work performed, and real estate and loan brokerage fees with respect to such services provided to or with regard to each such property. Total fees are difficult to determine at this time.
	Fees charged monthly during property operation as compensation for day-to- day management services provided Fees charged to the Company as Services are Provided Fees charged to the Company as

Fee	Timing of the Fee	Amount or Description of Fee
Reimbursement of Expenses	Reimbursements Provided as Expenses are Incurred	The Manager or its affiliates will receive reimbursement of reasonable expenses paid or incurred by the Manager or its affiliates in connection with the Company's operations, including any legal, financial and tax reporting, and accounting costs, which may be paid from Capital Contributions, operating revenue, or reserves. The Manager may also reimburse Members of the Company for such expenses incurred by them in connection with the Company's operations, as decided in the Manager's sole discretion. Total reimbursements are difficult to determine at this time.
Loans	Loans Repaid According to their Terms	The Manager and/or its affiliates may receive compensation from the Company for providing loans, including, but not limited to, purchase mortgages, refinance mortgages, and construction lines of credit. Such loans, if any, will be on terms that the Manager believes to be no less favorable to the Company than generally available from third parties; however, loan terms will be established by the Manager in good faith and not as a result of arm's length negotiations. Loan terms and amounts are difficult to determine at this time.
Carried Interest	Class B Interest	20% profits interest and 20% of Distributable Cash. Note that the Manager may choose (in its sole discretion) to defer the allocation of the full 20% of Distributable Cash to Class B Members until after Class A Members have had all of their Capital Contributions returned.

The Manager in its sole discretion, may suspend, delay, accrue, or forego payment of any of the fees listed above unless otherwise contractually bound. Fees not paid when earned will be paid as an expense of the Company when Company resources allow, or will be paid when after the sale of the Company's assets.

PRIOR PERFORMANCE

Prior Performance is Not Indicative of Future Results

The Manager of the Company is Cardone Capital LLC, and the principal owner and manager of the Manager is Grant Cardone.

From 2017 to the present, Grant Cardone, as the sole principal of the Manager, Cardone Capital LLC, and its acquisition arm, Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC. Over the years, Mr. Cardone has participated in over 70 multifamily transactions valued at over \$2.3 billion located in Alabama, California, Arizona, Texas, Georgia, Tennessee, Florida, Maryland and North Carolina and two office building acquisitions. The office buildings are both located in Aventura, FL, one is Cardone Enterprises headquarters with 23,000 sq. ft. and the other has 220,000 sq. ft.

He currently manages thirty-one (31) multifamily communities and two office buildings valued at over \$2.6 billion.

As of July 31, 2021, out of the twenty-nine (29) communities and two office buildings, 18 of these acquisitions involved 12 different offerings of securities, raising over \$527 million from over 5,400 investors. One offering is currently open, Cardone Equity Fund XV, for investment and is not included in the following tables. For the closed funds, we refer to each of these securities offerings and the properties they included as "Projects". Each of the Projects has investment objectives that are similar to the investment objectives of the Company. Each Project is identified below "Cardone Equity Fund [#]."

All of these Projects were deemed to be similar in nature in that they raised funds from private equity offerings exempt from registration pursuant to the safe harbor afforded by Regulation D under the Securities Act for the primary purpose of acquiring and/or investing in income-producing multifamily real estate assets as long-term investments for eventual sale. Two of the Projects raised funds under Regulation A+ and parallel invested along with Regulation D offerings.

Because of these similarities, investors who are considering purchasing Class A Interests from the Company might find it useful to review information about the Projects. Of course, prospective investors should bear in mind that prior performance does not guarantee future results. The fact that a prior Project has been successful (or unsuccessful) does not mean the Company will experience the same results.

There have been no major adverse business developments or conditions experienced by any Project that would be material to purchasers of the Company's Class A Interests.

STRATEGY AND RESULTS

As described at length in "DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS —Investment Strategy" section starting on page 55, the strategy of our Manager on the behalf of the Company is to:

- 1) Identify Class A and Class B multifamily apartment communities in quality locations in the Company's target markets, where the Company can add significant value through third-party hands-on management and/or appreciation potential;
- 2) Invest in those communities at prices where there is sufficient upside potential to obtain attractive returns over the long term;
- 3) Make physical alterations and other improvements to those communities, where the Company can achieve significant benefit; and
- 4) Through third-party management, increase the rents to increase the overall value of the property.
- Net Operating We calculate "net operating income" using the industry-standard definition, *i.e.*, the gross income from the property minus operating expenses. Income The gross income from a property means primarily rental income, but where applicable also includes other income items such as parking fees and income from operating vending machines and laundry facilities. Operating expenses include all of the expenses required to operate the property, such as insurance, property management fees, utilities, property taxes, repairs and janitorial fees. Net operating income does not reflect debt service payments (principal and interest), capital expenditures, or depreciation and amortization.
- Cash On Cash Distribution We calculate "cash on cash distribution" by dividing the distributions paid by the total equity invested. For example, suppose a property were purchased for \$100, using \$80 of debt and \$20 of equity, and the property paid a distribution of \$2 for a given year. The "cash on cash distribution" for that year would be 10%, \$2 divided by \$20.
- IRR "Internal rate of return" is a financial concept that measures the overall return from an investment, taking into account all the money invested and all the money returned, as well as the timing of each contribution and distribution.

As of July 31, 2021 and October 29, 2021, no Projects have been sold.

CAUTION: PRIOR PERFORMANCE DOES NOT GUARANTEE FUTURE RESULTS. THE FACT THAT OUR SPONSOR HAS BEEN SUCCESSFUL WITH THESE PROJECTS DOES NOT GUARANTY THAT THE COMPANY WILL BE SUCCESSFUL.

Acquisitions of Properties Within Last Five Years

During the last five years, the Manager has purchased 20 properties for over \$1.7 billion with outside investors, which have an aggregate of 6,836 apartment units and 220,000 sq. ft of commercial office space.

Prior Performance Tables

The Manager of the Company is Cardone Capital LLC, and the principal owner and manager of the Manager is Grant Cardone.

From 1995 to the present, Grant Cardone, as the sole principal of the Manager, Cardone Capital LLC, and its acquisition arm, Cardone Real Estate Acquisitions, LLC, has purchased over 50 multifamily communities and two office buildings in transactions with a total acquisition cost at over \$2.3 billion and currently has 31 multifamily properties that are valued over \$2.5 billion. Mr. Cardone has managed or purchased apartment communities in Alabama, California, Arizona, Texas, Georgia, Tennessee, Florida, Maryland and North Carolina.

Nine (9) of the properties purchased by Mr. Cardone and his team were acquired with the proceeds of eight (8) private offerings of securities made exclusively to Accredited Investors as defined in Regulation D under the Securities Act. Additionally, nine (9) other properties were purchased by two groups of funds which included a Regulation A+ fund (primarily for non-accredited investors) along with a Regulation D fund. Cardone Equity Fund V and Cardone Equity Fund IV parallel invested in 5 properties and Cardone Equity Fund VI and Cardone Equity Fund VIII parallel invested in four properties. We refer to each of these securities offerings and the properties they included as a "Project." As of July 31, 2021 and October 29, 2021, none of the Projects were sold or transferred.

All of these Projects were deemed to be similar in nature in that they raised funds from offerings exempt from registration pursuant to the safe harbor afforded by Regulation D and Regulation A+ under the Securities Act for the primary purpose of acquiring and/or investing in multifamily and commercial real estate assets as long-term investments for eventual sale. In addition, Each of the Projects also has investment objectives that are identical to the investment objectives of the Company.

Prior Performance Tables

We are providing a number of tables that illustrate the results of the Projects:

Table	Projects Included in Table	Purpose and Subject Matter
I. Experience Raising Funds	Projects the offering of which closed within the last three years	Provides information concerning the offerings themselves, including how the offering proceeds were deployed.
II. Compensation to Sponsor	Other Projects from which the Sponsor received compensation during the last three years	Describes all compensation paid to the sponsor within the last three years, whether in the form of management fees
III. Operating Results	Projects the offering of which closed within the last five years.	Sets forth the annual operating results of the Projects included.
IV. Completed Projects	Projects completed (no longer own properties) within the last five years.	Summarizes the results of the Projects included, including the return to Project investors.
V. Sales of Property	All Projects that have sold property within the last three years.	Summarizes the result of property sales.
VI. Purchases of Property	Purchases of property within the last three years.	Summarizes each property purchase, including number of units, purchase price, and financing.

Because of the similarities between the Projects and the Company, investors who are considering purchasing Class A Interests from the Company might find it useful to review these tables. However, prospective investors should bear in mind that PRIOR PERFORMANCE DOES NOT GUARANTEE FUTURE RESULTS. THE FACT THAT OUR MANAGER HAS BEEN SUCCESSFUL WITH THESE PROJECTS DOES NOT GUARANTEE THAT THE COMPANY WILL BE SUCCESSFUL.

The prior performance tables reflect properties whose manager or managing member is the Manager and/or Grant Cardone. Our Manager, Cardone Capital LLC, was formed in 2017 by Grant Cardone. Over time, the assets owned by the various entities and managed by the Manager or Grant Cardone will be sold.

Table I – Manager Experience (unaudited) - sets forth the Manager's historical experience for all projects that started to raise capital in the last three years and were closed on or before June 30, 2021:

	СЕШ	CEIV	CE V*	CE VI*	CE VIII	CE IX	CEX	CEXI	CE XII	CE XIV
Dollar										
Amount	¢ 45 000 000	# 125 000 000	¢ 50 000 000	¢ =0.000.000	¢100.000.000	¢ =0 000 000	¢75.000.000	¢ =0 000 000	¢ 50 000 000	¢ 50 000 000
Offered Dollar	\$45,000,000	\$125,000,000	\$50,000,000	\$50,000,000	\$100,000,000	\$50,000,000	\$75,000,000	\$50,000,000	\$50,000,000	\$ 50,000,000
Amount										
Raised	\$45,000,000	\$106,000,000	\$50,000,000	\$29,463,000	\$ 79,297,000	\$47,600,000	\$64,500,000	\$38,400,000	\$33,400,000	\$20,500,000
Less	,,	+ , ,	,,		•,,	4 . , , ,		+,,	,	+,,
Offering										
Expenses	\$ 360,160	\$ 203,597	\$ 147,220	\$ 102,707	\$ 108,566	\$ 51,682	\$ 43,450	\$ 38,374	\$ 27,950	\$ 14,810
Reserves	\$ 1,584,692	\$ 3,238,039	\$ 1,459,357	\$ 414,351	\$ 435,649	\$ 1,909,564	\$ 286,585	\$ 360,000	\$ 902,700	\$ 630,000
Percent available for										
investment	96%	97%	97%	99%	99%	96%	6 100%	99%	97%	97%
Acquisition										
Costs	\$43,055,148	\$102,558,364	\$48,393,423	\$28,945,942	\$ 78,752,785	\$45,638,754	\$64,169,966	\$38,001,626	\$32,469,350	\$ 19,855,190
Percent Leverage of underlying real estate										
investment	71%	69%	69%	72%	72%	65%	64%	65%	80%	72%
Date Offering Began	7/13/2017	6/1/2018	12/12/2018	9/26/2019	10/18/2019	6/19/2020	9/1/2020	1/6/2021	3/24/2021	3/31/2021
Length of Offering (in months)	10.7	16.6	9.5	9.1	8.4	3.5	4.0	3.3	2.5	2.6
Months to Invest 90% of amount										
available	7.4	16.1	8.5	8.8	7.0	1.8	3.9	2.4	1.8	2.6

* Derived from audited financial statements

Table II- Managers Compensation (unaudited)- summarizes the compensation the Manager received from the projects closed during the most recent three years as of December 31, 2020:

Type of Compensation	СЕШ	CE IV ⁽¹⁾	CE V ⁽¹⁾	CE VI	CE VIII	CE IX ⁽²⁾	CE X ⁽²⁾	CE XI ⁽²⁾	CE XII ⁽²⁾	CE XIV ⁽²⁾
Date Offering Commenced	7/13/2017	6/1/2018	12/12/2018	9/26/2019	10/18/2019	6/19/2020	9/1/2020	1/6/2021	3/24/2021	3/31/2021
Dollar Amount										
Raised	\$45,000,000	\$106,000,000	\$ 50,000,000	\$29,463,000	\$ 79,297,000	\$47,600,000	\$64,500,000	\$38,400,000	\$33,400,000	\$20,500,000
Amount paid to sponsor from proceeds of Offering:										
-Acquisition Fee	\$ 0(4)	\$ 2,042,390(5)) \$ 849,330(6)	\$ 903,820	\$ 2,429,465	\$ 1,215,000	\$ 1,640,000	\$ 979,000	\$ 910,000	\$ 690,000
Other ⁽³⁾	\$ 4,865,189	\$ 7,056,126	\$ 3,551,788	\$ 2,933,467	\$ 7,493,152	\$ 3,637,941	\$ 4,612,213	\$ 2,643,443	\$ 2,748,812	\$ 1,518,890
Dollar Amount Generated from Operations before Deducting Payments to Sponsor: Amount paid	\$ 6,534,592	\$ 8,427,809	\$ 3,670,431	\$ 1,393,914	\$ 4,273,357	\$ 1,909,699	\$ 1,828,988	\$ 527,071	\$ 318,489	\$ (32,412)

to sponsor from

operations: -Asset

Management

-Organizational

Fees and

Expenses \$ 360,100 \$ 203,597 \$ 147,220 \$ 102,707 \$ 108,566 \$ 51,682 \$ 43,450 \$ 38,374 \$ 27,950 \$ 14,810

- (1) Derived from audited financial statements
- (2)
- (3)
- Project is less than one year old, information is through June 30, 2021. Includes reimbursements and marketing costs. Acquisition fee totaling \$1,366,500 is due. Balance will be paid at a later date from reserves, operations or at disposition. (4)
- (5) Acquisition fee totaling \$997,613 is due. Balance will be paid at a later date from reserves, operations, or at disposition.
- Acquisition fee totaling \$575,411 is due. Balance will be paid at a later date from reserves, operations, or at disposition. (6)
- (7) CE XIV has not received a cash distribution from its investment through June 30, 2021, resulting in a negative balance.

The respective projects still retain ownership of the properties and intend to hold each property for up to 10 years. At the time of disposition of the properties, the Manager will receive a 1% disposition fee based on the sale of the property.

Tables III(a) - III(h) - Operating Results of Prior Projects - set forth the operating results of properties included in prior real estate projects:

 Table III(a) – Operating Results of CE I (unaudited)

		Period from Sept 30, 2016 (Date of Inception) to Dec 31, 2016		Year Ended Dec 31, 2017		Year Ended Dec 31, 2018		Year Ended Dec 31, 2019		Year Ended Dec 31, 2020	
Summary of Income Statement Data:											
Gross revenue-	\$	624,784	\$	2,645,213	\$	2,736,511	\$	2,862,516	\$	2,960,208	
Less-Operating expenses	\$	313,816	\$	1,275,944	\$	1,326,185	\$	1,432,679	\$	1,417,398	
Net operating income	\$	310,968	\$	1,369,269	\$	1,410,327	\$	1,429,837	\$	1,542,810	
Interest expense	\$	152,386	\$	597,986	\$	598,163	\$	598,075	\$	599,713	
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	167,608	\$	579,013	\$	2,560,444	\$	740,490	\$	727,159	
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	(9,026)	\$	192,270	\$	(1,748,281)	\$	91,272	\$	215,938	
Taxable Income from operations	\$	117,936	\$	116,117	\$	(1,731,797)	\$	2,105	\$	198,323	
Cash generated from operations	\$	285,544	\$	695,130	\$	828,647	\$	742,595	\$	925,482	
Cash used in investing activities	\$	(50,954)	\$	(18,042)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Cash used in financing activities											
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Less-Cash distributions to investors											
-from operating cash flow	\$	60,000	\$	593,899	\$	623,400	\$	659,803	\$	578,550	
-less cash distribution to Manager				162,907		180,600		200,200		156,450	
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	174,590	\$	(79,718)	\$	24,647	\$	(117,408)	\$	190,482	
<i>Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:</i> Federal Income Tax Results:											
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	24.57	\$	24.19	\$	(360.79)	\$	0.44	\$	41.32	
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽²⁾											
-From Operations	\$	12.50	\$	123.73	\$	129.88	\$	137.46	\$	120.53	
Summary Balance Sheet:											
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	19,951,040	\$	19,551,475	\$	19,555,454	\$	19,530,493	\$	19,753,606	
Fixed assets	\$	19,026,284	\$	18,466,237	\$	15,913,914	\$	15,181,550	\$	14,462,517	
Cash, including restricted	\$	106,452	\$	45,042	\$	273,574	\$	243,117	\$	462,319	
Other assets	\$	650,696	\$	293,575	\$	48,717	\$	54,213	\$	58,124	
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	19,783,432	\$	18,804,854	\$	16,236,205	\$	15,478,880	\$	14,982,960	
Current liabilities	\$	235.483	\$	224,112	\$	239.022	\$	233,700	\$	295,815	
Long-term liabilities	\$	14,864,374	\$	14,976,898	\$	14,985,025	\$	14,993,151	\$	15,001,276	
Total liabilities	\$	15,099,857	\$	15,201,010	\$	15,224,047	\$	15,226,850	\$	15,297,091	
Members' Capital	\$	4,683,575	\$	3,603,844	\$	1,012,158	\$	252,029	\$	(314,132)	
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	19,783,432	\$	18,804,854	\$	16,236,205	\$	15,478,880	\$	14,982,960	
Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).		100%		100%)	100%		100%		1009	

(1) Note: CE I owns 99% of the underlying Single Purpose real estate Entity (SPE); therefore, only that portion is reflected in Table III.

Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For example, CE I cash Distributions to Investors from operating cash flow totals \$60,000 divided by total equity of \$4.8M times 1,000.

Table III(b) – Operating Results of CE II (unaudited)

	Aı Ir	eriod from ug 16, 2016 (Date of aception) to	Ye	ar Ended Dec	Ye	ar Ended Dec	Ye	ar Ended Dec 31. 2019	Ye	ar Ended Dec
Summary of Income Statement Data:	D	ec 31, 2016		31, 2017		31, 2018		31, 2019		31, 2020
Gross revenue-	¢	722,394	\$	\$4,061,740	¢	4,217,254	¢	4,379,181	\$	4,383,349
	\$ \$	210,604	\$ \$	1,508,110	\$ \$		\$ \$	4,379,181	ծ Տ	4,383,349
Less-Operating expenses	ֆ Տ		\$ \$		ծ \$	1,615,933			ֆ Տ	
Net operating income		511,790		2,553,630		2,601,321	\$	2,783,638		2,672,496
Interest expense	\$	218,951	\$	1,207,733	\$	1,214,002	\$	1,210,867	\$	1,214,185
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	228,015	\$	1,098,344	\$	3,774,739	\$	1,377,961	\$	1,231,737
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	64,824	\$	\$247,553	\$	(2,387,420)	\$	194,810	\$	226,574
Taxable Income from operations	\$	157,174	\$	(229,898)	\$	(2,348,438)	\$	73,295	\$	166,953
Cash generated from operations	\$	214,354(1)	\$	868,446	\$	1,426,301	\$	1,451,256	\$	1,398,690
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$	(14,919)	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Cash used in financing activities										
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Less-Cash distributions to investors										
-from operating cash flow	\$	0	\$	952,353	\$	961,146	\$	1,110,803	\$	999,658
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	0	\$	244,652	\$	224,654	\$	329,000	\$	269,150
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	214,354	\$	(343,478)	\$	240,501	\$	11,453	\$	129,882
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:										
Federal Income Tax Results:										
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	18.87	\$	(27.60)	\$	(281.93)	\$	8.80	\$	20.04
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽²⁾										
-From Operations	\$	0	\$	114.33	\$	115.38	\$	133.35	\$	120.01
Summary Balance Sheet:										
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	37,849,516	\$	37,585,630	\$	37,103,005	\$	37,164,506	\$	37,319,877
Fixed assets	\$	36,408,703	\$	35,341,467	\$	31,582,916	\$	30,221,144	\$	29,013,996
Cash, including restricted	\$	137,228	\$	508,753	\$	374,690	\$	436,778	\$	575,992
Other assets	\$	1,075,570	\$	409,051	\$	79,112	\$	78,524	\$	86,282
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	37,621,501	\$	36,259,271	\$	32,036,718	\$	30,736,447	\$	29,676,270
Current liabilities	\$	211,744	\$	381,044	\$	247,860	\$	197,234	\$	245,294
Long-term liabilities	\$	29,056,433	\$	29,056,733	\$	29,072,922	\$	29,089,111	\$	29,105,300
Total liabilities	\$	29,268,177	\$	29,437,777	\$	29,320,782	\$	29,286,345	\$	29,350,594
Members' Capital	\$	8,353,324	\$	6,821,494	\$	2,715,936	\$	1,450,102	\$	325,677
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	37,621,501	\$	36,259,271	\$	32,036,718	\$	30,736,447	\$	29,676,270
Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).		100%		100%		100%		100%	, D	100%

(1)

Cash generated from investments excludes distribution to Member for income generated prior to the fund raising, 12/1/2016. Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For CE II \$952,353 divided by total equity of \$8.33M times 1,000. (2)
Table III(c) – Operating Results of CE III (unaudited)

	J: Ac	Period from an 30, 2018 (Date of equisition) to ec 31, 2018	Year Ended Dec 31, 2019		Ye	Year Ended Dec 31, 2020	
Summary of Income Statement Data:				,		,	
Gross revenue-	\$	11,436,178	\$	13,070,015	\$	12,537,236	
Less-Operating expenses	\$	5,491,810	\$	5,922,030	\$	6,425,622	
Net operating income	\$	5,944,368	\$	7,147,985	\$	6,111,614	
Interest expense	\$	3,381,036	\$	4,013,754	\$	4,005,486	
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	33,408,048	\$	3,691,010	\$	2,879,787	
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	(30,844,716)	\$	(556,779)	\$	(773,659)	
Taxable Income from operations	\$	(30,343,903)	\$	(1,224,082)	\$	(713,561)	
Cash generated from operations	\$	3,064,145	\$	2,466,928	\$	2,166,226	
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Cash used in financing activities	\$	(1,331,238)	\$	(242,043)	\$	0	
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	(750,000)	\$	0	
Less-Cash distributions to investors							
-from operating cash flow	\$	1,655,502	\$	2,193,978	\$	2,052,882	
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	77,405	\$	(719,093)	\$	113,344	
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:							
Federal Income Tax Results:							
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	(674.31)	\$	(27.20)	\$	(15.86)	
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽¹⁾							
-From Operations	\$	36.79	\$	48.76	\$	45.62	
Summary Balance Sheet:							
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	138,701,908	\$	138,848,717	\$	139,052,343	
Fixed assets	\$	103,662,072	\$	100,837,739	\$	98,053,908	
Cash, including restricted	\$	1,559,184	\$	1,578,640	\$	1,768,250	
Other assets	\$	217,264	\$	231,406	\$	245,421	
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	105,438,520	\$	102,647,784	\$	100,067,579	
Current liabilities	\$	802,801	\$	765,352	\$	942,848	
Long-term liabilities	\$	93,961,958	\$	93,604,262	\$	93,700,218	
Total liabilities	\$	94,764,759	\$	94,369,614	\$	94,643,067	
Members' Capital	\$	10,673,761	\$	8,278,170	\$	5,424,512	
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	105,438,520	\$	102,647,784	\$	100,067,579	
Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year							
reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total		1000		1000		1000	
acquisitions cost of all properties in project).		100%		100%		100%	

(1) Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For CE III \$1,655,502 divided by total equity of \$45M times 1,000.

Table III(d) – Operating Results of CE IV and CE V (unaudited)

				CEIV				CEV			
	D Ac	eriod from ec 15, 2018 (Date of quisition) to ec 31, 2018	Ye	ear Ended Dec 31, 2019	Ye	ear Ended Dec 31, 2020	A	Period from Jan 1, 2019 (Date of cquisition) to Dec 31, 2019	Ye	ar Ended Dec 31, 2020	
Summary of Income Statement Data:	<u> </u>	ec 51, 2018		51, 2019		51, 2020		2019		51, 2020	
Gross revenue-	\$	1,815,829	\$	15,528,208	\$	24,387,092	\$	7.726.110	\$	11.324,215	
Less-Operating expenses	5 \$	561,389	ծ \$	6,899,690	ծ \$	24,387,092	ծ \$	3,458,543	ծ \$	4,941,760	
	\$	1,254,440	\$	8,628,518	\$	13,775,066	\$	4,267,568	\$	6,382,454	
Net operating income	ծ Տ	648,287	ֆ Տ		ծ Տ	7,973,469	ծ Տ		ծ Տ		
Interest expense	ծ Տ		ֆ \$	5,116,906	ծ \$		ծ Տ	2,613,553	ծ Տ	3,801,017	
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	1,242,382	\$	62,775,983	Э	6,983,400	Э	30,475,017	Э	3,182,658	
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	(636,229)	\$	(59,264,372)	\$	(1,181,803)	\$	(28,821,003)	\$	(601,221)	
Taxable Income from operations	\$	(295,361)	\$	(59,322,334)	\$	(1,807,858)	\$	(29,005,537)	\$	(835,650)	
Cash generated from operations	\$	947,021	\$	3,453,649	\$	5,175,542	\$	1,469,480	\$	2,347,008	
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Cash used in financing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Less-Cash distributions to investors											
-from operating cash flow	\$	111,226	\$	2,512,699	\$	4,748,227	\$	1,285,502	\$	2,166,124	
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	835,795	\$	940,950	\$	427,315	\$	183,978	\$	180,884	
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:											
Federal Income Tax Results:											
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	(2.79)	\$	(559.64)	\$	(17.06)	\$	(580.11)	\$	(16.71)	
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽¹⁾											
-From Operations	\$	1.05	\$	23.70	\$	44.79	\$	25.71	\$	43.32	
Summary Balance Sheet:											
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	91,419,135	\$	254,392,299	\$	294,563,596	\$	109,074,450	\$	161,691,397	
Fixed assets	\$	88,988,592	\$	189,016,317	\$	224,246,589	\$	76,434,855	\$	121,494,628	
Cash, including restricted	\$	978,937	\$	3,433,369	\$	3,950,152	\$	1,581,731	\$	2,193,112	
Other assets	\$	202,514	\$	225,558	\$	411,299	\$	87,900	\$	229,114	
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	90,170,043	\$	192,675,245	\$	228,608,040	\$	78,104,486	\$	123,916,854	
Current liabilities	\$	446.204	\$	1,448,784	\$	1,598,750	\$	648.482	\$	901.627	
Long-term liabilities	\$	58.039.915	\$	170,543,316	\$	195,958,651	\$	73,328,049	\$	106,721,689	
Total liabilities	\$	58,486,119	\$	171,992,099	\$	197,557,402	\$	73,976,530	\$	107,623,315	
Members' Capital	\$	31,683,924	\$	20,683,146	\$	31,050,638	\$	4,127,956	\$	16,293,538	
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	90,170,043	\$	192,675,245	\$	228,608,040	\$	78,104,486	\$	123,916,854	
Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided											
by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).		100%		100%)	100%		100%		1009	

Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For example, CE IV cash Distributions to Investors from operating cash flow totals \$111,226 divided by total equity of \$106M times 1,000; CE V \$1,285,502 divided by total (1) equity of \$50M times 1,000.

Table III(e) – Operating Results of CE VI and CE VIII (unaudited)

		CE	ĪVI			CE		
	Oc Ac	eriod from ct 16, 2019 (Date of quisition) to	Ye	ear Ended Dec	A	Period from Oct 16, 2019 (Date of cquisition) to	Ye	ar Ended Dec
	De	ec 31, 2019		31, 2020		ec 31, 2019		31, 2020
Summary of Income Statement Data:								
Gross revenue-	\$	443,831	\$	6,696,665	\$	869,987	\$	17,799,348
Less-Operating expenses	\$	118,364	\$	2,511,083	\$	224,479	\$	6,768,536
Net operating income	\$	325,467	\$	4,185,582	\$	645,507	\$	11,030,812
Interest expense	\$	162,024	\$	2,339,578	\$	318,587	\$	6,178,228
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	353,520	\$	19,545,793	\$	817,882	\$	51,579,778
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	(190,077)	\$	(17,699,789)	\$	(490,961)	\$	(46,727,194)
Taxable Income from operations	\$	(206,699)	\$	(17,754,806)	\$	(461,980)	\$	(46,630,563)
Cash generated from operations	\$	146,821	\$	1,790,987	\$	355,902	\$	4,949,215
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Cash used in financing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$		\$	
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Less-Cash distributions to investors								
-from operating cash flow	\$	6,659	\$	1,018,032	\$	40,798	\$	3,849,073
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	2,229	\$	336,344	\$	0	\$	0
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	137,933	\$	436,611	\$	315,104	\$	1,100,142
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:								
Federal Income Tax Results:								
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	(7.02)	\$	(602.61)	\$	(5.83)	\$	(588.05)
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽¹⁾								
-From Operations	\$	0.23	\$	34.55	\$	0.51	\$	48.54
Summary Balance Sheet:								
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	53,127,393	\$	93,859,428	\$	139,791,631	\$	253,289,299
Fixed assets	\$	51,940,643	\$	72,534,295	\$	136,661,886	\$	196,391,045
Cash, including restricted	\$	524,646	\$	1,026,674	\$	1,447,242	\$	2,789,984
Other assets	\$	242,023	\$	297,940	\$	736,085	\$	858,875
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	52,707,312	\$	73,858,909	\$	138,845,213	\$	200,039,905
Current liabilities	\$	195,012	\$	529,736	\$	440,583	\$	1,432,135
Long-term liabilities	\$	37,879,541	\$	65,298,664	\$	99,259,024	\$	175,658,702
Total liabilities	\$	38,074,553	\$	65,828,400	\$	99,699,607	\$	177,090,837
Members' Capital	\$	14,632,759	\$	8,030,510	\$	39,145,606	\$	22,949,068
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	52,707,312	\$	73,858,909	\$	138,845,213	\$	200,039,905
Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end	of							
the last year reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).		100%)	100%	,	100%		100
		10070		10070		10070		100

(1) Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For example, CE VI cash Distributions to Investors from operating cash flow totals \$6,659 divided by total equity of \$29.463M times 1,000; CE VIII \$40,798 divided by total equity of \$79.297M times 1,000.

 Table III(f) – Operating Results of CE IX (unaudited)

	J I	Period from Jun 30, 2020 (Date of Inception) to E Dec 31, 2020		Six Months Ended June 30, 2021		
Summary of Income Statement Data:						
Gross revenue-	\$	2,916,622	\$	5,278,283		
Less-Operating expenses	\$	1,592,947	\$	2,826,884		
Net operating income	\$	1,323,675	\$	2,451,399		
Interest expense	\$	589,442	\$	944,151		
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	28,833,463	\$	1,357,850		
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	(28,099,230)	\$	149,398		
Taxable Income from operations	\$	(27,804,117)		Note (2)		
Cash generated from operations	\$	1,029,346	\$	1,507,248		
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$	0		
Cash used in financing activities	\$	0	\$	0		
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	0		
Less-Cash distributions to investors						
-from operating cash flow	\$	358,468	\$	1,116,793		
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	83,968	\$	214,663		
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	586,910	\$	175,792		
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:						
Federal Income Tax Results:						
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	(584.12)		Note (2)		
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽¹⁾						
-From Operations	\$	7.53	\$	23.46		
Summary Balance Sheet:						
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	125,951,717	\$	125,622,302		
Fixed assets	\$	93,544,186	\$	92,227,837		
Cash, including restricted	\$	3,421,280	\$	2,863,465		
Other assets	\$	180,456	\$	408,856		
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	97,145,921	\$	95,500,157		
Current liabilities	\$	542,525	\$	1,882,384		
Long-term liabilities	\$	78,432,660	\$	78,474,161		
	\$	78,975,185	\$	80,356,545		
Total liabilities	Ψ					
Total liabilities Members' Capital	\$	18,170,737	\$	15,143,612		

Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).

Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For CE IX (1) \$358,468 divided by total equity of \$47.6M times 1,000. Taxable income cannot be determined at this time as this is a partial year and the timing difference to year end will have a material impact on taxable

(2) income(loss).

112

100%

100%

Table III(g) – Operating Results of CE X (unaudited)

	1	Period from Dec 3, 2020 (Date of nception) to Dec 31, 2020	Six Months nded June 30, 2021
Summary of Income Statement Data:			
Gross revenue-	\$	939,471	\$ 6,279,035
Less-Operating expenses	\$	389,544	\$ 2,637,955
Net operating income	\$	549,927	\$ 3,641,080
Interest expense	\$	244,446	\$ 1,508,821
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	29,514,249	\$ 2,063,717
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	(29,208,768)	\$ 68,542
Taxable Income from operations	\$	(28,773,857)	Note (2)
Cash generated from operations	\$	740,392	\$ 2,132,259
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$ 0
Cash used in financing activities	\$	0	\$ 0
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$ 0
Less-Cash distributions to investors			
-from operating cash flow	\$	0	\$ 1,536,843
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	0	\$ 181,947
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	740,392	\$ 413,469
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:			
Federal Income Tax Results:			
Ordinary income(loss) from operations	\$	(446.11)	Note (2)
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽¹⁾			
-From Operations	\$	0	\$ 23.81
Summary Balance Sheet:			
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	169,405,660	\$ 170,906,144
Fixed assets	\$	136,215,044	\$ 134,216,619
Cash, including restricted	\$	3,360,118	\$ 5,043,045
Other assets	\$	327,130	\$ 144,688
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	139,902,293	\$ 139,404,352
Current liabilities	\$	800,867	\$ 2,322,590
Long-term liabilities	\$	104,096,778	\$ 104,162,070
Total liabilities	\$	104,897,645	\$ 104,102,070
Members' Capital	3 \$	35,004,647	\$ 32,919,691
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	139,902,293	\$ 139,404,352

Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).

Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For CE X \$1,536,843 divided by total equity of \$64.5M times 1,000. Taxable income cannot be determined at this time as this is a partial year and the timing difference to year end will have a material impact on taxable (1)

100%

100%

(2) income(loss).

 Table III(h) – Operating Results of CE XI, CE XII and CE XIV (unaudited)

	J Ir	eriod from an 4, 2021 (Date of aception) to ne 30, 2021	M Ir	CE XII Period from Mar 1, 2021 (Date of Inception) to June 30, 2021		CE XIV eriod from ay 18, 2021 (Date of nception) to ne 30, 2021
Summary of Income Statement Data:						
Gross revenue-	\$	1,594,614	\$	842,867	\$	488,530
Less-Operating expenses	\$	619,142	\$	292,959	\$	189,917
Net operating income	\$	975,472	\$	549,908	\$	298,613
Interest expense	\$	395,552	\$	200,753	\$	249,429
Non-operating - Tax depreciation and amortization	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Net income(loss) - Accrual basis	\$	579,920	\$	349,155	\$	49,184
Taxable Income from operations		Note (2)		Note (2)		Note (2)
Cash generated from operations	\$	579,920	\$	349,155	\$	49,184
Cash used in investing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Cash used in financing activities	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Cash used in refinancing or sale	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Less-Cash distributions to investors						
-from operating cash flow	\$	218,725	\$	0	\$	0
-less cash distribution to Manager	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0
Cash generated after cash distributions	\$	361,195	\$	349,155	\$	49,184
Tax and Distributions Data Per \$1,000 Invested:						
Federal Income Tax Results:						
Ordinary income(loss) from operations		Note (2)		Note (2)		Note (2)
Cash Distributions Paid to Investors ⁽¹⁾						
-From Operations	\$	5.70	\$	0	\$	0
Summary Balance Sheet:						
Total assets (before depreciation)	\$	102,216,395	\$	95,173,031	\$	70,536,149
	φ	102,210,393	φ	95,175,051	φ	70,550,149
Fixed assets	\$	92,140,506	\$	92,316,117	\$	69,596,305
Cash, including restricted	\$	3,136,357	\$	1,247,094	\$	707,045
Other assets	\$	305,925	\$	1,609,820	\$	232,799
Total assets (after depreciation)	\$	95,582,788	\$	95,173,031	\$	70,536,149
Current liabilities	\$	1,366,103	\$	1,652,417	\$	1,061,224
Long-term liabilities	\$	63,050,716	\$	61,100,000	\$	49,992,755
Total liabilities	\$	64,416,819	\$	62,752,417	\$	51,053,979
Members' Capital	\$	31,165,968	\$	32,420,613	\$	19,482,169
Total Liabilities and Members' Capital	\$	95,582,788	\$	95,173,031	\$	70,536,149
Amount (in percentage terms) remaining invested in project properties at the end of the last year						
reported in the Table (original total acquisition costs of properties retained divided by original total acquisitions cost of all properties in project).		100%	6	100%	ó	100%

Cash Distributions to Investors - This amount represents Investment Income paid to Investors - from the operating cash flow of the SPE. For CE XI \$218,725 divided by total equity of \$38.4M times 1,000; No cash distributions have been paid to investors from CE XII and CE XIV through June 30, 2021.
 Teachly is compared to this time utility is not accounted with a supervised state of the investors of the supervised state.

(2) Taxable income cannot be determined at this time until a cost segregation study is completed, which will have a material impact on taxable income(loss).

Table IV

Inapplicable as no properties have been disposed.

Table V

In applicable as no properties have been disposed.

 TABLE VI – Acquisition of Properties by Project (unaudited) - Summarizes the purchase of property within last three years:

	Location	Units	Rentable SQFT	Purchased	Price	Cash Payment	Financing	Leverage
CE IIIa	Texas	507	752,900	1/30/2018	\$ 86,500,000	\$ 23,537,475	\$ 62,962,525	73 %
CEIIIb	Florida	240	300,791	2/20/2018	\$ 50,150,000	\$ 16,650,000	\$ 33,500,000	67 %
CE IV-Va	Florida	346	362,625	9/27/2018	\$ 92,176,250	\$ 32,051,250	\$ 60,125,000	65 %
CE IV-Vb	Texas	351	324,268	1/25/2019	\$ 70,000,000	\$ 28,000,000	\$ 42,000,000	60 %
CE IV-Ve	Florida	501	495,246	6/27/2019	\$ 139,000,000	\$ 45,500,000	\$ 93,500,000	67 %
CE IV-Vd	Florida	456	468,435	6/28/2019	\$ 98,500,000	\$ 24,909,000	\$ 73,591,000	75 %
CE IV-Ve	Florida	360	365,472	8/17/2019	\$ 67,000,000	\$ 16,400,000	\$ 50,600,000	76 %
CE VI-VIIIa	Florida	288	240,916	9/12/2019	\$ 56,800,500	\$ 14,200,500	\$ 42,600,000	75 %
CE VI-VIIIb	Maryland	531	551,454	12/20/2019	\$ 133,700,000	\$ 35,388,000	\$ 98,312,000	74 %
CE VI-VIIIc	Florida	360	361,968	1/28/2020	\$ 67,500,000	\$ 17,500,000	\$ 50,000,000	74 %
CE VI-VIIId	Florida	294	302,829	2/20/2020	\$ 85,000,000	\$ 29,524,000	\$ 55,476,000	65 %
CE IX	Florida	553	399,204	9/10/2020	\$ 121,500,000	\$ 42,265,000	\$ 79,235,000	65 %
CEX	Florida	398	400,148	12/3/2020	\$ 164,000,000	\$ 59,000,000	\$ 105,000,000	64 %
CE XI	Florida	310	332,813	4/16/2021	\$ 97,900,000	\$ 34,400,000	\$ 63,500,000	65 %
CE XII*	Florida	N/A	219,244	5/28/2021	\$ 91,000,000	\$ 18,000,000	\$ 73,000,000	80 %
CE XIV	Florida	325	344,341	5/26/2021	\$ 69,000,000	\$ 19,000,000	\$ 50,000,000	72 %

*CEF XII is for Commercial Office Space

CE IV and V parallel invested with Mr. Cardone in all five properties at different percentages, CE V ownership interest is summarized below:

Property	Location	Year Built	Class	Ownership Interest	# of Units
CE IV-Va	Delray Beach, FL	2018	А	39.02%	346
CE IV-Vb	Sugar Land, TX	2018	А	30.82%	351
CE IV-Vc	Sunrise, FL	2013	А	24.27%	501
CE IV-Vd	Naples, FL	1990	B+	36.87%	456
CE IV-Ve	Panama City Beach, FL	2007	А	22.21%	360
Totals				30.58%	2,014

CE VI and VIII parallel invested with Mr. Cardone in all four properties at different percentages, CE VI ownership interest is summarized below:

Property	Location	Year Built	Class	Ownership Interest	# of Units
10X Living at Panama City Beach	Panama City Beach, FL	2018	А	34.67%	288
10X Living at Columbia Town Center	Columbia. MD	2001	А	24.70%	531
10X Living at Retreat at Panama City Beach	Panama City Beach, FL	2008	А	24.70%	360
Addison Place	Naples, FL	2019	А	24.70%	294
Totals:				26.13%	1,473

SELECTION, MANAGEMENT AND CUSTODY OF COMPANY'S INVESTMENTS

The Company will typically engage a third-party property manager to manage properties. Generally, management costs will be a percentage of gross revenues not to exceed four percent (4%).

LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY

As permitted by Delaware law, our Amended Operating Agreement provides:

- \Box we will indemnify our Manager to the fullest extent permitted by law;
- u we may indemnify our other employees and other agents to the same extent that we indemnify our Manager; and
- we will advance expenses to our Manager in connection with a legal proceeding and may advance expenses to any employee or agent; provided, however, that such advancement of expenses shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by the person to repay all amounts advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the person was not entitled to be indemnified.

INTERESTS OF NAMED EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

No expert or counsel named in this Offering as having prepared or certified any part of this Offering or having given an opinion upon the validity of the securities being registered or upon other legal matters in connection with the registration or offering of the Class A Interests was employed on a contingency basis, or had, or is to receive, in connection with the Offering, a substantial interest, direct or indirect, in the registrant or any of its parents or subsidiaries. Nor was any such person connected with the registrant or any of its parents or subsidiaries as a promoter, managing or principal underwriter, voting trustee, director, officer, or employee.

Dodson Robinette PLLC is providing legal services relating to this Offering Circular.

Cardone REIT I, LLC

A Delaware Limited Liability Company

Financial Statements and Independent Auditors' Report

	Page
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT	F-2 - F-3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE PERIOD FROM JULY 22, 2021 (INCEPTION) TO JULY 31, 2021:	
Balance Sheet	F-4
Statement of Operations	F-5
Statement of Changes in Members' Equity	F-6
Statement of Cash Flows	F-7
Notes to Financial Statements	F-8

KAUFMAN ROSSIN

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Cardone REIT I, LLC Aventura, FL

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Cardone REIT I, LLC, which comprise the balance sheet as of July 31, 2021, and the related statements of operations, changes in members' equity and cash flows for the period from July 22, 2021 (inception) to July 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

PRAXITY

KAUFMAN ROSSIN

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cardone REIT I, LLC as of July 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period from July 22, 2021 (inception) to July 31, 2021 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Kaufman, Rospin . Co.

September 13, 2021 Miami, Florida

PRAXITY

CARDONE REIT I, LLC

Balance Sheet

As of July 31, 2021

ASSETS	
Deferred offering costs	\$ 15,350
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 15,350
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY	
Liabilities:	
Related party advance	\$ 15,350
Total Liabilities	15,350
Members' Equity	
	 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY	\$ 15,350

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these financial statements

CARDONE REIT I, LLC

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

For the period from July 22, 2021 (inception) to July 31, 2021

Net revenues	\$ -
Net operating expenses	
Net income	
	\$ -

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these financial statements

F-5

CARDONE REIT I, LLC

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY

For the period from July 22, 2021(inception) to July 31, 2021

	Total Members' Equity
Balance at July 22, 2021 (inception)	\$ -
Net income	
Balance at July 31, 2021	<u>\$</u>

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these financial statements

F-6

CARDONE REIT I, LLC

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the period from July 22, 2021 (inception) to July 31, 2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:	
Net income	
	\$ -
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:	
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities	_
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:	
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities	
	-
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:	
Net cash provided by (used in)) financing activities	
	-
Net change in cash, representing the balance at period-end	
	\$ -
	<u>-</u>
Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Activity:	
Deferred offering costs funded by and reimbursable to Manager	¢ 15.250
Deterred offering costs funded by and remoursable to Manager	\$ 15,330

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these financial statements

NOTE 1: NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Cardone REIT I, LLC (the "Company"), is a limited liability company organized July 22, 2021 under the laws of Delaware. The Company was organized to invest primarily in real estate within the multifamily or commercial real estate segment. The Company is located in Aventura, Florida. The Company was formed to raise up to \$75 million under Regulation A Plus from a wide range of investors, with a primary focus on individual non-accredited investors, to acquire multifamily and commercial real estate either directly or through joint-ventures. The fundraising activity will be primarily done through Cardone Capital LLC's (the "Manager") online platform.

As of July 31, 2021, the Company has not commenced planned principal operations nor generated revenue. The Company's activities since inception have consisted of formation activities and preparations for capital raising. Once the Company commences its planned principal operations, it will incur significant additional expenses. The Company is dependent upon additional capital resources for the commencement of its planned principal operations and is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including failing to secure funding to operationalize the Company's planned operations or failing to profitably operate the business.

The Company is not registered as an Investment Company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP").

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Organizational Costs

In accordance with FASB ASC 720, organizational costs, including accounting fees, legal fees, and costs of incorporation, are expensed as incurred.

F-8

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company has no operating history and has not generated revenue from operations. The Company's business and operations are sensitive to general business and economic conditions in the U.S. and worldwide along with local, state, and federal governmental policy decisions. A host of factors beyond the Company's control could cause fluctuations in these conditions, including but not limited to: its ability to raise sufficient funds from investors to acquire multifamily and commercial real estate, the availability of suitable real estate properties to acquire, and changes to Regulation A Plus. Adverse developments in these general business and economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial conditions and the results of operations.

Deferred Offering Costs

The Company complies with the requirements of FASB ASC 340-10-S99-1 and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) Topic 5A – "Expenses of Offering". Deferred offering costs consist principally of accounting and legal fees incurred in connection with an offering the Company intends to commence during 2021 under Regulation A Plus. Prior to the completion of the offering, these costs are capitalized as deferred offering costs on the Balance Sheet. The deferred offering costs will be charged to member's equity upon the completion of the offering or to expense if the offering is not completed. Deferred offerings costs of \$15,350 are capitalized to the Balance Sheet as of July 31, 2021.

Income Taxes

The Company intends to elect to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and intends to operate as such, commencing with the taxable year in which the first real estate investment is purchased. The Company expects to have little or no taxable income prior to electing REIT status. To qualify as a REIT, the Company must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of the Company's annual REIT taxable income to its members (which is computed without regard to the dividends paid deduction or net capital gain and which does not necessarily equal net income as calculated in accordance with U.S. GAAP). As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent it distributes qualifying dividends to its members. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, it may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and property, and federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.



NOTE 3: MEMBERS' EQUITY

No membership units have been issued and no capital has been contributed to the Company as of July 31, 2021.

The Company is offering 75,000 Class A Interests at \$1,000 per Interest through a Tier II offering pursuant to Regulation A Plus under the Securities Act, also known as "Reg A+" and it intends to sell the Interests directly to investors and not through registered broker-dealers who are paid commission. The minimum investment is \$1,000. The maximum amount to be raised in the offering is \$75 million. The Investors who contribute capital to the Company shall upon acceptance by the Manager of their subscriptions become Class A Members in the Company. The Capital Contributions of the Class A Members shall result in eighty (80%) of the total interests in the Company.

The Manager's Class B Interest will be a 20% profits interest.

In accordance with the operating agreement, distributions will be declared and distributed at least annually. The Manager intends on generally allocating 80% of the distributions to the Class A Members and 20% to the Class B Member. At the Manager's discretion, the Manager may reallocate any Distributable Cash from the Class B Members to the Class A Members. The Manager also has discretion to reallocate Distributable Cash from the Class A Members to the Class B Members to the Class A Members. The Manager also has discretion to reallocate Distributable Cash from the Class A Members to the Class B Member so long as at least 80% of all Distributable Cash to date is allocated to the Class A Members. For further details on Member distributions see the offering circular.

NOTE 4: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company has engaged the Manager to manage the Company under a management agreement. The Company is subject to the following fees under this agreement:

Reimbursement of Organization and Offering

The Company's Manager and its affiliates will be reimbursed for actual organizational and offering expenses incurred. Organization and offering expenses consist of the actual legal, accounting, printing, marketing, advertising, filing fees, any transfer agent costs and other accountable offering-related expenses. The Manager will only request reimbursement once the Company has raised more than \$1 million.

Deferred offering costs from inception to July 31, 2021, of \$15,350 were incurred by a related party on the Company's behalf and are shown as a related party advance on the Statement of Assets, Liabilities and Member's Equity. This related party advance is unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand.

F-10

CARDONE REIT I, LLC NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the period July 22, 2021 (inception) to July 31, 2021

Acquisition Fee

For each real estate investment, the Company will pay its Manager or its designated affiliate 1% of the investment's fixed asset purchase price. This fee will be paid at the discretion of the Manager, but no later than the liquidation of the real estate investment.

Disposition Fee

For each real estate investment, the Company will pay its Manager or its designated affiliate 1% of the investment's sale price. This fee will be paid at the disposition of the investment's real estate.

Asset Management Fee

The Company will pay the Manager, or its designated affiliate, a 1% annualized Asset Management Fee calculated based on the total Contributed Capital made to the Company by its Members. This fee will be payable monthly.

NOTE 5: FINANCIAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company is subject to several risks including the following:

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to raise funds to fulfill its commitments including inability to sell investments quickly or close to fair value.

Market Risk

Market risk is the potential loss that can be caused by increases or decreases in the fair value of investments resulting from market fluctuations.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the potential loss that would occur if counterparties fail to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations.

Other Risks

Certain impacts from the COVID-19 outbreak may have a significant negative impact on the Company's operations and performance. These circumstances may continue for an extended period of time and may have an adverse impact on economic and market conditions. The ultimate economic fallout from the pandemic and the long-term impact on economies, markets, industries, and individual companies are not known. The extent of the impact to the financial performance and the operations of the Company will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

NOTE 6: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through September 13, 2021, the date the financial statements were available to be issued. Based on this evaluation, no additional material events were identified which require adjustment or disclosure in these financial statements.

On August 31, 2021, the Manager received 1,000 Class B Units as founder's interests for no consideration.

